ISSN 1854-6250



Advances in Production Engineering & Management

Volume 16 | Number 1 | March 2021



Published by CPE apem-journal.org

Advances in Production Engineering & Management

Identification Statement

APEM ISSN 1854-6250 | Abbreviated key title: Adv produc engineer manag | Start year: 2006 ISSN 1855-6531 (on-line) Published quarterly by Chair of Production Engineering (CPE), University of Maribor Smetanova ulica 17, SI – 2000 Maribor, Slovenia, European Union (EU) Phone: 00386 2 2207522, Fax: 00386 2 2207990 Language of text: English

versity of Maribo

iournal

APEM homepage: apem-journal.org University homepage: www.um.si

APEM Editorial

Editor-in-Chief

Miran Brezocnik

editor@apem-journal.org, info@apem-journal.org University of Maribor, Faculty of Mechanical Engineering Smetanova ulica 17, SI – 2000 Maribor, Slovenia, EU

Editorial Board Members

Eberhard Abele, Technical University of Darmstadt, Germany Boian Acko, University of Maribor, Slovenia Joze Balic, University of Maribor, Slovenia Agostino Bruzzone, University of Genoa, Italy Borut Buchmeister, University of Maribor, Slovenia Ludwig Cardon, Ghent University, Belgium Nirupam Chakraborti, Indian Institute of Technology, Kharagpur, India Edward Chlebus, Wroclaw University of Technology, Poland Igor Drstvensek, University of Maribor, Slovenia Illes Dudas. University of Miskolc, Hungary Mirko Ficko, University of Maribor, Slovenia Vlatka Hlupic, University of Westminster, UK David Hui, University of New Orleans, USA Pramod K. Jain, Indian Institute of Technology Roorkee, India Isak Karabegović, University of Bihać, Bosnia and Herzegovina



Desk Editor

Martina Meh desk1@apem-journal.org Janez Gotlih desk2@apem-journal.org

Website Technical Editor

Lucija Brezocnik desk3@apem-journal.org

Janez Kopac, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia Qingliang Meng, Jiangsu University of Science and Technology, China Lanndon A. Ocampo, Cebu Technological University, Philippines Iztok Palcic, University of Maribor, Slovenia Krsto Pandza, University of Leeds, UK Andrei Polainar. University of Maribor. Slovenia Antonio Pouzada, University of Minho, Portugal R. Venkata Rao, Sardar Vallabhbhai National Inst. of Technology, India Rajiv Kumar Sharma, National Institute of Technology, India Katica Simunovic, J. J. Strossmayer University of Osijek, Croatia Daizhong Su, Nottingham Trent University, UK Soemon Takakuwa, Nagoya University, Japan Nikos Tsourveloudis, Technical University of Crete, Greece Tomo Udiliak. University of Zagreb. Croatia Ivica Veza, University of Split, Croatia

Subsidizer: The journal is subsidized by Slovenian Research Agency



Creative Commons Licence (CC): Content from published paper in the APEM journal may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International Licence (CC BY 4.0). Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.

Statements and opinions expressed in the articles and communications are those of the individual contributors and not necessarily those of the editors or the publisher. No responsibility is accepted for the accuracy of information contained in the text, illustrations or advertisements. Chair of Production Engineering assumes no responsibility or liability for any damage or injury to persons or property arising from the use of any materials, instructions, methods or ideas contained herein.

Published by CPE, University of Maribor.

Advances in Production Engineering & Management is indexed and abstracted in the WEB OF SCIENCE (maintained by Clarivate Analytics): Science Citation Index Expanded, Journal Citation Reports - Science Edition, Current Contents - Engineering, Computing and Technology • Scopus (maintained by Elsevier) • Inspec • EBSCO: Academic Search Alumni Edition, Academic Search Complete, Academic Search Elite, Academic Search Premier, Engineering Source, Sales & Marketing Source, TOC Premier • ProQuest: CSA Engineering Research Database – Cambridge Scientific Abstracts, Materials Business File, Materials Research Database, Mechanical & Transportation Engineering Abstracts, ProQuest SciTech Collection • TEMA (DOMA) • The journal is listed in Ulrich's Periodicals Directory and Cabell's Directory



Advances in Production Engineering & Management

Volume 16 | Number 1 | March 2021 | pp 1–140

Contents

Analysis of the impact of COVID-19 on the coupling of the material flow and capital flow in a closed-loop supply chain Duan, W.; Ma, H.; Xu, D.S.
A dynamic job-shop scheduling model based on deep learning23Tian, W.; Zhang, H.P.3
Multi-objective automated guided vehicle scheduling based on MapReduce framework37Shi, W.; Tang, D.B.; Zou, P.
A conceptual model for measuring the competency level of Small and47Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs)7Oztemel, E.; Ozel, S.7
Study of load-bearing timber-wall elements using experimental testing and67mathematical modellingPremrov, M.; Ber, B.; Kozem Šilih, E.
The implications of product modularisation on the development process, supplier82integration and supply chain design in collaborative product development82Koppenhagen, F.; Held, T.82
Exploring the link between project management approach and project success dimensions: 99 A structural model approach Ciric, D.; Delic, M.; Lalic, B.; Gracanin, D.; Lolic, T.
Optimization of a multi-objective location model of manufacturing base considering112cooperative manufacturing capabilities and service benefitsSun, J.Z.; Zhang, Q.S.; Yu, Y.Y.
A new management approach based on Additive Manufacturing technologies and 125 Industry 4.0 requirements Patalas-Maliszewska, J.; Topczak, M.
Calendar of events 137
Notes for contributors 139

Journal homepage: apem-journal.org

ISSN 1854-6250 (print) ISSN 1855-6531 (on-line)

Published by CPE, University of Maribor.

Scope and topics

Advances in Production Engineering & Management (APEM journal) is an interdisciplinary refereed international academic journal published quarterly by the *Chair of Production Engineering* at the *University of Maribor*. The main goal of the *APEM journal* is to present original, high quality, theoretical and application-oriented research developments in all areas of production engineering and production management to a broad audience of academics and practitioners. In order to bridge the gap between theory and practice, applications based on advanced theory and case studies are particularly welcome. For theoretical papers, their originality and research contributions are the main factors in the evaluation process. General approaches, formalisms, algorithms or techniques should be illustrated with significant applications that demonstrate their applicability to real-world problems. Although the *APEM journal* main goal is to publish original research papers, review articles and professional papers are occasionally published.

Fields of interest include, but are not limited to:

Additive Manufacturing Processes **Advanced Production Technologies** Artificial Intelligence in Production **Assembly Systems** Automation **Big Data in Production** Block Chain in Manufacturing **Computer-Integrated Manufacturing Cutting and Forming Processes Decision Support Systems** Deep Learning in Manufacturing **Discrete Systems and Methodology** e-Manufacturing **Evolutionary Computation in Production** Fuzzy Systems Human Factor Engineering, Ergonomics Industrial Engineering **Industrial Processes Industrial Robotics Intelligent Manufacturing Systems Joining Processes Knowledge Management** Logistics in Production

Machine Learning in Production Machine-to-Machine Economy Machine Tools Machining Systems Manufacturing Systems Materials Science, Multidisciplinary Mechanical Engineering **Mechatronics** Metrology in Production Modelling and Simulation Numerical Techniques **Operations Research Operations Planning, Scheduling and Control Optimisation Techniques** Project Management **Quality Management Risk and Uncertainty** Self-Organizing Systems Smart Manufacturing Statistical Methods Supply Chain Management Virtual Reality in Production

APEM journal Advances in Production Engineering & Management Volume 16 | Number 1 | March 2021 | pp 5–22 https://doi.org/10.14743/apem2021.1.381 **ISSN 1854-6250** Journal home: apem-journal.org Original scientific paper

Analysis of the impact of COVID-19 on the coupling of the material flow and capital flow in a closed-loop supply chain

Duan, W.^a, Ma, H.^a, Xu, D.S.^{a,b,*}

^aSchool of Economics and Management, Inner Mongolia University of Technology, Hohhot, P.R. China ^bInner Mongolia Modern Logistics and Supply Chain Management Research Center, Hohhot, P.R. China

ABSTRACT

The complex and changeable external social and economic environment has a significant impact on the sustainable development of the closed-loop supply chain. In particular, the occurrence of uncertain emergencies increases the risk of interruption of the closed-loop supply chain, making it insufficient to analyze its complex changes from the perspective of material flow alone. Based on this analysis, the paper constructs a closed-loop supply chain material flow and capital flow coupling system composed of manufacturers, sellers and recyclers to explore the impact of material flow sudden interruption on the closed-loop supply chain system when an uncertain emergency occurs. In this paper, based on the closed-loop supply chain system coupled with logistics and capital flow, a system dynamics simulation model was established by using Vensim simulation software to analyze the impact of COVID-19 epidemic on manufacturers, sellers and recyclers under five scenarios. The results show that when COVID-19 outbreaks occur, the material flow of each main enterprise in the closed-loop supply chain is more easily influenced than the capital flow. At the same time, it can be found that the recyclers in the main enterprises of the closed-loop supply chain are more easily influenced by the material flow. The model constructed in this paper has applicability and can be used for related studies of closed-loop supply chain under other emergencies, but the scene design should be carried out according to the characteristics of emergencies themselves.

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: COVID-19 epidemic; Supply chain; Closed-loop supply chain; Material flow; Capital flow; Material-capital flows coupling; System dynamics; Simulation; Vensim simulation software

**Corresponding author:* xds@imut.edu.cn (Xu, D.S.)

Article history: Received 25 January 2021 Revised 28 February 2021 Accepted 3 March 2021



Content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International Licence (CC BY 4.0). Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.

1. Introduction

With the rapid development of social economy, many products fail to meet the increasing demands of consumers which to a large extent, accelerate the replacement of products and produces a large number of waste products [1]. The emergence of a large number of these waste products has brought great pressure on social and environmental benefits and economic benefits, which has become the focus of people's attention. People start to turn their attention to *Circular economy* and *Sustainable Development* [2]. Therefore, manufacturers and sellers in the supply chain system and recyclers outside the system start to form a closed-loop supply chain system jointly, and the closed-loop supply chain is such a unity of the forward supply chain and reverse supply chain [3]. The emergence of the closed-loop supply chain makes the subject enterprise's material flow, information flow and capital stream flow inside the closed circulation system, to strengthen the main body of the relationship between the enterprise and the cooperation. It not only makes the enterprise to reduce logistics cost, to enhance logistics efficiency and economic benefit of ascension into a reality, but also improves the environmental benefits and economic benefits of society as a whole, and it has become the focus of the current enterprise [4, 5]. However, some uncertain emergencies may pose great challenges to the stability of the closed-loop supply chain system. Most enterprises shut down and stop production, and the closed-loop supply chain appears to run poorly or even interrupt, which is undoubtedly a major challenge to enterprises and the supply chain itself in the closed-loop supply chain [6, 7].

Based on the background of the COVID-19 outbreak, this paper constructed a dynamics model for closed-loop supply chain system, and studied the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on each main enterprise of the closed-loop supply chain from the perspective of the coupling of material flow and capital flow. In this paper, a total of 5 scenarios are set up, and the system dynamics model constructed is simulated by using Vensim software, so as to observe the changes of inventory and capital of each main enterprise in the closed-loop supply chain. In addition, suggestions are advanced according to the simulation results to promote the normal operation of the closedloop supply chain system. This study consists of three main contributions: Firstly, system dynamics enabled us to analyze the changes of each main enterprise in the closed-loop supply chain in a visual way. Secondly, this study abandoned the previous analysis of closed-loop supply chain only from the perspective of material flow, and introduced capital flow to realize the coupling of material flow and capital flow. Thirdly, the analysis results of this paper provided evidence for maintaining the normal operation of the main enterprises and systems of the closed-loop supply chain.

The rest of this paper is organized as follows. Section 2 is a literature review. Section 3 introduces the constructed closed-loop supply chain coupling system. Section 4 studies the affected situation of each main enterprise of the closed-loop supply chain by simulating the dynamic model of the closed-loop supply chain system under five scenarios. Section 5 is related discussion, and Section 6 summarizes main conclusions.

2. Literature review

At present, many scholars have conducted numerous studies on the impact of uncertain emergencies on the closed-loop supply chain. In this section, we introduce some high-quality literature related to the topic of this paper on some aspects of impact, content and research methods.

Through literature analysis, we know that various uncertain factors or events will have a significant impact on the closed-loop supply chain. Morakabatchiankar *et al.* [8] and Cao *et al.* [9] analyzed the impact of uncertain demand on the closed-loop supply chain, and improved the overall environmental and economic benefits of the closed-loop supply chain by integrating product management or supporting retailers. Liao *et al.* [10] concluded that by running optimal remanufacturing theories and policies to guide the remanufacturing activities of scrapped construction machinery products in the context of uncertain procurement and demand, the goal of resource utilization and profit maximization in the closed-loop supply chain can be achieved. Almaraj et al. [11] designed a multi-cycle, multi-echelon closed-loop supply chain method to deal with the impact of production quality uncertainty on the closed-loop supply chain. Vandani *et al.* [12] also designed a closed-loop supply chain network with integrated decision-making to alleviate the negative impact of uncertain delivery time on the closed-loop supply chain. Chen et al. [13] argued that increasing government subsidies could reduce the incidence of income uncertainty on the closed-loop supply chain. Jessica *et al.* [14] found that the disruption at the downstream level has a greater influence on the production capacity, inventory status, orders and other performance of the supply chain than the disruption at the upstream level by planning multilevel supply chain disruptions. Chen *et al.* [15] built a closed-loop supply chain network physical system that can obtain information such as production, inventory and demand, etc. They believed that when the system was interrupted by interference in the interaction process, the elasticity measurement of supply chain was of great significance for reducing order loss in the supply chain. Cuauhtemoc *et al.* [16] studied the impact of production process interruption caused by mechanical failure on order transportation and company inventory level by taking order transportation as the key performance index. Shao *et al.* [17] took lithium supply chain as an example to analyze the impact of demand shock of new energy vehicles and supply disruption of lithium resources on lithium raw material inventory, lithium product inventory and lithium social use inventory in lithium supply chain. Taking agricultural supply chain as an example, Wang *et al.* [18] studied the dynamic impact of COVID-19 on China's live pigs market price, consumption and pork inventory, and designed five supply chain disruption scenarios.

From the above, we know that the occurrence of various uncertain factors and uncertain events will have an impact on the closed-loop supply chain, and these impacts are often negative. As a large network system, the closed-loop supply chain is influenced and connected by various enterprises and elements within the system. The occurrence of negative influences is bound to affect the robustness of the closed-loop supply chain system. Therefore, in order to improve the ability of the closed-loop supply chain system to cope with external uncertainties and maintain the overall robustness of the closed-loop supply chain system, the research on the robustness of the closed-loop supply chain system.

Kim *et al.* [19] believed that the uncertainty of reverse logistics would affect the stability of the closed-loop supply chain, and proposed a hybrid holistic model and robust corresponding model to improve the response ability and stability of the closed-loop supply chain system. Hassanpour et al. [20] designed a robust closed-loop supply chain network model, and verified its effectiveness in the robustness of closed-loop supply chain through evaluation. Taking lead acid supply chain as an example, Fazli et al. [21] proposed an effective robust programming model. Polo et al. [22] established a robust programming model of the closed-loop supply chain with finance as the measurement index, and reflected the robustness of the closed-loop supply chain through performance. Abdolazimi et al. [23] studied the robust design of the three-stage closed-loop supply chain network under multiple objectives by taking the tire factory as an example. Gholizadeh et al. [24] proposed a robust feasible optimization method for the closed-loop supply chain network of disposable electrical appliances to maximize the value of waste electrical appliances. Mohammed *et al.* [25] and Nayeri *et al.* [26] designed a robust model of closed-loop supply chain in the context of uncertainty in the external business environment. Through sensitivity analysis of parameters in the model, the robustness of the model was verified, and the influence of increased uncertainty level at the robustness of closed-loop supply chain was obtained.

In the study of the robustness of closed-loop supply chain, most scholars focused on robustness. They designed a robust programming model of closed-loop supply chain, or propose some robust optimization methods to deal with the impact of uncertainties or emergencies on closedloop supply chain, so as to maintain the robustness of closed-loop supply chain system.

At the same time, according to literature reading, there are also various methods to study the closed-loop supply chain system based on uncertainty.

Game theory has been used by many scholars as a way to study the interrelationships between system structures. Tan *et al.* [27] used a fuzzy bargaining game to solve the order allocation problem of each main enterprise in the closed-loop supply chain system when the economic market is uncertain, which not only improves the operation efficiency of the system, but also ensures the provision of high-quality service for customer service. Hosseini *et al.* [28] took a pharmaceutical company as an example, proposed a coordination model based on the game theory method, and proved that the coordination model could improve the system's adaptability to damage. Based on the uncertainty of product quality, Minyue *et al.* [29] constructed a game theory model, believing that it is harmful to force manufacturers to adopt warranty premium policies. Wakhid *et al.* [30] established the Stacklberg game model and proves that centralized decision-making under uncertain economic environment can benefit the whole closed-loop supply chain system.

In addition to game theory, some linear or nonlinear programming methods have become common methods for scholars to study closed-loop supply chain systems. Hao *et al.* [31] proposed a random mixed integer programming model for the sustainable reverse logistics network of waste electronic equipment in an uncertain environment, and verified the effectiveness of the random model by solving the optimal solution. Pourjavad *et al.* [32] built a multi-echelon, multi-

period fuzzy multi-objective mixed integer linear programming model based on the uncertainty of decision factors to study the degree of environmental and cost impact, and designed a nondominant sorting genetic algorithm to solve the model. Dehghan *et al.* [33] proposed a robust fuzzy planning method for the closed-loop supply chain network of general edible oil, and verified the feasibility and effectiveness of the method in the case of mixed uncertainty of various parameters through simulation. Ghomi *et al.* [34] designs a closed-loop supply chain network multi-objective model considering random interruption and shortage, and meets customer demand by adopting different elastic strategies. Fakhrzad *et al.* [35] proposed a productiondistribution fuzzy multi-objective programming method based on the green closed-loop supply chain to study how to reduce carbon emissions from vehicle movement under uncertain conditions. Santander *et al.* [36] constructed a mixed integer linear programming model for the 3D printing plastic closed-loop supply chain network. Through analysis, it can be known that this plastic recycling method can produce better environmental and economic benefits.

However, whether it is game theory or linear or nonlinear programming, we can see that there are still limitations in the study of closed-loop supply chain under the influence of uncertainty. These methods can only analyze the relationship between the system structure to study the influence of various uncertainties on the closed-loop supply chain in the current scenario or the future in a short time and provide various methods and suggestions for reducing such influence, but cannot study the development trend of the closed-loop supply chain system in the future for a long time from a long-term perspective.

Based on this analysis, the advantages of the system dynamics approach appear and are used by many scholars. From a long-term perspective, system dynamics is a discipline to study the relationship between the internal and external structures and elements of the system, and to solve the problems existing in the system from a long-term perspective. Taking agricultural waste as the research object, Zhao et al. [37] built a closed-loop supply chain system dynamics model, and simulated the model with carbon emission as the index, in order to improve the ecological efficiency of the closed-loop supply chain system. Goltsos et al. [38] explored how different fields and disciplines adapt to the performance of uncertainty in terms of supply, process, demand and control by building a closed-loop supply chain system dynamics model, and provided research ideas for enterprises. Based on the demand and return of the incentive dependence of the closed-loop supply chain, Zhao et al. [39] constructed a multi-stage closed-loop supply chain system dynamics model to study the benefits of the closed-loop supply chain system under the condition of providing incentives. Miao et al. [40] took waste e-waste as an example, constructs a dynamic model of a closed-loop supply chain system for mixed recycling, and determines the optimal proportion of recycling distribution among various main enterprises through simulation, thus improving the recovery rate of e-waste. Xue et al. [41] also took waste e-waste as an example and constructs a closed-loop supply chain system dynamics model dominated by retailers to study the impact of waste e-waste recovery in the closed-loop supply chain.

In addition, there are many other methods to study the closed-loop supply chain under uncertain environment. Huang *et al.* [42] proposed an uncertain representation method based on modal interval in the case of product quality uncertainty, and confirmed the effectiveness of this method in terms of collection strategy by comparing it with the traditional scenarie-based method. Sahebjamnia *et al.* [43] proposed a hybrid element heuristic algorithm based on the tire closed-loop supply chain network to find the optimal solution for the total cost of the closedloop supply chain model. Zarbakhshnia *et al.* [44] also proposed a non-dominant sequencing genetic algorithm by building a sustainable closed-loop supply chain model to help solve the problem of carbon dioxide emission cost in the operation process of closed-loop supply chain. Michael *et al.* [45] developed a two-stage reverse supply chain multi-objective optimization model to study the performance of closed-loop supply chain in the case of uncertain supply and demand. By solving the model using the ε -constraint method, it was found that the model could promote the improvement of performance level of closed-loop supply chain.

Through the analysis of literature, it is found that although scholars have done a lot of research on the closed-loop supply chain in uncertain emergencies, they mainly analyze the performance of the closed-loop supply chain from the perspective of material flow, and seldom consider and analyze the capital flow of the main enterprises of the closed-loop supply chain [46-50]. In many cases, the hidden research hypothesis of the main enterprises of the closed-loop supply chain in the case of sudden uncertainty shows that the capital flow of enterprises will not be greatly affected, but this is greatly deviated from the actual situation. The capital flow of an enterprise not only directly determines the operation of a single manufacturer, but also affects the operation of other main manufacturers in the closed-loop supply chain. Therefore, the capital flow of the main enterprises in the closed-loop supply chain should not be ignored in the case of an uncertain emergency. Therefore, from the perspective of the coupling of material flow and capital flow in the closed-loop supply chain under the influence of COVID-19 epidemic, the impact on the fluctuations of all main enterprises in the closed-loop supply chain and the recovery of enterprises.

3. Construction of a closed-loop supply chain coupling system model

3.1 Causal analysis

Causal analysis is a way of showing the causal relationship between phenomena or things, and is an important part of system dynamics. Using Vensim simulation software, complex system relationships can be represented in a simple and clear way. Fig. 1 is the causal diagram of the closedloop supply chain system.

M Inventory-*M* Delivery rate-*R* Inventory-*R* Sales rate-Weekly output of waste products-*T* Recovery-*T* Inventory-*M* Remanufacturing rate-*MN* Order rate-*M* Manufacturing rate-*M* Inventory. In the feedback loop, manufacturers' inventories will improve their delivery rate, and make the dealer inventories. Dealer inventory will increase their sales, increase the circulation of products on the market, further increase in the number of waste products will be produced per week, to reduce market pressure, recovery of chamber of commerce to increase recycling of waste products, thus recyclers inventories will make recyclers to provide manufacturers for remanufacturing product quantity increase, which will increase the rate of manufacturers of rate is reduced. Lower order rate of new products will lead to lower manufacturing rate of manufacturers, and eventually lead to lower inventory of manufacturers.

M Capital-*M* New product manufacturing capacity-*MN* Order rate-*M* Manufacturing rate-*M* Inventory-*M* Delivery rate-*R* Inventory-*R* Sales rate-Weekly waste product production-*T* Recovery rate-*T* Inventory-*M* Remanufacturing rate-Remanufacturing cost-*M* Cost-*M* Capital. In the feedback loop, the funds would increase manufacturers on new product manufacturing capability, which will increase the rate of manufacturers order new products. New product order rate increase would lead to manufacturers manufacturing rate increases, and this will enable manufacturers inventories and shipping rates increased. Thereby sellers increase sales, and this will lead to increase in the number of market products, produce a large number of waste products, therefore improve the recovery rate of waste products recycling chamber of commerce, and lead to recyclers to raise the level of inventory. The increase in the inventory of recyclers will improve the quantity of products provided by recyclers to manufacturers for remanufacturing, which will enhance the remanufacturing rate and remanufacturing cost of manufacturers. Thus it will increase the production cost of products for manufacturers, and finally affects the capital level of manufacturers.

T Capital-*T* Recovery ability-*T* Recovery rate-*T* Product recovery cost-*T* Cost-*T* Capital. In this feedback loop, the improvement of the fund level of the recycler will encourage the recycler to have more money to recycle the waste products in the market, and improve its recovery capacity and recovery rate. The improvement of the recovery rate of waste products will increase the product recovery cost and overall cost of the recycler, and thus reduce the fund level of the recycler.

Similarly, the causal feedback relationship between *M* capital and *R* capital is similar to that of *T* capital. Due to the limited space of this article, too many details will not be described here.



Fig. 1 Causal diagram of the closed-loop supply chain system

3.2 Construction of the system dynamic flow diagram model

According to the above causal relationship analysis diagram, it can be observed that there is a causal relationship between variables. By using Vensim simulation software and the principle of system dynamics, a closed-loop supply chain system flow diagram with the coupling of material flow and capital flow was constructed, which was divided into the material flow subsystem flow diagram and capital flow subsystem flow diagram, as shown in Fig. 2 and Fig. 3.

As can be seen from the flow diagram of the material flow subsystem in Fig. 2, the subsystem mainly simulates the flow of products between the main enterprises of the closed-loop supply chain and the changes of the inventory of each main enterprise. Among them, M Inventory, R Inventory and T Inventory are the state variables, which mainly reflect the inventory level of each main enterprise in the system. M manufacturing rate, M remanufacturing rate, M delivery rate, R sales rate and T recovery rate are rate variables, which mainly reflect the change rate of product inventory quantity of each main enterprise. M Ordering rate, MN Ordering rate, R Ordering rate, C Quantity demanded and MR Ordering rate are auxiliary variables. M Production delay, *M* Delivery delay, *M* Remanufacturing delay, *T* Recovery delay and so on are constant variables. In the material flow subsystem, manufacturers mainly engage in production activities by purchasing raw materials or recycled waste products from recyclers. According to the market demand, the seller determines its own order rate and issues order request to the manufacturer. The manufacturer sends the goods according to the seller's order. When the product is transported from the manufacturer's warehouse to the seller's warehouse, the seller starts to sell the product to the market. After the end of the product life cycle in the market, waste products will be recovered by the recycler, who will sell the waste products recovered in the warehouse to the manufacturer for remanufacturing, so as to realize the circulation of products.



Fig. 2 Material flow subsystem flow diagram

It can be seen from the fund flow subsystem in Fig. 3 that this subsystem mainly simulates the change of the fund level of each main enterprise in the closed-loop supply chain. As the closedloop supply chain system based on the coupling of material flow and capital flow is constructed in this paper, the subsystem is greatly affected by the material flow subsystem and changes with the change of material flow. In the subsystem of capital flow, the state variables mainly include M capital, R Capital and T Capital, which mainly reflect the capital status of each subject. Rate variables include M Cost and M Revenue, R Cost and R Revenue, T Cost and T Revenue, which mainly reflect the changes of cost and revenue of each main enterprise. M New product manufacturing capacity, M Reproduct manufacturing capacity, R Sales capacity, T Recovery capacity and so on are auxiliary variables; M Fixed expenditure, R Fixed expenditure, T Fixed expenditure and commodity depreciation rate are constant variables. In the fund flow subsystem, the manufacturer mainly generates costs by purchasing raw materials or waste products from recyclers and earns revenue by selling new products or reproduce to distributors. For sellers, the purchase of products from manufacturers is their cost expenditure, and their source of income is mainly obtained by selling products to the market. After the end of the product life cycle in the market, the recycler collects waste products and generates costs. After that, the recycler sells the recovered waste products to the manufacturer to obtain income. Manufacturers buy waste products from recyclers for remanufacturing, and the money start a new cycle. The capital of each main enterprise in the subsystem is mainly expressed as the difference between its income and cost. By analyzing the relationship between the income and cost of each main enterprise, the capital status of the enterprise is analyzed to realize the flow of capital in the closed-loop supply chain system.



Fig. 3 Capital flows subsystem flow chart

3.3 Design of main model parameters and equations

Notations

Some variables are set in this paper, and the symbol setting is shown in Table 1.

Table 1	L Symbol	settings
---------	----------	----------

Variable	Explain	Variable	Explain
М	Manufacturers	MN	The new product
R	Sellers	MR	Remanufactured product
Т	Recyclers	С	Consumer demand
Msc	M Safety stock coefficient	R_i	R Inventory
Mit	M Inventory adjustment time	Rsr	R sales rate
M_{pd}	M Production delay	R_{ss}	R Safety stock
M_{dd}	M Delay in delivery	T_s	T Stock
<i>M_{rd}</i>	M Remanufacturing delay	T_r	T Recovery
Trd	T Recovery delay	M_r	M Recovery
T _{sc}	T Safety stock coefficient	R_r	R Recovery
T _{it}	T Inventory adjustment time	M_c	M Capital
Br	Benchmark recovery ratio	T_c	T Capital
Crt	C Requires smoothing time	R_c	R Capital
R_{sc}	R Safety stock coefficient	M_{co}	M Cost
R_{it}	R Inventory adjustment time	T_{co}	T Cost
M_i	M Inventory	R_{co}	R Cost
Mrr	M Remanufacturing rate	E_r	Expected remanufacturing rate
M _{mr}	M Manufacturing rate	T_i	T Inventory
Mdr	M Delivery rate	MN_o	MN Ordering rate
M _{ss}	M Safety stock	C_d	<i>C</i> Demand
rc	Rework cost	M_{fe}	M Fixed expenditure
пс	New product cost	M_{pc}	M Product cost
T_{pc}	T Product recovery cost	R_{fe}	R Fixed expenditure
W_p	Weekly waste product production	T _{fe}	T Fixed expenditure

Parameter setting

The main constant parameter settings in this model are shown in Table 2. Among them, M_{pd} , M_{dd} , M_{rd} and M_{rd} are all within a reasonable time, which conforms to the situation that there are some delays among all main enterprises in the closed-loop supply chain system under the normal social and economic environment. According to the relevant research of Professor Zhang Yuchun's team, [51] M_{sc} and T_{sc} are 0.2, R_{sc} is 0.3, T_{it} and R_{it} are 3, M_{it} is 5, B_r is 0.2, and C_{rt} is 3.

	Table 2 Main constant parameter settings						
Variable	Numerical	Variable	Numerical				
Msc	0.2	T_{sc}	0.2				
M_{it}	5	T_{it}	3				
M_{pd}	5	B_r	0.2				
M_{dd}	1	C_{rt}	3				
M_{rd}	3	R_{sc}	0.3				
T_{rd}	2	R_{it}	3				

Table 2 Main constant parameter settings

Main equation design

In order to describe the impact and recovery of each entity in the closed-loop supply chain under the short-term interruption of material flow during COVID-19 outbreak, this paper simulated the model based on the original model data of Professor Zhang Yuchun and his team [51]. Through the above causal relationship analysis, the relationship between the variables in the model is clarified and the equation is constructed. Formula settings for the main variables are shown below.

$M_i = \text{INTEG} (\text{MAX} (M_{rr} + M_{mr} - M_{dr}, 0)); \text{ Initial Value} = M_{ss}$	(1)
$R_i = \text{INTEG} (M_{dr} - R_{sr});$ Initial Value = R_{ss}	(2)
T_s = INTEG (MAX ($T_r - M_{rr}, 0$)); Initial Value = T Initial inventory Value	(3)
$M_c = \text{INTEG} (\text{MAX} (M_r - M_{co}, 0)); \text{ Initial Value} = 0$	(4)
$R_c = \text{INTEG} (R_r - R_{co}); \text{ Initial Value} = 0$	(5)
$T_c = \text{INTEG} (T_r - T_{co}); \text{ Initial Value} = 0$	(6)
$M_{mr} = \text{DELAY3I} (\text{MAX} (MN_o, 0), M_{pd}, \text{Initial value 1})$	(7)
$M_{rr} = \text{MIN} (E_r, T_i)$	(8)
$M_{dr} = MIN (M_i, Expected delivery rate)$	(9)
$R_{sr} = MIN (C_d, R_i)$	(10)
$M_{co} = \text{MIN} (M_c, M_{fe} + rc + nc)$	(11)
$M_r = M_{dr} \cdot R$ Ordering unit price	(12)
$R_{co} = \text{MIN} (R_c, M_{pc} + R_{fe})$	(13)
$R_r = R_{sr} \cdot \text{Sales unit price}$	(14)
$T_{co} = \text{MIN} (T_c, T_{pc} + T_{fe})$	(15)
$T_r = rc$; $C_d = (\text{RANDOM UNIFORM } (5000, 7000, 0) + 3000 \cdot Time$	(16)

4. Simulation and results

The relevant settings of this model are as follows: INITIAL TIME = 0; FINAL TIME = 300; TIME STEP = 1, that is, the initial TIME of model simulation is 0, the end TIME is 300, and the simulation TIME STEP is 1. In this paper, the Vensim simulation software is mainly used to model and simulate, and the model inspection and unit inspection functions inherent in the software are

used to test and verify the model, so as to realize the real reproduction of the real closed-loop supply chain system in the simulation software.

4.1 Original base scenario

Closed-loop supply chain is the organic unity of the forward supply chain and reverse supply chain. Its existence promotes the circulation flow of products from production to sales, and then to recycling and remanufacturing. However, when COVID-19 outbreak occurs, all kinds of delays in the closed-loop supply chain will increase, and the circulation flow of products within the system will be affected, and the operation of major enterprises will also be severely hit. Based on this, 5 scenarios were set up to simulate the response of the closed-loop supply chain in the case of COVID-19 outbreak. The 5 scenarios are the original baseline scenario, the burst base scenario, the burst-recovery time for 10 weeks scenario, the burst-recovery time for 20 weeks scenario, and the burst-recovery time for 30 weeks scenario. Various delay time settings under different situations are shown in Table 3.

Гable З	Various	delay time	s under	different	situations
---------	---------	------------	---------	-----------	------------

Scenario	M_{pd}	M_{dd}	M_{rd}	T_{rd}
Original baseline scenario	5	1	3	2
Burst base scenario	10	6	8	7
Burst-Recovery time 10 weeks scenario	10	6	8	7
Burst-Recovery time 20 weeks scenario	10	6	8	7
Burst-Recovery time 30 weeks scenario	10	6	8	7

Original baseline scenario

Original baseline scenario mainly simulates the normal social economic environment closedloop supply chain enterprises' operation and subjects to the closed-loop supply chain system under this situation was not affected by the presence of COVID-19 outbreak, each kind of delay time to keep within a reasonable time range, is set to M_{pd} for 5 weeks, M_{dd} for 1 week, M_{rd} for 3 weeks and T_{rd} for 2 weeks. At the same time, under the original baseline scenario, the manufacturer's manufacturing rate and remanufacturing rate as well as the recovery rate of waste products of the recycler are relatively stable. The specific variable formula is designed as follows.

$$M_{mr} = \text{DELAY3I} (\text{MAX} (MN_o, 0), M_{pd}, \text{Initial value 1})$$
(17)

$$M_{rr} = \text{MIN} (E_r, T_i)$$
(18)

$$T_r = \text{Expected recovery} \tag{19}$$

Burst base scenario

The burst base scenario is mainly to simulate the impact of the main enterprises in the closedloop supply chain system when COVID-19 outbreak occurs. In this scenario, the material flow of the closed-loop supply chain begins to be interrupted from the COVID-19 outbreak at week 120 for a duration of 10 weeks, and all kinds of delay times are increased by 5 weeks under the influence of the outbreak. When the interruption ends, the delay time returns to normal until the end of the model operation. The specific variable formula is designed as follows.

M_{mr} = IF THEN ELSE (<i>Time</i> < 120, DELAY3I (MAX (MN_o , 0), M_{pd} , Initial value 1), IF THEN ELSE (<i>Time</i> > 130, DELAY3I (MAX (MN_o , 0), M_{pd} , Initial value 1), 0))	(20)
M_{rr} = IF THEN ELSE (<i>Time</i> < 120, MIN (E_r , T_s), IF THEN ELSE (<i>Time</i> > 130, MIN (E_r , T_s), 0))	(21)
T_r = IF THEN ELSE (<i>Time</i> < 120, E_r , IF THEN ELSE (<i>Time</i> > 130, Expected recovery, 0))	(22)
$M_{pd} = \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time < 120, 5, \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time > 130, 5, 10))$	(23)
M_{dd} = IF THEN ELSE (<i>Time</i> < 120, 1, IF THEN ELSE (<i>Time</i> > 130, 1, 6))	(24)
M_{rd} = IF THEN ELSE (<i>Time</i> < 120, 3, IF THEN ELSE (<i>Time</i> > 130, 3, 8))	(25)
T_{rd} = IF THEN ELSE (<i>Time</i> < 120, 2, IF THEN ELSE (<i>Time</i> > 130, 2, 7))	(26)

Burst-Recovery time 10 weeks scenario

Burst-Recovery time 10 weeks scenario on the closed-loop supply chain system in the burst base scenario on the basis of further research, the situation is not only assume 120 weeks to 130 weeks between the closed-loop supply chain system due to short-term disruptions COVID-19 outbreak material flow, considerate and hypothesis from the 130-th to 140-th week between 10 weeks of recovery, at the same time affected by the epidemic, increase 5 weeks of delay time starting from the interrupt, continue to the end of the recovery period. The specific variable formula is designed as follows.

$$M_{pd} = \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time < 120, 5, \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time > 140, 5, 10))$$
 (27)

$$M_{dd} = \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time < 120, 1, \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time > 140, 1, 6))$$
 (28)

$$M_{rd} = \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time < 120, 3, \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time > 140, 3, 8))$$
 (29)

$$T_{rd} = \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time < 120, 2, \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time > 140, 2, 7))$$
 (30)

Burst-Recovery time 20 weeks scenario

Burst-Recovery time 20 weeks scenario is also studied on the basis of the burst base scenario, which differs from the burst-recovery time 10 weeks scenario mainly in the material flow recovery period. In this scenario, the material flow recovery period is longer, from 130 to 150 weeks, and the recovery period is 20 weeks. At the same time, the duration of all kinds of delay time increase in the closed-loop supply chain system is 10 weeks longer than the previous scenario, and other relevant scenario settings are the same. The specific variable formula is designed as follows.

$$M_{pd} = \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time < 120, 5, \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time > 150, 5, 10))$$
 (31)

$$M_{dd} = \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time < 120, 1, \text{ IF THEN ELSE} (Time > 150, 1, 6))$$
 (32)

$$M_{rd} = \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time < 120, 3, \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time > 150, 3, 8))$$
 (33)

$$T_{rd} = \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time < 120, 2, \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time > 150, 2, 7))$$
 (34)

Burst-Recovery time 30 weeks scenario

Burst-Recovery time 30 weeks scenario is similar to the previous two scenarios, except for the difference in the recovery period. In this scenario, the recovery cycle of material flow is 30 weeks, from 130 to 160 weeks. The longer the delay time, the longer the phenomenon lasts. The settings for other scenarios are the same. The specific variable formula is designed as follows.

$$M_{pd} = \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time < 120, 5, \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time > 160, 5, 10))$$
 (35)

$$M_{dd} = \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time < 120, 1, \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time > 160, 1, 6))$$
 (36)

$$M_{rd} = \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time < 120, 3, \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time > 160, 3, 8))$$
 (37)

$$T_{rd} = \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time < 120, 2, \text{IF THEN ELSE} (Time > 160, 2, 7))$$
 (38)

4.2 Analysis of the impact of manufacturer changes

It can be seen from Fig. 4 that the manufacturer's inventory changes were relatively stable under the burst base scenario. Under the burst base scenario, the manufacturer's inventory began to decline from the short-term interruption of COVID-19 outbreak material flow in week 120 to zero, followed by a sharp rise, peaked at week 141, then began to decline sharply, and gradually returned to normal after a small fluctuation. At the same time, it can be observed in the figure that when the recovery period is 10 weeks, 20 weeks and 30 weeks, there is a lag in the time when the manufacturer inventory reaches its peak.



Fig. 4 Changes of *M* inventory under different scenarios.

Fig. 5 shows the variation of manufacturer's revenue under different scenarios. It can be observed in the figure that, compared with the original baseline scenario, when COVID-19 outbreak occurred, the manufacturer's revenue showed a downward trend under the base scenario and the outbreak-recovery period of 10 weeks, 20 weeks and 30 weeks, respectively. After the end of the epidemic, the manufacturer's income in the burst base scenario rose sharply, reached its peak in the 133rd week, then began to decline and gradually returned to normal, while the time of the outbreak and recovery was 10 weeks, 20 weeks and 30 weeks respectively. The time when the manufacturer's income began to rise and reached its peak showed different lags. At the same time, it can be seen from the figure that the peak value of the manufacturer's revenue in the burst-recovery period of 10 weeks, 20 weeks and 30 weeks is higher than that in the burst base scenario.



Fig. 5 Changes of M income under different scenarios

4.3 Analysis of the impact of seller changes

As can be seen from Fig. 6, compared with the original baseline scenario, under the burst base scenario, retailer stocks began to decline from the short-term interruption of COVID-19 epidemic material flow, and began to rise and return to normal after the outbreak. However, under the circumstances of 10 weeks, 20 weeks, and 30 weeks of the emergency-recovery period, the seller's inventory began to increase significantly after the end of the recovery period, but the inventory level began to rise at different times under different circumstances.



Fig. 6 Changes of R inventory under different scenarios

Fig. 7 shows that compared with the original baseline scenario, although the seller capital in the burst base scenario and convalescence respectively for 10 weeks, 20 weeks, 30 weeks scenario, in short-term COVID-19 outbreak phase material flow interruption of a slight decline, but generally speaking, the capital level of sellers fluctuates relatively uniformly.



4.4 Analysis of the impact of changes in recyclers

As can be seen from Fig. 8, under the burst base scenario, the inventory changes of recyclers are relatively stable and show an upward trend. But in the burst base scenario, when short-term COVID-19 outbreak material flow is interrupted, dealer inventory levels after balance short, began to decline and volatility, starting from the 138-th week inventory increase and keep nearly 20 weeks of steady state, after the stock has fallen dramatically, after several fluctuations gradually returned to normal. At the same time, it can be observed in the figure that when the recovery period is 10 weeks, 20 weeks and 30 weeks respectively, the inventory level of sellers will change significantly. In addition to lagging behind the burst base scenario in terms of change time, the most obvious change is that the inventory level in the recovery period scenario is significantly higher than that in the burst base scenario.



Fig. 8 Changes of T inventory under different scenarios

It can be seen from Fig. 9 that the funds of recyclers have the most obvious changes compared with the funds of manufacturers and sellers. When the material flow of the COVID-19 outbreak is interrupted for a short period, the recycler's funds do not rise and remain at a relatively stable level. Starting from week 160, the funds start to rise, which is similar to the tendency of the fund level under the original baseline scenario, but the fund level is lower than the original baseline scenario until the end of the model operation. At the same time, when recovery for 10 weeks, 20 weeks, respectively at 30 weeks, vendors for capital movements and burst base scenario changes is roughly same, but due to the existence of the recovery time and recovery time is different, began from 160 weeks in sellers money difference, the longer the recovery time, rise time, the lag of funds, the lower the capital levels.



Fig. 9 Changes of T funds under different scenarios

5. Discussion

Through the closed-loop supply chain model simulation results, it can be seen that the changes of material flow related factors are more obvious than those of value flow related factors, especially the outbreak and recovery stage of COVID-19 epidemic. When COVID-19 outbreaks occur, inventory levels are significantly lower in the outbreak phase, whether for manufacturers, vendors, or recyclers. This was mainly due to the outbreak of the epidemic, manufacturers in the closed-loop supply chain system stopped production, and manufacturers reduced their production activities, so that their inventories were significantly reduced or even to zero. The inventory level of the manufacturer decreases, so that the quantity of goods that the seller buys from the

manufacturer decreases, and the inventory level of the seller also drops sharply. Dealer inventory levels to reduce the decrease in the number of sales made to the market to sell products, the decrease in the number of the circulation of products on the market, a week will reduce the number of waste products. This makes the recyclers recycling to reduce the number of waste products from the market, causing recyclers inventories fell likewise, further affect the manufacturer.

In the recovery phase after the epidemic, the inventory level of all major enterprises increased significantly. This is mainly because manufacturers, in order to make up for the losses during the epidemic period, resumed production capacity as soon as possible and began to increase their own production activities, which caused a huge impact on the inventory and showed a significant increase. In order to make up for the loss, the seller will increase the purchase order volume, the inventory level also appears the sharp rise, the quantity of products sold to the market increases. More products in circulation on the market, the more waste products will be produced. In order to recover their own operations as soon as possible, recyclers recycle a large number of waste products from the market, which also brings a huge impact on inventory, and thus affects manufacturers.

With the increase of operation time, the COVID-19 epidemic has less and less impact on the main enterprises of the closed-loop supply chain, and the inventory of the main enterprises also starts to gradually return to the normal level.

At the same time, it can also be found from the simulation results that the influence of recyclers in the closed-loop supply chain system is obviously greater than the change of manufacturers and distributors. Mainly because the collector is different from the manufacturers and sellers, sellers when expanding sales, increased numbers of the product to circulate on the market, because the life cycle of the products is different, become a waste product of the time is not the same, and the cargo is handled by recyclers the recycling of waste products from the market, recyclers are not only affected by COVID-19 outbreak also influenced by the product itself, the most obvious, so changes in the recyclers are also the most far-reaching.

6. Conclusion

In this paper, the closed-loop supply chain system is analyzed from the coupling angle of material flow and capital flow, and the system dynamics simulation model of closed-loop supply chain system is built. In the context of the COVID-19 epidemic, the closed-loop supply chain system dynamics simulation model was constructed to simulate the affected situation of each main enterprise in the context of short-term material flow interruption of the closed-loop supply chain. Through the model analysis, the following conclusions can be drawn:

In the study of closed-loop supply chain, in addition to studying the change of material flow, it is also necessary to consider the change of capital flow associated with material flow. Since this paper mainly studies the coupling of material flow and capital flow, and such coupling situation has the influence feedback relationship between flows, it is necessary to choose a suitable research tool, and system dynamics is exactly the tool that can realize the coupling transfer influence relationship between the two flows.

The integrated model results can be seen, when COVID-19 outbreak short-term disruptions caused by material flow, different delay time to produce a great impact on the closed-loop supply chain enterprises are different subjects, but can be found that the main body of the enterprise financial conditions are relatively stable, the most obvious change of every main body enterprise inventory level.

On the whole, when the material flow of the COVID-19 outbreak is interrupted for a short period, regardless of the scenario, recyclers in the main enterprises of the closed-loop supply chain are most affected, indicating that recyclers are most affected by the COVID-19 outbreak and have a weak ability to cope with the uncertainty of the external environment.

Based on the conclusions drawn from the above analysis of the closed-loop supply chain system dynamics model, this paper proposes the following suggestions:

(1) In the context of COVID-19 outbreak, attention should be paid not only to the impact of material flow interruption on the closed-loop supply chain, but also to the impact of material flow recovery after the interruption on the inventory and capital of all main enterprises in the closed-loop supply chain.

(2) As far as the main enterprises of the closed-loop supply chain are concerned, recyclers are the most affected by the COVID-19 epidemic and have the weakest anti-risk capability. Therefore, in the three main enterprises of the closed-loop supply chain system in this paper, more attention should be paid to the recyclers, so as to ensure the stable operation of recyclers and maintain the normal operation of the closed-loop supply chain system.

In this paper, by using system dynamics under the influence of the Vensim software to build COVID-19 outbreak of closed-loop supply chain system model has universality, can be applied to other cases study of closed-loop supply chain, but the incident itself should be considered when applying the model, the characteristics of emergency and the impact on the closed-loop supply chain for scenario settings.

Author contributions

Conceptualization: Wei, Duan; Methodology: Wei, Duan and Hui, Ma; Validation: Wei, Duan, Desheng, Xu and Hui, Ma.; Writing – original draft preparation: Hui, Ma; Writing – review and editing: Wei, Duan, Desheng, Xu and Hui, Ma. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Acknowledgment

The research is supported by the Planning Project of Philosophy and Social Science of Inner Mongolia (Project Number: 2019NDB021), Inner Mongolia Natural Science Foundation (Project Number: 2018BS07003) and Research Center for Resources, Environment and Energy Development Strategic.

References

- [1] Kim, Y.-W., Chang, T.-W., Park, J. (2017). Gen2 RFID-based system framework for resource circulation in closed-loop supply chains, *Sustainability*, Vol. 9, No. 11, <u>doi :10.3390/su9111995</u>.
- [2] Coenen, J., van der Heijden, R., van Riel, A.C.R., Allard C.R. (2019). Making a transition toward more mature closed-loop supply chain management under deep uncertainty and dynamic complexity: A methodology, *Sustainability*, Vol. 11, No. 8, <u>doi: 10.3390/su11082318</u>.
- [3] Aminipour, A., Bahroun, Z., Hariga, M. (2021). Cyclic manufacturing and remanufacturing in a closed-loop supply chain, *Sustainable Production and Consumption*, Vol. 25, 43-59, <u>doi: 10.1016/spc202008002</u>.
- [4] Peng, H., Shen, N., Liao, H., Xue, H., Wang, Q. (2020). Uncertainty factors, methods, and solutions of closed-loop supply chain – A review for current situation and future prospects, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 254, Article No. 120032, <u>doi: 10.1016/clepro120032</u>.
- [5] Islam, M.T., Huda, N. (2018). Reverse logistics and closed-loop supply chain of waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE)/ E-waste: A comprehensive literature review, *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, Vol. 137, 48-75, doi: 10.1016/resconrec05026.
- [6] Delgoshaei, A., Farhadi, M., Hanjani Esmaeili, S., Delgoshaei, A., Mirzazadeh, A. (2019). A new method for distributing and transporting of fashion goods in a closed-loop supply chain in the presence of market uncertainty, *Industrial Engineering & Management Systems*, Vol. 18. No. 4, 825-844, <u>doi: 10.7232/iems.2019.18.4.825</u>.
- [7] Zhang, X. (2019). Research on coping strategies of supply disruption under stochastic demand, *Academic Journal of Business & Management*, Vol. 1, No. 1, 99-112.
- [8] Morakabatchiankar, S., Hjaila, K., Mele, F.D., Graells, M., Espuña, A. (2018). Economic and environmental benefits of waste-based energy closed-loop integration in process industries under uncertainty, *Computer Aided Chemical Engineering*, Vol. 43, 501-506, <u>doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-64235-6.50089-9</u>.
- [9] Cao, J., Yan, Y., Wang, L., Chen, X., Zhang, X., Zhou, G. (2020). Emergency strategies of closed-loop supply chain with single retailer recycling under demand disruptions, *Discrete Dynamics in Nature and Society*, Vol. 2020, Article ID 9817641, <u>doi: 10.1155/2020/9817641</u>.
- [10] Liao, H., Deng, Q., Wang, Y. (2017). Optimal acquisition and production policy for end-of-life engineering machinery recovering in a joint manufacturing /remanufacturing system under uncertainties in procurement and demand, *Sustainability*, Vol. 9, No. 3, Article No. 338, doi: 10.3390/su9030338.
- [11] Almaraj, I.I., Trafalis, T.B. (2020). Affinely adjustable robust optimization under dynamic uncertainty set for a novel robust closed-loop supply chain, *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, Vol. 145, Article No. 106521, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.1016/j.cie.2020.106521</u>.

- [12] Vahdani, B., Ahmadzadeh, E. (2019). Designing a realistic ICT closed loop supply chain network with integrated decisions under uncertain demand and lead time, *Knowledge-Based Systems*, Vol. 179, 34-54, <u>doi: 10.1016/ knosvs.05003</u>.
- [13] Chen, X., Li, K., Wang, F., Li, X. (2020). Optimal production, pricing and government subsidy policies for a closed loop supply chain with uncertain returns, *Journal of Industrial and Management Optimization*, Vol. 16, No. 3, 1389-1414, doi: 10.3934/jimo.2019008.
- [14] Olivares-Aguila, J., ElMaraghy, W. (2020). System dynamics modelling for supply chain disruptions, *International Journal of Production Research*, Vol 58, 1-19, <u>doi: 10.1080/00207543.2020.1725171</u>.
- [15] Chen, L., Dui, H., Zhang, C. (2020). A resilience measure for supply chain systems considering the interruption with the cyber-physical systems, *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, Vol. 199, Article No. 106869, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.1016/ress.106869</u>.
- [16] Sánchez-Ramírez, C., Ramos-Hernández, R., Mendoza Fong, J.R., Alor-Hernández, G., García-Alcaraz, J.L. (2020). A system dynamics model to evaluate the impact of production process disruption on order shipping, *Applied Sciences*, Vol. 10, No. 1, Article No. 208, <u>doi: 10.3390/app10010208</u>.
- [17] Shao, L., Jin, S. (2020). Resilience assessment of the lithium supply chain in China under impact of new energy vehicles and supply interruption, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 252, Article No. 119624, <u>doi: 10.1016/jclepro.19624</u>.
- [18] Wang, Y., Wang, J., Wang, X. (2020). COVID-19, supply chain disruption and China's hog market: A dynamic analysis, *China Agricultural Economic Review*, Vol. 12, No. 3, 427-443, <u>doi: 10.1108/CAER-04-2020-0053</u>.
- [19] Kim, J., Chung, B.D., Kang, Y., Jeong, B. (2018). Robust optimization model for closed-loop supply chain planning under reverse logistics flow and demand uncertainty, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 196, 1314-1328, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.06.157</u>.
- [20] Hassanpour, A., Bagherinejad, J., Bashiri, M. (2019). A robust leader follower approach for closed loop supply chain network design considering returns quality levels, *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, Vol. 136, 293-304, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.cie.2019.07.031</u>.
- [21] Fazli-Khalaf, M., Chaharsooghi, S.K., Pishvaee, M.S. (2019). A new robust possibilistic programming model for reliable supply chain network design: A case study of lead-acid battery supply chain, *RAIRO-Operations Research*, Vol. 53, No. 5, 1489-1512, <u>doi: 10.1051/ro/2018073</u>.
- [22] Polo, A., Peña, N., Muñoz, D., Cañón, A., Escobar, J.W. (2019). Robust design of a closed-loop supply chain under uncertainty conditions integrating financial criteria, *Omega*. Vol. 88, 110-132, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.omega.2018.09.003</u>.
- [23] Abdolazimi, O., Salehi Esfandarani, M., Salehi, M., Shishebori, D. (2020). Robust design of a multi-objective closed-loop supply chain by integrating on-time delivery, cost, and environmental aspects, case study of a Tire factory, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 264, Article No. 121566, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.121566.
- [24] Gholizadeh, H., Tajdin, A., Javadian, N. (2020). A closed-loop supply chain robust optimization for disposable appliances, *Neural Computing and Applications*, Vol. 32, No. 8, 3967-3985, <u>doi: 10.1007/s00521-018-3847-9</u>.
- [25] Mohammed, F., Hassan, A., Selim, S.Z. (2019). Carbon market sensitive robust optimization model for closed loop supply chain network design under uncertainty, *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, Vol. 1150, Article No. 012009, doi: 10.1088/1742-6596/1150/1/012009.
- [26] Nayeri, S., Paydar, M.M., Asadi-Gangraj, E., Emami, S. (2020). Multi objective fuzzy robust optimization approach to sustainable closed-loop supply chain network design, *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, Vol. 148, Article No. 106716, doi: 10.1016/j.cie.2020.106716.
- [27] Tan, Y., Guo, C. (2019). Research on two-way logistics operation with uncertain recycling quality in government multi-policy environment, *Sustainability*, Vol. 11, No. 3, Article No. 882, <u>doi: 10.3390/su11030882</u>.
- [28] Hosseini-Motlagh, S.-M., Nami, N., Farshadfar, Z. (2020). Collection disruption management and channel coordination in a socially concerned closed-loop supply chain: A game theory approach, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 276, Article No. 124173, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.124173.
- [29] Jin, M., Zhou, Y. (2020). Does the remanufactured product deserve the same warranty as the new one in a closed-loop supply chain?, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 262, Article No. 121430, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.121430</u>.
- [30] Jauhari, W.A., Adam, N.A.F.P., Rosyidi, C.N., Nyoman Pujawan, I., Shah, N.H. (2020). A closed-loop supply chain model with rework, waste disposal, and carbon emissions, *Operations Research Perspectives*, Vol. 7, Article No. 100155, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.orp.2020.100155</u>.
- [31] Yu, H., Solvang, W.D. (2016). A stochastic programming approach with improved multi-criteria scenario-based solution method for sustainable reverse logistics design of waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE), *Sustainability*, Vol. 8, No. 12, Article No. 1331, <u>doi: 10.3390/su8121331</u>.
- [32] Pourjavad, E., Mayorga, R.V. (2018). Optimization of a sustainable closed loop supply chain network design under uncertainty using multi-objective evolutionary algorithms, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 13, No. 2, 216-228, doi: 10.14743/apem2018.2.286.
- [33] Dehghan, E., Amiri, M., Shafiei Nikabadi, M., Jabbarzadeh, A. (2019). Novel robust fuzzy programming for closedloop supply chain network design under hybrid uncertainty, *Journal of Intelligent &Fuzzy Systems*, Vol. 37, No. 5, 6457-6470, <u>doi: 10.3233/JIFS-18117</u>.
- [34] Ghomi-Avili, M., Khosrojerdi, A., Tavakkoli-Moghaddam, R. (2019). A multi-objective model for the closed-loop supply chain network design with a price-dependent demand, shortage and disruption, *Journal of Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems*, Vol. 36, No. 6, 5261-5272, doi: 10.3233/JIFS-181051.

- [35] Fakhrzad, M.B., Goodarzian, F. (2019). A Fuzzy multi-objective programming approach to develop a green closed-loop supply chain network design problem under uncertainty: Modifications of imperialist competitive algorithm, *RAIRO Operations Research*, Vol. 53, No. 3, 963-990, <u>doi: 10.1051/ro/2019018</u>.
- [36] Santander, P., Cruz Sanchez, F.A., Boudaoud, H., Camargo, M. (2020). Closed loop supply chain network for local and distributed plastic recycling for 3D printing: A MILP-based optimization approach, *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, Vol. 154, Article No. 104531, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2019.104531</u>.
- [37] Zhao, R., Liu, Y., Zhang, Z., Guo, S., Tseng, M.-L., Wu, K.-J. (2018). Enhancing eco-efficiency of agro-products' closed-loop supply chain under the belt and road initiatives: A system dynamics approach, *Sustainability*, Vol. 10, No. 3, Article No. 668, <u>doi: 10.3390/su10030668</u>.
- [38] Goltsos, T.E., Ponte, B., Wang, S., Liu, Y., Naim, M.M., Syntetos, A.A. (2019). The boomerang returns? Accounting for the impact of uncertainties on the dynamics of remanufacturing systems, *International Journal of Production Research*, Vol. 57, No. 23, 7361-7394, doi: 10.1080/00207543.2018.1510191.
- [39] Zhao, J., Sun, N. (2020). Government subsidies-based profits distribution pattern analysis in closed-loop supply chain using game theory, *Neural Computing & Applications*, Vol. 32, No. 6, 1715-1724, <u>doi: 10.1007/s00521-019-04245-2</u>.
- [40] Miao, S., Liu, D., Ma, J., Tian, F. (2020). System dynamics modelling of mixed recycling mode based on contract: A case study of online and offline recycling of E-waste in China, *Mathematical and Computer Modelling of Dynamical Systems*, Vol. 26, No. 3, 234-252, doi: 10.1080/13873954.2020.1762096.
- [41] Xue, R., Zhang, F., Tian, F. (2018). A system dynamics model to evaluate effects of retailer-led recycling based on dual chains competition: A case of e-waste in China, *Sustainability*, Vol. 10, No. 10, Article No. 3391, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.3390/su10103391</u>.
- [42] Huang, M., Yi, P., Shi, T., Guo, L. (2018). A modal interval based method for dynamic decision model considering uncertain quality of used products in remanufacturing, *Journal of Intelligent Manufacturing*, Vol. 29, No. 4, 925-935, doi: 10.1007/s10845-015-1151-4.
- [43] Sahebjamnia, N., Fathollahi-Fard, A.M., Hajiaghaei-Keshteli, M. (2018). Sustainable tire closed-loop supply chain network design: Hybrid metaheuristic algorithms for large-scale networks, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 196, 273-296, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.05.245.
- [44] Zarbakhshnia, N., Kannan, D., Kiani Mavi, R, Soleimani, H. (2020). A novel sustainable multi-objective optimization model for forward and reverse logistics system under demand uncertainty, *Annals of Operations Research*, Vol. 295, No. 2, 843-880, doi: 10.1007/s10479-020-03744-z.
- [45] Feitó-Cespón, M., Costa, Y., Pishvaee, M.S., Cespón-Castro, R. (2021). A fuzzy inference based scenario building in two-stage optimization framework for sustainable recycling supply chain redesign, *Expert Systems with Applications*, Vol. 165, Article No. 113906, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2020.113906</u>.
- [46] Zic, J., Zic, S. (2020). Multi-criteria decision making in supply chain management based on inventory levels, environmental impact and costs, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 15, No. 2, 151-163, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.14743/apem2020.2.355</u>.
- [47] Freile, A.J., Mula, J., Campuzano-Bolarin, F. (2020). Integrating inventory and transport capacity planning in a food supply chain, *International Journal of Simulation Modelling*, Vol. 19, No. 3, 434-445, <u>doi: 10.2507/IJSIMM19-3-523</u>.
- [48] Buschiazzo, M., Mula, J., Campuzano-Bolarin, F. (2020). Simulation optimization for the inventory management of healthcare supplies, *International Journal of Simulation Modelling*, Vol. 19, No. 2, 255-266, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.2507/IJSIMM19-2-514</u>.
- [49] Hu, H., Shi, L., Ma, H., Ran, B. (2017). Stability of the supply chain based on disruption classification, *Tehnički Vjesnik Technical Gazette*, Vol. 24, No. 4, 1187-1195, <u>doi: 10.17559/TV-20170723084826</u>.
- [50] Babaeinesami, A., Tohidi, H., Seyedaliakbar, S.M. (2020). A closed loop Stackelberg game in multi-product supply chain considering information security: A case study, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 15, No. 2, 233-246, <u>doi: 10.14743/apem2020.2.361</u>.
- [51] Zhang, Y.C., Feng, Y., Zhou, J.H., Zhang, S.X. (2018). Simulation and optimization of contract coordination model of closed-loop supply chain quality control based on system dynamics, *Systems Engineering*, Vol. 36, No. 3, 105-112.

APEM journal Advances in Production Engineering & Management Volume 16 | Number 1 | March 2021 | pp 23–36 https://doi.org/10.14743/apem2021.1.382 **ISSN 1854-6250** Journal home: apem-journal.org Original scientific paper

A dynamic job-shop scheduling model based on deep learning

Tian, W.^{a,*}, Zhang, H.P.^b

^aSchool of Accounting, Henan Finance University, Zhengzhou, P.R. China ^bSchool of Management and Economics, North China University of Water Resources and Electric Power, Zhengzhou, P.R. China

ABSTRACT

Ideally, the solution to job-shop scheduling problem (JSP) should effectively reduce the cost of manpower and materials, thereby enhancing the core competitiveness of the manufacturer. Deep learning (DL) neural networks have certain advantages in handling complex dynamic JSPs with a massive amount of historical data. Therefore, this paper proposes a dynamic job-shop scheduling model based on DL. Firstly, a data prediction model was established for dynamic job-shop scheduling, with long short-term memory network (LSTM) as the basis; the Dropout technology and adaptive moment estimation (AD-AM) were introduced to enhance the generalization ability and prediction effect of the model. Next, the dynamic JSP was described in details, and three objective functions, namely, maximum makespan, total device load, and key device load, were chosen for optimization. Finally, the multi-objective problem of dynamic JSP scheduling was solved by the improved multi-objective genetic algorithm (MOGA). The effectiveness of the algorithm was proved experimentally.

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Long short-term memory (LSTM); Dynamic job-shop scheduling; Multi-objective genetic algorithm (MOGA); Adaptive moment estimation (ADAM)

**Corresponding author:* 51980572@qq.com (Tian, W.)

Article history: Received 24 February 2021 Revised 4 March 2021 Accepted 8 March 2021



Content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International Licence (CC BY 4.0). Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.

1. Introduction

With the advent of the new industrial era, the old production model has gradually been replaced by the flexible, highly integrated, and automated production model of modern intelligent manufacturing. In modern intelligent manufacturing, the production process focuses on the coordination and balance of various links, such as production, supply, sales, transportation, and storage, and attaches equal importance to economic benefits as well as the efficiency, quality, and safety of production [1-4].

The rational allocation of job-shop resources can effectively reduce manpower and material costs of manufacturers. To enhance its core competitiveness, every manufacturer needs to look for an effective way to solve the job-shop scheduling problem (JSP) [5-8]. In actual production, the processing performance is greatly affected by various uncertainties and instabilities. Therefore, it is urgent to solve the job-shop scheduling model under disturbance factors.

The JSP is mostly solved by evolutionary algorithms, swarm optimization algorithms, and artificial intelligence algorithms. The optimal solution is usually obtained through iterations and group search, with the aim to minimize the makespan and energy consumption [9-13]. Shokouhi

[14] classified the dynamic events in actual production process into four categories according to processing strategies and processes, namely, addition events, device occupation events, delayable events, and exchangeable events, provided the mathematical model and constraints for two typical dynamic times (i.e., device failure and early delivery), and solved the dynamic ISP with the adaptive genetic algorithm. Somashekhara et al. [15] introduced the local search algorithm to speed up the discrete PSO, and designed a task-driven rolling window scheduling strategy to cope with the dynamic events like the shutdowns caused by device failure, order placement, and order cancelation. Shahrabi et al. [16] analyzed the properties of three typical dynamic JSPs, including the shutdown caused by staged arrival of single workpieces, that caused by staged arrival of workpiece batches, and that caused by device failure, designed a scheduling simulation test with the scheduling rules as independent variables, and verified that the genetic algorithm with adaptive variable neighborhood search is feasible and effective in solving these dynamic JSPs. Gondran *et al.* [17] explored the JSP under the background of multi-agent technology application: the multi-agent collaboration contract network protocol was improved to control the excessively high traffic and increase the cooperation efficiency; then, a job-shop scheduling model was constructed for multiple agents and objectives and specific constraints; finally, the performance of the adaptive PSO in solving the JSP was tested.

The traditional genetic algorithm and its improvements face several problems in optimizing job-shop scheduling plans: slow convergence, lack of population diversity, and proneness to local optimum trap [18-20]. From the perspectives of parallel structure and multiple swarms, Marzouki *et al.* [21] constructed a modularized dynamic job-shop scheduling model, which contains a dynamic database module, a genetic algorithm module, and a re-scheduling program application module; their model integrates the advantages of the elite population protection strategy in the hierarchical evaluation system in improving crossover and mutation probabilities. Keddari *et al.* [22] adopted bee colony optimization to improve a solving algorithm for the multiobjective JSP in actual production. Reddy *et al.* [23] adopted the improved weed algorithm to deal with the multi-objective JSP, with device load, unit device load, and scheduling cycle as optimization goals.

Many have conducted valuable research into the dynamic JSP in actual production process [24-26]. Danielsson *et al.* [27] combined demand prediction with scheduling plan to build a neural network-based prediction model for manhour realization rate, and applied intelligent group optimization algorithm to optimize the multiple objectives in job-shop scheduling and stabilize the manhour realization rate. Teymourifar *et al.* [28] integrated second-order oscillation with optimal network-bandwidth allocation (ONBA) algorithm to obtain the scheduling data of dynamic job-shop model, and greatly shortened the prediction time by improving the learning rate of deep learning (DL) network. Facing the optimization of multiple objectives, resource scheduling in cloud manufacturing extends the time to solve cloud manufacturing tasks. To solve the problem, Teymourifar *et al.* [28] improved the ONBA algorithm by differential evolution algorithm to obtain the scheduling data of the cloud manufacturing model. The data were applied to train the improved deep belief network (IDBN). The learning rate of DL was improved to realize rapid prediction of the scheduling results of cloud manufacturing model. Experimental results show that their method can accurately predict the scheduling results, and shorten the scheduling time, opening a new path to multi-objective group optimization.

In summary, the existing algorithms for dynamic JSP boast strong applicability, and good optimization effect. However, they often converge to the local minimum, and behave stochastically. Compared with traditional shallow neural networks, DL neural networks are excellent in handling complex dynamic JSPs with a huge amount of historical data. Therefore, the authors developed a dynamic job-shop scheduling model based on DL.

In the following parts of the paper: Section 2 establishes a data prediction model for dynamic job-shop scheduling based on long short-term memory network (LSTM), and improves the generalization and prediction performance of the model by Dropout technology and adaptive moment estimation (ADAM). Section 3 describes the dynamic JSP in details, chooses three objective functions, namely, maximum makespan, total device load, and key device load, and constructs the corresponding mathematical model. Based on the predicted data on dynamic job-shop scheduling obtained in Section 2, Section 4 improves the multi-objective genetic algorithm (MO-GA) to handle the multi-objective dynamic JSP, and describes the improved MOGA. Section 5 verifies the effectiveness of the improved MOGA in solving dynamic JSP. Section 6 summarizes the findings of this research.

2. Data prediction model

As a multi-layer representation learning algorithm, DL has a deeper network structure, solves more complex problems, and achieves better prediction accuracy, than ordinary neural networks. The LSTM can effectively overcome the vanishing or exploding gradients of traditional DL neural networks. Fig. 1 illustrates the structure of the LSTM. The typical feature of the LSTM is that the hidden layer nodes are replaced with a storage unit, and four modules, i.e., input door, control door, forget door, and output door, are added to the conventional recurrent neural network.



Fig. 1 Structure of the LSTM

Let C_{t-1} be the output of the control door at time t - 1, which reflects whether to discard the current data; W_i , W_f , W_c , and W_o be the coefficient matrices of input door, forget door, control door, and output door, respectively; σ be the nonlinear activation function sigmoid. Then, the output of the forget door can be calculated by:

$$f_t = \sigma \Big(W_f \cdot [h_{t-1}, I_t] + \varepsilon_f \Big) \tag{1}$$

The input door determines which data to be updated by the LSTM cell. The output of the input door can be calculated by:

$$i_t = \sigma(W_i \cdot [h_{t-1}, I_t] + \varepsilon_i)$$
⁽²⁾

The new candidate value vector can be created by the tanh function:

$$\tilde{C}_t = \tanh(W_C \cdot [h_{t-1}, I_t] + \varepsilon_C)$$
(3)

The control door determines which data to be updated by the LSTM cell. The value of C_t can be calculated by:

$$C_t = f_t \cdot c_{t-1} + i_t \cdot \tilde{C}_t \tag{4}$$

The output door completes the state update of the LSTM cell, and its output can be calculated by:

$$o_t = \sigma(W_o \cdot [h_{t-1}, I_t] + \varepsilon_o) \tag{5}$$

The input of LSTM cell at time *t* can be expressed as:

$$h_t = o_t \cdot \tanh(C_t) \tag{6}$$



Fig. 2 LSTM-based data prediction model for dynamic JSP

In a DL network model, the parameters will increase exponentially with the increase of network layers and that of layer nodes. The exponential increase of parameters will weaken the generalization ability and prediction performance of the model, increasing the probability of overfitting.

This problem was solved by the Dropout technology. Firstly, half of the hidden layer nodes in the network were randomly chosen, and their inputs and outputs were set to zero. Then, the input *I* was propagated forward through the new network, and the resulting loss was propagated backward through the network. After some training samples completed the above process, the weights and errors of nodes in the hidden layer, whose inputs and outputs had not been set to zero, were updated by stochastic gradient descent. Then, the nodes whose inputs and outputs had been set to zero were restored. After that, half of the hidden layer nodes in the new network were randomly chosen, and their inputs and outputs were set to zero. This process was repeated again and again. Fig. 3 shows the network structure improved by the Dropout technology.



Fig. 3 Network structure improved by the Dropout technology

The learning rate α greatly affects the training efficiency of the network. To boost the efficiency, the key is to improve the adaptivity of the learning rate to the network. In this paper, the ADAM is selected to iteratively compute the gradient of the loss function, and to further update network parameters. Let θ_0 be the initial parameter vector. If parameter θ_t does not converge at time *t*, then make t = t + 1, and obtain the gradient for the new iteration by:

$$g_t = \nabla_\theta f_t(\theta_{t-1}) \tag{7}$$

The first moment vector can be updated by:

$$m_t = \beta_1 m_{t-1} + (1 - \beta_1) g_t \tag{8}$$

where, β_1 is the exponential decay rate of the first moment estimates. The second moment vector can be updated by:

$$v_t = \beta_2 v_{t-1} + (1 - \beta_2) g_t^2 \tag{9}$$

where, β_2 is the exponential decay rate of the second moment estimates. The calculation deviations for the first and second moment vectors can be updated by:

$$\begin{cases} \widehat{m}_t = \frac{m_t}{1 - \beta_1^t} \\ \widehat{v}_t = \frac{v_t}{1 - \beta_2^t} \end{cases}$$
(10)

The network parameters can be updated by:

$$\theta_t = \theta_{t-1} - \frac{\alpha \cdot \hat{m}_t}{\sqrt{\hat{v}_t + b}} \tag{11}$$

where, *b* is a small constant that prevents the denominator from being zero.

Fig. 4 presents our data prediction model of dynamic job-shop scheduling. The data prediction model is constructed through the following steps based on the deep LSTM:

- Step 1: Design the node structure on each layer, and randomly initialize network parameters.
- Step 2: Initialize the data on dynamic job-shop scheduling, and divide the vectorized data samples into training and test sets at a certain ratio. During the training, the network loss is calculated through forward propagation as that in backpropagation (BP) neural network, and the network parameters are updated iteratively through ADAM.
- Step 3: Import the test samples into the trained model, which outputs the predicted data on dynamic job-shop scheduling.



Fig. 4 Structure of the data prediction model

3. Problem description and mathematical modeling

Fig. 5 shows the distribution of processes in the scheduling data on a dynamic car-making jobshop. It can be seen that each workpiece in the dynamic job-shop contains one or more preset processes that can be implemented on different devices. The scheduling performance of the entire production system can be optimized by assigning the ideal device to each process, and ensuring that the processes on each device is sorted in the best possible manner.



Fig. 5 Distribution of processes in the scheduling data on a dynamic car-making job-shop

Suppose the job-shop has *N* workpieces A_i to be processed, i = 1, 2, ..., N, where the *i*-th workpiece A_i involves N_i processes P_k , $k = 1, 2, ..., N_i$, and *M* devices E_j , j = 1, 2, ..., M. Let E_{ij} be the set of devices suitable for implementing the *k*-th process P_{ik} of workpiece A_i , and T_{ijk} be the time required to implement process P_{ik} on the *i*-th device E_j . Then, the sum of processes for all *N* workpieces can be expressed as:

$$P_{TOTAL} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} N_i \tag{12}$$

The production cycle of workpieces is greatly affected by the maximum makespan, and the overall utilization of devices in the dynamic job-shop depends largely on device load. Under these constraints, this paper decides to optimize three objective functions: maximum makespan, total device load, and key device load. Among them, the maximum makespan characterizes the production efficiency of the job-shop. The minimization of the maximum makespan needs to satisfy:

$$\min T_{\max} = \max_{1 \le i \le N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N_i} T_{ijk}$$
(13)

The total device load characterizes the working time of all devices. The minimization of the total device load needs to satisfy:

$$\min L_{TOTAL} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{M} \sum_{k=1}^{N_i} T_{ijk} \varphi_{ijk}$$
(14)

where, φ_{ijk} is a binary function about whether process P_{ik} is implemented on the *j*-th device E_j (if $\varphi_{ijk} = 1$, the process is implemented on that device; if $\varphi_{ijk} = 0$, the process is not implemented on that device).

The key device load determines which device is assigned to each process in the scheduling plan. The minimization of the key device load needs to satisfy:

$$\min L_{j} = \max_{1 \le i \le N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{i}} T_{ijk} \varphi_{ijk}$$
(15)

The dynamic job-shop scheduling is mainly subject to seven constraints: (1) the spatiotemporal exclusivity of devices, (2) the spatiotemporal exclusivity of processes, (3) the time continuity of processing, (4) the time limit of processing, (5) the sequence of processes, (6) the fairness of the priority of processes, (7) the start-up consistency of devices.

Let ST_{ik} be the start time of the *k*-th process P_{ik} of A_i . Since each device needs to execute more than one process, the time limit of processing can be defined as:

$$\begin{cases} ST_{ik} + \varphi_{ijk} \cdot T_{ijk} \leq \sum_{j=1}^{M} \sum_{k=1}^{N_i} T_{ijk} \\ \sum_{j=1}^{M} \sum_{k=1}^{N_i} T_{ijk} \leq T_{max} \end{cases}$$
(16)

The time continuity of processing can be defined as:

$$\sum_{j=1}^{M} \sum_{k=1}^{N_i} T_{ijk} \le ST_{i(k+1)}$$
(17)

The spatiotemporal exclusivity of processes can be defined as:

$$ST_{ik} + T_{ijk} \le ST_{i(k+1)} \tag{18}$$

Since each process of a workpiece must be assigned a device, the following constraint must be satisfied to find a device in the device set E_i for process P_{ik} :

$$\sum_{j=1}^{M} \varphi_{ijk} = 1 \tag{19}$$

4. Problem solving

For the multi-objective dynamic job-shop scheduling, the MOGA enjoys good optimization performance and model robustness, but faces several defects: the limited population size and the difficulty in saving the optimal solution. It is necessary to improve the algorithm in two aspects: reducing computing complexity and increasing the preservation probability of the optimal individuals.

To ensure the diversity of solutions, this paper replaces the calculation and selection of the crowded distance in the traditional MOGA with the selection of predefined reference points. Whereas three objectives have been chosen for the multi-objective dynamic job-shop scheduling, the reference points were defined on a three-dimensional hyperplane, and each objective was split into Q parts. Then, the number of reference points can be calculated by:

$$N_R = \begin{pmatrix} 3+Q-1\\Q \end{pmatrix}$$
(20)

The coordinates of each point in the corresponding two-dimensional plane can be expressed as:

$$c_{l} = \left\{0, \frac{1}{Q}, \frac{2}{Q}, \dots, 1\right\}$$
(21)

The solution diversity of the target problem was maintained by the correlation between each reference point and each solution. The different scales of each objective function can be reflected

by the reference points on the planes in the three-dimensional hyperplane. Therefore, the algorithm's preference for the scale of each objective function should be lowered through adaptive normalization.

Step 1: Regard the minimum of population K_t as the optimal point of the population. Set up the set of the optimal points $K = (K_{1-\min}, K_{2-\min}, \dots, K_{D-\min})$ to transform the objective functions Eqs. 13-15 by:

$$F_i^*(x) = F_i(x) - K_{i-\min}$$
(22)

Step 2: Determine the extra points on the hyperplane by:

$$EP(x,\sigma) = \max_{i=1}^{3} \frac{F_i^*(x)}{\sigma_i}, \qquad x \in K_z$$
(23)

The *i*-th optimal point can be expressed as:

$$K_{i-\min} = c: \operatorname{argmin}_{c \in K_z} EP(x, \sigma^i), \sigma^i = (10^{-6}, \dots, 10^{-6}), \qquad \sigma_j^i = 1$$
(24)

Calculate the distance between the hyperplane and each coordinate axis, and perform adaptive normalization on each objective function by:

$$g_i^n = \frac{F_i^*(x)}{x_i - K_{i-\min}} = \frac{F_i(x) - K_{i-\min}}{x_i - K_{i-\min}}, \qquad i = 1,2,3$$
(25)

Step 3: Solve the connected reference line of the first V non-dominated optimal layers. Specifically, calculate the vertical distance on the hyperplane for the reference line ς between the origin and reference point corresponding to each individual *K* by:

$$D^{\perp}(K,\varsigma) = \|(K - \varsigma^T K\varsigma) / \|\varsigma\|^2\|$$
(26)

Then, define the reference point corresponding to the shortest distance as the connected reference point, and the corresponding connected reference line can represent the correlation between the connected reference point and each solution.

Fig. 6 explains the workflow of the proposed algorithm for solving dynamic JSP.

- Step 1: Initialize the objective functions, coding method, and parameters.
- Step 2: Generate a fixed number of predefined reference points, according to the number of optimization objectives of the multi-objective dynamic job-shop scheduling, as well as the number of equal divisions of each objective.
- Step 3: Make the initial number of iterations zero, generate a population K_t of the size D that meets the seven constraints of dynamic job-shop scheduling, and perform fitness calculation
- Step 4: Generate new individuals through crossover, and obtain a new population K'_t through mutation.
- Step 5: Perform fitness calculation for the new population K_t , merge the new and old populations, and conduct rapid dominated and non-dominated sorting of individuals, and obtaining the non-dominated optimal layers. By assigning a shared virtual fitness to all non-dominated individuals, obtain the non-dominated optimal layers, such as rank1, rank, rank3, etc.
- Step 6: Perform adaptive normalization of individuals in the next-generation population, compare the vertical distances of all reference lines of all individuals on the hyperplane, obtain the set of reference points connected with all individuals with the shortest distance, and compute the niche of each reference point. The preservation of the niche can be realized through the following steps:
 - Let $\Omega_{min} = \{z: argmin_z v_z\}$ be the set of reference points for the minimum niche.

• Randomly choose reference points from Ω_{\min} , which contains multiple reference points, and assemble them into the set Ψ_z of connected individuals on the *V*-th layer.

If Ψ_z is empty, there is no individual on the *V*-th layer connected with the selected reference point; thus, remove this reference point.

If Ψ_z is not empty, and if v_z equals zero, take the individual with the shortest vertical distance as the optimal individual, pass it down to the next generation, and make $v_z = v_z + 1$; if v_z is greater than 1, randomly choose an individual from the *V*-th layer, pass it down to the next generation, and make $v_z = v_z + 1$.

Step 7: After niche preservation, judge if the size of the next-generation population reaches the preset value. If yes, it means the iterations have completed. Then, judge if the number of iterations meets the preset maximum value. If yes, terminate the iteration, and output the result; otherwise, make t = t + 1, and continue with the iterative process.



Fig. 6 Workflow of solving dynamic JSP based on MOGA

5. Experiments and results analysis

The hyperparameter setting directly determines the accuracy of the proposed LSTM-based data prediction model for dynamic job-shop scheduling. In this paper, tanh is selected as the activation function of the network, mean squared error (MSE) is taken as the objective function, ADAM is chosen to improve the parameters, and the batch size is set to 30.

The degree of feature extraction from dynamic job-shop scheduling data depends on the hidden layer(s). Table 1 shows the prediction results at different number of hidden layers. Obviously, the MSE, MAE, and MAPE of our model were minimized, when there were five hidden layers. Table 2 presents the prediction results at different number of nodes in the hidden layer. It can be seen that, when there were 25 hidden layer nodes, the MAE and MAPE were minimized, and the MSE was relatively small. Since a small loss means highly accurate prediction, the number of hidden layers and the number of hidden layer nodes were set to 5 and 25, respectively.

Table 1 Prediction results at different number of hidden layers									
Number of layers	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
MSE	23.69	22.44	21.61	20.91	19.18	20.93	21.33	22.64	23.11
MAE	16.71	15.28	14.57	13.99	13.18	13.37	14.29	15.23	16.50
MAPE	8.93	8.54	8.57	7.28	6.84	7.03	7.53	8.27	8.49

Table 1 Prediction results at different number of hidden layers

Table 2 Prediction results at different number of hidden layer nodes								
Number of nodes	5	10	15	20	25	30	35	40
MSE	22.45	21.19	20.64	20.84	20.97	21.09	21.91	22.10
MAE	16.74	15.36	15.49	14.73	14.26	14.58	15.53	15.67
MAPE	7.86	7.37	7.49	7.26	6.81	7.15	7.36	7.89

To verify its effectiveness, the proposed deep LSTM for data prediction of dynamic job-shop scheduling was compared with support vector machine (SVM) through experiments. A total of 7,500 pieces of data were selected to train the model, and 2,500 sets of data to test the model. Tables 3-5 present the test results on any five sets of test data.

Table 3Test data of objective functions						
Corial number		Input o	lata			
Serial number	Maximum makespan	Processing cost	Key device load	Total device load		
1	51	15.217	77	184		
2	62	11.463	89	169		
3	55	13.503	93	215		
4	64	15.227	84	210		
5	59	9 803	76	175		

Table 4 Test data of SVM						
Sorial number		Output	data			
Serial number	Maximum makespan	Processing cost	Key device load	Total device load		
1	48	14.863	83	210		
2	68	11.980	80	184		
3	53	14.254	91	201		
4	60	14.739	98	231		
5	64	11.004	84	168		

Table 5 Test data of LSTM								
Sorial number	Output data							
Ser lai number	Maximum makespan	Processing cost	Key device load	Total device load				
1	50	14.291	74	192				
2	59	10.649	95	173				
3	54	15.210	92	206				
4	62	15.972	79	199				
5	60	9.599	82	167				

Based on the test results, this paper selects five indices to measure the performance of each prediction model: accuracy, precision, recall, comprehensive evaluation index (CEI), and area under the curve (ACU). The SVM is a supervised learning model. It is often adopted to analyze data, predict classes, and regress data. Table 6 compares the prediction performance of SVM and LSTM. It can be seen that, when only the processes in Fig. 5 were considered (e.g., casting, forging, cold stamping, welding, metal cutting, heat treatment, assembly, body installation, painting, testing, finished product packaging), the proposed model outperformed the SVM, as it achieved the higher values of all metrics.

Fig. 7 shows that the ROC curve of SVM remained below that of LSTM. This further confirms that our data prediction model for dynamic job-shop scheduling is better than the other models, and is highly feasible.

Normally, multi-objective planning problems can be modeled into the search for Pareto optimal solutions. Compared with traditional genetic algorithm, adaptive genetic algorithm boasts the ability to solve multiple objectives, strong robustness, and excellence in optimization. The adaptive genetic algorithm II is improved from NSGA, by optimizing the elite strategy for retaining the optimal solutions. On this basis, the adaptive genetic algorithm III is derived by replacing the crowded distance. The two algorithms are widely used in many fields. To verify the superiority of our algorithm, this paper sets up a dynamic job-shop scheduling model with three objective functions: minimal maximum makespan, minimal total device load, and minimal key device load. Then, the model was solved by the proposed algorithm, adaptive genetic algorithm II, and adaptive genetic algorithm III. Table 7 lists the maximum, mean, and minimum of the objective functions obtained by the three algorithms. Fig. 8 displays the solution sets of the three algorithms in a three-dimensional space. The mean Euclidean distance from each reference point to the nearest solution was computed to measure the performance of the above three methods. The algorithm with the smallest inverted generational distance has the best performance. It can be seen that our algorithm achieved comparable results as adaptive genetic algorithms II and III in key device load, while significantly outshined the two algorithms in maximum makespan and total device load.

Table 6 Prediction performance of SVM and LSTM

_			1			
	Prediction model	Accuracy	Precision	Recall	CEI	ACU
	SVM	92,16	90.62	95.72	96.33	0.875
	LSTM	94.37	95.11	96.21	96.78	0.898
_						



Fig. 7 ROC curves of SVM and LSTM

Table 7 Solving results of different algorithms								
Objectives		Adaptive genetic algorithm II	Adaptive genetic algorithm III	Our algorithm				
	Max	64.34	62.15	60.75				
Maximum makespan	Mean	53.18	54.11	53.77				
	Min	49.79	50.17	52.15				
	Max	98.13	92,75	90.22				
Key device load	Mean	87.84	86.14	86.05				
	Min	69.47	71.94	78.25				
	Max	247.49	231.85	210.05				
Total device load	Mean	181.64	184.23	183.55				
	Min	167.21	170.51	170.26				



Fig. 8 Solving results of different algorithms for dynamic JSP

6. Conclusion

This paper mainly proposes a dynamic job-shop scheduling model based on DL. Firstly, a data prediction model was innovatively constructed based on LSTM. Then, the Dropout technology and ADAM were introduced to enhance the generalization ability and prediction effect. To evaluate the prediction performance of the model, five metrics were selected, including accuracy, precision, recall, CEI, and ACU. The experimental results show that our model outperformed the SVM. Next, the three objective functions, namely, maximum makespan, total device load, and key device load, were optimized, completing the description of dynamic JSP. Finally, the MOGA was improved innovatively to solve the multi-objective dynamic JSP. From the experimental results, it is inferred that our algorithm achieved comparable results as adaptive genetic algorithms II and III in key device load, while significantly outshined the two algorithms in maximum makespan and total device load.

In future, the research contents will be deepened in the following aspects: the strategy for maintaining population diversity will be further improved, shedding light on combinatory optimization. Better evaluation indices will be found to measure the convergence of the algorithm. The test set will be expanded to reflect the actual production situation of flexible WSP.

Acknowledgement

This paper is supported by Postgraduate Education Reform Project of Henan Province, China (2019SJGLX045Y), Postgraduate Education Reform and Quality Improvement Project of Henan Province, China (HNYJS2018KC02).

References

- [1] Ahmadian, M.M., Salehipour, A., Cheng, T.C.E. (2021). A meta-heuristic to solve the just-in-time job-shop scheduling problem, *European Journal of Operational Research*, Vol. 288, No. 1, 14-29, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.ejor.2020.</u> 04.017.
- [2] Liang, Q. (2020). Production logistics management of industrial enterprises based on wavelet neural network, *Journal Européen des Systèmes Automatisés*, Vol. 53, No. 4, 581-588, <u>doi: 10.18280/jesa.530418</u>.
- [3] Vrecko, I., Kovac, J., Rupnik, B., Gajsek, B. (2019). Using queuing simulation model in production process innovations, *International Journal of Simulation Modelling*, Vol. 18, No 1, 47-58, <u>doi: 10.2507/IJSIMM18(1)458</u>.
- [4] Zhang, G., Zhang, L., Song, X., Wang, Y., Zhou, C. (2019). A variable neighborhood search based genetic algorithm for flexible job shop scheduling problem, *Cluster Computing*, Vol. 22, No. 5, 11561-11572, <u>doi: 10.1007/s10586-017-1420-4</u>.
- [5] Amjad, M.K., Butt, S.I., Anjum, N., Chaudhry, I.A., Faping, Z., Khan, M. (2020). A layered genetic algorithm with iterative diversification for optimization of flexible job shop scheduling problems, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 15, No. 4, 377-389, doi: 10.14743/apem2020.4.372.
- [6] Ojstersek, R., Lalic, D., Buchmeister, B. (2019). A new method for mathematical and simulation modelling interactivity: A case study in flexible job shop scheduling, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 14, No. 4, 435-448, doi: 10.14743/apem2019.4.339.
- [7] Meolic, R., Brezočnik, Z. (2018). Flexible job shop scheduling using zero-suppressed binary decision diagrams, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 13, No. 4, 373-388, <u>doi: 10.14743/apem2018.4.297</u>.
- [8] Zhang, H., Liu, S., Moraca, S., Ojstersek, R. (2017). An effective use of hybrid metaheuristics algorithm for job shop scheduling problem, *International Journal of Simulation Modelling*, Vol. 16, No. 4, 644-657, <u>doi: 10.2507/ IJSIMM16(4)7.400</u>.
- [9] Koblasa, F., Kralikova, R., Votrubec, R. (2020). Influence of EA control parameters to optimization process of FJSSP problem, *International Journal of Simulation Modelling*, Vol. 19, No. 3, 387-398, <u>doi: 10.2507/IJSIMM19-3-519</u>.
- [10] Asadzadeh, L. (2016). A parallel artificial bee colony algorithm for the job shop scheduling problem with a dynamic migration strategy, *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, Vol. 102, 359-367, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.cie.2016.06.</u> 025.
- [11] Kuhpfahl, J., Bierwirth, C. (2016). A study on local search neighborhoods for the job shop scheduling problem with total weighted tardiness objective, *Computers & Operations Research*, Vol. 66, 44-57, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.cor.</u> 2015.07.011.
- [12] Lei, D., Guo, X. (2016). A shuffled frog-leaping algorithm for job shop scheduling with outsourcing options, *International Journal of Production Research*, Vol. 54, No. 16, 4793-4804, <u>doi: 10.1080/00207543.2015.1088970</u>.
- [13] Wang, C., Zeng, L. (2019). Optimization of multi-objective job-shop scheduling under uncertain environment, *Journal Européen des Systèmes Automatisés*, Vol. 52, No. 2, 179-183, <u>doi: 10.18280/jesa.520210</u>.
- [14] Shokouhi, E. (2018). Integrated multi-objective process planning and flexible job shop scheduling considering precedence constraints, *Production & Manufacturing Research*, Vol. 6, No. 1, 61-89, <u>doi: 10.1080/21693277.2017. 1415173</u>.
- [15] Somashekhara, S.C.H., Setty, A.K.Y., Sridharmurthy, S.M., Adiga, P., Mahabaleshwar, U.S., Lorenzini, G. (2019). Makespan reduction using dynamic job sequencing combined with buffer optimization applying genetic algorithm in a manufacturing system, *Mathematical Modelling of Engineering Problems*, Vol. 6, No. 1, 29-37, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.18280/mmep.060104</u>.
- [16] Shahrabi, J., Adibi, M.A., Mahootchi, M. (2017). A reinforcement learning approach to parameter estimation in dynamic job shop scheduling, *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, Vol. 110, 75-82, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.cie.2017.05.</u> 026.
- [17] Gondran, M., Huguet, M.-J., Lacomme, P., Tchernev, N. (2019). Comparison between two approaches to solve the job shop scheduling problem with routing, *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, Vol. 52, No. 13, 2513-2518, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.ifacol. 2019.11.584</u>.
- [18] Zhong, Y., Yang, F., Liu, F. (2019). Solving multi-objective fuzzy flexible job shop scheduling problem using MABC algorithm, *Journal of Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems*, Vol. 36, No. 2, 1455-1473, <u>doi: 10.3233/JIFS-181152</u>.
- [19] Phanden, R.K. (2016). Multi agents approach for job shop scheduling problem using genetic algorithm and variable neighborhood search method, In: *Proceedings of the 20th World Multi-Conference on Systemics, Cybernetics and Informatics,* Orlando, Florida, USA, 275-278.
- [20] Bożek, A., Werner, F. (2018). Flexible job shop scheduling with lot streaming and sublot size optimisation, *International Journal of Production Research*, Vol. 56, No. 19, 6391-6411, <u>doi: 10.1080/00207543.2017.1346322</u>.
- [21] Marzouki, B., Driss, O.B., Ghédira, K. (2018). Solving distributed and flexible job shop scheduling problem using a chemical reaction optimization metaheuristic, *Procedia Computer Science*, Vol. 126, 1424-1433, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.procs.2018.08.114</u>.
- [22] Keddari, N., Mebarki, N., Shahzad, A., Sari, Z. (2018). Solving an integration process planning and scheduling in a flexible job shop using a hybrid approach, In: Amine, A., Mouhoub, M., Ait Mohamed, O., Djebbar, B. (eds), *Computational Intelligence and Its Applications, CIIA 2018, IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology*, Vol. 522, Springer, Cham, Switzerland, 387-398, doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-89743-1 34.
- [23] Sreekara Reddy, M.B.S., Ratnam, C., Rajyalakshmi, G., Manupati, V.K. (2018). An effective hybrid multi objective evolutionary algorithm for solving real time event in flexible job shop scheduling problem, *Measurement*, Vol. 114, 78-90, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.measurement.2017.09.022</u>.

- [24] Dabah, A., Bendjoudi, A., AitZai, A. (2016). Efficient parallel B&B method for the blocking job shop scheduling problem, In: *Proceedings of 2016 International Conference on High Performance Computing & Simulation (HPCS)*, Innsbruck, Austria, 784-791, <u>doi: 10.1109/HPCSim.2016.7568414</u>.
- [25] Maharana, D., Kotecha, P. (2019). Optimization of job shop scheduling problem with grey wolf optimizer and JAYA algorithm, In: Panigrahi, B., Trivedi, M., Mishra, K., Tiwari, S., Singh, P. (eds), Smart Innovations in Communication and Computational Sciences, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, Vol. 669, Springer, Singapore, 47-58, doi: 10.1007/978-981-10-8968-8 5.
- [26] Jahan, M.V., Dashtaki, M., Dashtaki, M. (2015). Water cycle algorithm improvement for solving job shop scheduling problem, In: Proceedings of 2015 International Congress on Technology, Communication and Knowledge (ICTCK), Mashhad, Iran, 576-581, doi: 10.1109/ICTCK.2015.7582732.
- [27] Danielsson, F., Svensson, B., Reddy, D. (2015). A genetic algorithm with shuffle for job shop scheduling problems, In: *Proceedings of the Modelling and simulation 2015: The European simulation and modelling conference,* Leicester, United Kingdom, 363-367.
- [28] Teymourifar, A., Ozturk, G., Ozturk, Z.K., Bahadir, O. (2020). Extracting new dispatching rules for multi-objective dynamic flexible job shop scheduling with limited buffer spaces, *Cognitive Computation*, Vol. 12, No. 1, 195-205, doi: 10.1007/s12559-018-9595-4.
APEM journal

Advances in Production Engineering & Management Volume 16 | Number 1 | March 2021 | pp 37–46 https://doi.org/10.14743/apem2021.1.383 **ISSN 1854-6250** Journal home: apem-journal.org Original scientific paper

Multi-objective automated guided vehicle scheduling based on MapReduce framework

Shi, W.^{a,b}, Tang, D.B.^{a,*}, Zou, P.^b

^aCollege of Mechanical and Electrical Engineering, Nanjing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Nanjing, P.R. China ^bBeijing Aerospace Smart Manufacturing Technology of Development Co., Ltd., Beijing, P.R. China

ABSTRACT

During material handling processes, automated guided vehicles (AGVs) pose a path conflict problem. To solve this problem, we proposed a multi-objective scheduling model based on total driving distance and waiting time, and used the A* path planning algorithm to search the shortest path of AGV. By using a speed control strategy, we were able to detect the overlap path and the conflict time. Additionally, we adopted an efficient MapReduce framework to improve the speed control strategy execution efficiency. At last, a material handling system of smart electrical connectors workshop was discussed to verify the scheduling model and the speed control strategy combined with the MapReduce framework is feasible and effective to reduce the AGV path conflict probability. The material handling system could be applied in workshop to replace manual handling and to improve production efficiency.

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Automated-guided vehicle(AGV); Scheduling; AGV scheduling; MapReduce; Path planning; A* search algorithm

**Corresponding author:* d.tang@nuaa.edu.cn (Tang, D.B.)

Article history: Received 25 January 2021 Revised 2 March 2021 Accepted 8 March 2021



Content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International Licence (CC BY 4.0). Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.

1. Introduction

Automated guided vehicles (AGVs) are automated intelligent unmanned vehicles that rely on electromagnetic, laser, and visual navigation equipment to complete a series of transportation and assembly tasks under the control of a scheduling system along a guided path between work-stations. In the actual production environment, through cooperative work, multiple AGVs are able to quickly and efficiently complete tasks, such as material handling, warehousing, and transportation. The scheduling system of the AGVs should pursue the global optimal solution, and determine a reasonable allocation plan to achieve the best match between the tasks and the AGVs.

As a key part of future automated logistics, AGV systems have broad development prospects, and the research of scheduling technology, which is the core of the AGV automatic transportation system, should be highlighted. As a concurrent system, simultaneous operation of multiple AGVs inevitably causes conflicts and deadlocks, which severely negatively affects the efficiency and reliability of the system operation. The traditional control system generally adopts a centralized scheduling strategy, in which a path planning algorithm and the task scheduling process of multiple AGVs are carried out by a central controller. Thus, the increasing number of AGVs will

make the system structure and path planning algorithm exceedingly intricate. In terms of AGV system scheduling, Fazlollahtabar *et al.* provided an overview of AGV scheduling and path planning [1, 2] and compared relevant methods. Common algorithms include the Dijkstra algorithm [3, 4], A*algorithm [5-10], ant colony algorithm [11-13], and fuzzy and path planning algorithm [14-17]. Liu *et al.* proposed a scheduling algorithm [18] that considered the process route based on a genetic algorithm. Li *et al.* considered the priority of various tasks to minimize the total path length [19, 20]. They studied the application of queuing theory in AGV scheduling with the storage and transportation system as the research object. Zheng *et al.* studied AGV scheduling strategies, however, are based on a *push strategy* and cannot accommodate the needs of production models.

From the perspective of fulfilling the actual application requirements of production systems, this study focused on AGV scheduling system modeling and AGV path planning to research a multi-objective compound task scheduling model and AGV path search algorithm. We adapted the task handling requirements in complex production scenarios, thereby raising the overall operating efficiency of the system.

2. Proposed multi-objective compound task scheduling model

2.1 Multi-objective scheduling model

The material handling system of workshop is shown in the Fig. 1. *A*, *B*, and *C* are the three loading and unloading manipulators in the production workshop; *a*, *b*, and *c* are shelving areas in the warehouse, where *a* is the shelf area of the incoming materials, and *b* and *c* are the shelf areas of the outgoing materials. In the storage task, the AGV is required to load the pallet from the designated manipulator and carry it to the designated material storage area. In the outgoing task, the AGV is required to load the pallet from the designated outbound material area and carry it to the designated manipulator buffer area. The *A*, *B*, and *C* manipulators handle the task of loading and unloading materials, but only the *A* manipulator handles the task of loading and unloading.

Multi-AGV scheduling systems are established on the basis of indexes, including waiting time, queue length, system throughput, running distance, and vehicle utilization percentage. Considering that the efficiency of the handling task is reflected primarily in vehicle running distance, task waiting time, and task priority in actual production, we proposed a multi-AGV task scheduling model based on total driving distance, waiting time, and the priorities of handling tasks. The objective function is shown as follows:



Fig. 1 The layout of the material handling system of workshop

$$\begin{cases} F = \min \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{k} (u_{1}t_{i} + u_{2}p_{i} + u_{3})x_{ij}d_{xj} \\ s.t. \sum_{i=1}^{m} x_{ij} = 1, j = 1, 2, \cdots, k \\ \sum_{j=1}^{k} x_{ij} = 1, i = 1, 2, \cdots, m \\ \sum_{j=1}^{k} x_{ij} = \{0, 1\} \\ i = \{1, 2, \cdots, m\}, j = \{1, 2, \cdots, k\} \end{cases}$$
(1)

Where *m* is the current number of tasks; *k* is the number of currently available AGV vehicles; $x_{ij} = 1$ indicates that the *i*-th task is executed by the *j*-th AGV, or $x_{ij} = 0$; d_{ij} indicates the path length of the *i*-th task being executed by the *j*-th AGV; t_j is the waiting time of the *i*-th task at the current time; p_j is the priority of the *i*-th task at the current time, and u_1, u_2, u_3 is the weight coefficient.

Without a clear allocation theory for the weight coefficient, it is difficult for the current composite scheduling model to quantitatively analyze whether the weighting coefficient distribution method is reasonable. Therefore, we determined the weight coefficient according to the empirical method and dynamically adjusted the weight ratio according to the system performance.

2.2 Description of path feature

The three usual types of conflicts in the AGV path planning [23] are position conflict, opposite conflict, and same direction conflict. A position conflict occurs when multiple AGVs arrive at the same location at the same time. An opposite conflicts occurs when two AGVs meet in a path that is available for only one AGV without giving way to the other. A same direction conflict occurs when multiple AGVs run in a direction on the same path, and the latter AGV operating at a higher speed collides with the AGV ahead. Therefore, the setting of path should be restricted to avoid these three conflicts. To improve the adaptability and reliability of the AGV system, the AGV path characteristics are described as follows:

- (1) Each AGV can receive only one task once, which can be changed before the AGV enters the pickup section. After it, the task cannot be changed, and the current task must be completed before accepting the next.
- (2) The driving speed of each AGV is set the same when the linear and turning speeds alternate according to the actual running conditions.
- (3) The deceleration and acceleration of each AGV are set the same at approaching or leaving the target point.
- (4) Each section is a one-way path, with the fixed driving direction.
- (5) Multiple AGVs are allowed to run simultaneously on each section.
- (6) A safe distance is set between vehicles to avoid rear-end collision.
- (7) A sufficient driving distance is set between any two parallel road sections to avoid road scraping.
- (8) Each path intersection zone is a bicycle-only area, which allows one AGV at one time.

2.3 Path planning algorithm

To solve the shortest path when the map environment is known, scholars globally have studied many algorithms, including the genetic algorithm, neural network algorithm, Dijkstra's algorithm, and A* algorithm. The genetic algorithm randomly selects the initial population by coding through a simulation of the genetic and variability of chromosomes to calculate the adaptive function and the selection rate. Thus, the algorithm can simulate the crossover and mutation behavior to determine whether the next generation satisfies the demand. The solution to the

optimal path requires multiple iterations and requires computational intricacy. The Dijkstra's algorithm is characterized by adopting a step-by-step extended search strategy similar to the equipotential line and searches only partially connected nodes. As a heuristic search algorithm, A* algorithm adds some qualification, which can effectively discard some path points and strengthen the search efficiency. The A* algorithm combines the ideas of best-first search and Dijkstra's algorithm, and adopts heuristic search to ensure the optimal path. The A* algorithm uses an evaluation function to determine the search direction and expands from the starting point to the surrounding area. A surrogate value of each surrounding node is calculated by the evaluation function. The minimum cost node is selected as the next expansion node, and the process is repeated. In the process of searching, every node on the path has the latest cost.

To comprehensively consider the path search efficiency, we selected A* to search for the shortest path. The A* algorithm can be described by Eq. 2:

$$f(n) = g(n) + h(n) \tag{2}$$

Where, f(n) is an estimated distance from the starting point to the target point though the path point n; g(n) is the actual distance from the starting point to the path point n; h(n) is the distance estimation function from the path point n to the target point. The Euclidean distance from the path point n to the target point is selected as an estimation function, that is, $h(n) = \sqrt{(x_d - x_n) + (y_d - y_n)}$, where x_d , y_d are the coordinates of the target point and x_d , y_d are the coordinates of the path point n. The algorithm process is shown in Fig. 2.

As shown in Fig. 2, we set the AGV starting position point as the starting point k, searched for the path point connected to the starting point k, and calculated the distance between k and all the path points. We selected the path point with the smallest distance as the new search starting point and continued this process until the target point was found.



Fig. 2 The flow chart of the A* algorithm

2.4 Path conflict detection strategy

According to the materials handling system as shown in the Fig. 1, we used the graph theory to realize the mathematical representation of the map. The graph is denoted as G = (N, W), where N is a set of nodes, W is a set of edges. $W_{k(i,j)} = (n_i, n_j)$ represents the edge of path k from node i to node j, where $i \neq j$ and $i, j \neq 1, 2, \dots, n$, and n is the number of nodes. The notation used in this section can be summarized as shown in Table 1.

	, ,
Symbols	Description
L	The length of AGV
Ls	The safe length of two AGVs on the same path
P	The set of all paths
k	The index of paths, $k = 1, 2, 3,$
P_k	Path number k
K	The set of index of paths, $k \in K$
AGV _{km}	AGV number <i>m</i> of <i>P</i> _k
D_k	The distance of path $k, k \in K$
N _k	The set of points of path $k, k \in K$
n _{ki}	The point number <i>i</i> of path $k, k \in K$
$C_{(k_a,k_b)}$	The set of conflict points of path $k_a, k_b, k_a \in K, k_b \in K$
C_{kr}	The conflict point number <i>i</i> of path $k, k \in K$
S	The start position of path $k, k \in K$
е	The end position of path $k, k \in K$
t _{kms}	The start time of AGV <i>m</i> of path $k, k \in K$
t _{kmcr}	The spending time that AGV <i>m</i> arrival to the conflicts node <i>r</i> of path $k, k \in K$
t _{kme}	The end time of AGV m of path $k, k \in K$
tc _k	The set of the time that AGVs arrival to the conflict nodes of path $k, k \in K$
ТС	The set of the time that AGVs arrival to the conflict nodes
Т	The total time of all conflict time

Table 1 Key notations

We identified an AGV path conflict if the two AGVs arrived at the same node at the same time. One should run away from the other AGV to avoid the path conflicts. Therefore, we gave the minimum safety length L_s of the two AGVs on the same path.

To detect AGV path conflicts, we considered both the path overlap and the time conflicts that pass the node. Between the conflict nodes, there were non-conflict paths in which the AGV normally could pass. The speed of AGV was v_0 . Eq. 3 calculates the conflict detection of the path node. Eq. 4 calculates the conflict detection of the pass time and L/v_0 represents the total time from arrival to pass the conflict node. To guarantee the drive safety of the two AGVs, the absolute value of the time difference between the two AGVs arrival to the conflict path should be no less than $(L + L_s)/v_0$, or else we call it AGV conflicts happen.

$$C(k_1, k_{11}) = N_K \cap N_K \tag{3}$$

$$TC = |tc_k - tc_k| < (L + L_s)/v_0$$

$$\tag{4}$$

When we detected the AGV path conflict, the priority of the AGVs should be sequenced. The lower priority AGV should wait until the higher priority AGV passed the conflict path for the multiple AGVs approaching the conflict path. The longer the time of arrival at the conflict section, the later the arrival would be; therefore, priority was lower, and the AGV that arrived first would move forward.

The solution for path conflicts is the speed control strategy. For the speed control strategy, we kept the higher priority AGV drive speed uniform, but changed the lower priority AGV drive speed. We gave acceleration *a* for the speed change. In Eq. 5, l_s represents the path length of AGV decelerating from v_0 to v_1 or accelerating from v_1 to v_0 . Eq. 6 represents the AGV decelerates to v_1 , and then AGV passes through the conflict node at constant speed v_1 . Eq. 8 and Eq. 9 represent the spending time before the AGV arrival to the conflicts node the speed change. Eq. 10 and Eq. 11 represent the spending time that AGV arrival to the conflicts node 1, 2, and *r* accordingly. Eq. 12 represents the total time for the AGVs arrival to the terminal.

$$l_s = (v_0^2 - v_1^2)/2a \tag{5}$$

$$(L+L_s)/v_0 = (v_0 - v_1)/a + (L+L_s)/v_1$$
(6)

$$t_1 = (L + L_s) / v_0 \tag{7}$$

$$t_2 = (v_0 - v_1)/a \tag{8}$$

$$t_{k1mc1} = t_{kms} + t_1 + (W_{k(s,uk1)} - L_s)/v_0$$
(9)

$$t_{k1mc2} = t_{k1m1} + (W_{k1(s,uk1)} - L_s)/v_0 + t_2$$

$$u_{k1ukr} = u_{k1ukr}$$
(10)

$$t_{k1mc2} = t_{k1m1} + \sum_{i=2}^{mr} \sum_{j=2}^{mr} W_{k1(i,j)} / v_0 = t_{k1mc2} + \sum_{i=2}^{mr} \sum_{j=2}^{mr} (n_{k1i}, n_{k1j}) / v_0$$
(11)

$$\min T_{k1m} = t_{k1m1} - (L_s - l_s)/v_0 + t_1 + t_2$$
(12)

2.5 Efficient MapReduce framework

MapReduce [24, 25] is a parallel computing framework for cluster systems. Phoenix++ [26] is a C++ programming implementation of the MapReduce framework based on shared memory, which can be used to program multi-core chips and shared memory multiprocessors. MapReduce framework optimization provides the opportunity to reuse hash table storage space between multiple Map tasks and reuse the hash table between multiple Reduce tasks. Accordingly, we designed a high-efficiency reusable hash table (HRHT). Considering that the unordered map used by Phoenix in the Reduce stage used a linked list to store data, we had to apply space for each pair of *keys/values* to create a node, which caused a large number of memory applications. As a result, the HRHT designed in this study eliminated the use of linked lists. Fig. 3 displays the data structure and data access process of HRHT, which improved the *unordered_map* as follows:

Step 1: A valid flag added to each bucket indicated that the data in the corresponding bucket were invalid, and the bucket could be used to store new data. The data in the corresponding bucket were valid, that is, the current bucket was already occupied. When the hash table needed to be reused, it had to reset all valid flags to 0, and thus invalidated all the data in the bucket. The HRHT could be quickly reset by the valid flag to ensure high efficiency reuse of the hash table.

Step 2: The linked list was no longer used, and the *key/value* pairs were saved directly to buckets. When there were data to be added, they were mapped to a position in the buckets according to the key. We then checked the buckets backward from the position, found a location with a valid flag of 0 from the buckets, and then saved the new data. Thus, we no longer had to apply for space temporarily.

In this study, we introduced HRHT into the design of the hash container and designed it as an HRHT-based hash container. Then we replaced the unordered map of Reduce stage with HRHT to avoid the application of a large number of small blocks of memory. In addition, HRHT also guaranteed that the bucket size was a power of 2 when being designed. After the hash value was calculated by *Hash()*, when positioned in the bucket, we used (*hash_value&(buckets_size-1)*) to replace the previous modulo calculation (*hash_value%buckets_size*) and thus improved retrieval efficiency.



Fig. 3 The data structure of HRHT

3. Experimental analysis: Results and discussion

In this study, we took the logistics of an electrical connector workshop as the research background. *A*, *B*, and *C* were the three loading and unloading manipulators in the production workshop and a, b, and c where the shelving areas in the warehouse. Symbol a represents is the shelf area of incoming materials, b and c are the shelf areas of outgoing materials. In the storage task, the AGV was required to load the pallet from the designated manipulator and had to carry it to the designated material storage area. In the outgoing task, the AGV was required to load the pallet from the designated outbound material area and carry it to the designated manipulator buffer area. The A, B, and C manipulators handled the task of loading and unloading materials, but only the *A* manipulator handled the task of loading and unloading.

In this analysis, the experimental system is based on Intel Xeon E5645 platform (6 cores per CPU, 12 CPUs in total), which can be used to run MapReduce framework Phoenix++, and is used CentOS 6.5 as the operating system and GCC 4.7 as the compiler. We set work for three AGVs, and then set basic parameters: L = 1.2 m, $L_s = 1 \text{ m}$, $v_0 = 1.2 \text{ m/s}$, $v_1 = 0.8 \text{ m/s}$, and a = 0.4 m/s^2 . We used the A* algorithm to plan the AGV operation path. The path of the AGV is shown in Figure 4, and the overlap of each path is given in Table 2.

We compared the impact of speed control strategy combined with efficient MapReduce framework on the AGV total travel time. Compared with the normal arrival time, the 0 time difference indicated that the AGV driving state in the path remained unchanged; a positive time difference indicated that the AGV waited in the path. As shown in Fig. 5 and Fig. 6, the efficient MapReduce framework improved the execution efficiency of the speed control strategy and shortened the spending time of the entire loading and unloading process.

With the increase of the number of tasks and AGVs, the possibility of conflict path segments between different paths increased, which led to an increase in the probability of conflict between AGVs. We predicted the probability of conflict between AGVs, as shown in Fig. 7. It can be seen that the efficient MapReduce framework improved the execution efficiency of the algorithm and reduced the probability of conflict between AGVs.



Table 2 Overlapping paths				
No.	Path number	Path length	Number of overlapping paths	
1	L1	140 m	L2, L3	
2	L2	130 m	L1, L3	
3	L3	155 m	L1, L2	

hla 2 O



Fig. 5 Changes in the time of the AGV arrival time



Fig. 6 The impact of speed control strategy combined with efficient MapReduce framework



Fig. 7 The prediction of conflict between AGVs

4. Conclusion

In this paper, a multi-objective scheduling model is proposed based on total driving distance and waiting time, the A* algorithm is selected to search the shortest path of AGVs, the speed control strategy is proposed to detect path conflict without changing the driving path and task scheduling, the MapReduce framework is adopted to improve the speed control strategy execution efficiency. The experiment is proven to the scheduling model and the speed control strategy combined with the MapReduce framework is feasible and effective to reduce the probability of conflict in material handling process of AGVs.

In the future work, more researches should be carried on dynamic scheduling model of multi-AGV to solve the path conflict occurred in large-scale material handling process of AGVs.

Acknowledgement

Project supported by Industrial Internet Innovation and Development Project 2018 (INDICS Industrial Internet Platform Project), the National Key R&D Program of China (No. 2018YFB1004000).

References

- [1] Fazlollahtabar, H., Saidi-Mehrabad, M. (2015). Methodologies to optimize automated guided vehicle scheduling and routing problems: A review study, *Journal of Intelligent & Robotic Systems*, Vol. 77, No. 3-4, 525-545, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.1007/s10846-013-0003-8</u>.
- [2] Sun, Q., Liu, H., Yang, Q., Yan, W. (2011). On the design for AGVs: Modeling, path planning and localization, In: Proceedings of the 2011 IEEE International Conference on Mechatronics and Automation, Beijing, China, 1515-1520, doi: 10.1109/ICMA.2011.5985974.
- [3] Yershov, S., LaValle, S.M. (2012). Simplicial Dijkstra and A* algorithms: From graphs to continuous spaces, *Advanced Robotics*, Vol. 26, No. 17, 2065-2085, <u>doi: 10.1080/01691864.2012.729559</u>.
- [4] Wang, C.L., Li, S.W. (2018). Hybrid fruit fly optimization algorithm for solving multi-compartment vehicle routing problem in intelligent logistics, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 13, No. 4, 466-478, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.14743/apem2018.4.304</u>.
- [5] Wang, C., Wang, L., Qin, J., Wu, Z., Duan, L., Li, Z., Cao, M., Ou, X., Su, X., Li, W., Lu, Z., Li, M., Wang, Y., Long, J., Huang, M., Li, Y., Wang, Q. (2015). Path planning of automated guided vehicles based on improved A-star algorithm, In: *Proceeding of the 2015 IEEE International Conference on Information and Automation*, Lijiang, China, 2071-2076, doi: 10.1109/ICInfA.2015.7279630.
- [6] Lau, H.Y.K., Zhao, Y. (2008). Integrated scheduling of handling equipment at automated container terminals, *Annals of Operations Research*, Vol. 159, 373-394, <u>doi: 10.1007/s10479-007-0262-5</u>.
- [7] Liu, Y., Ji, S., Su, Z., Guo, D. (2019). Multi-objective AGV scheduling in an automatic sorting system of an unmanned (intelligent) warehouse by using two adaptive genetic algorithms and a multi-adaptive genetic algorithm, *PLoS ONE*, Vol. 14, No. 12, Article ID e0226161, <u>doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0226161</u>.
- [8] Li, G., Zeng, B., Liao, W., Li, X., Gao, L.(2018). A new AGV scheduling algorithm based on harmony search for material transfer in a real-world manufacturing system, *Advances in Mechanical Engineering*, Vol. 10, No, 3, Article No. 1687814018765560, doi: 10.1177/1687814018765560.
- [9] Yang, M.S., Ba, L., Zheng, H.Y., Liu, Y., Wang, X.F., He, J.Z., Li, Y. (2019). An integrated system for scheduling of processing and assembly operations with fuzzy operation time and fuzzy delivery time, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 14, No. 3, 367-378, doi: 10.14743/apem2019.3.334.
- [10] Zhao, X.F., Liu, H.Z., Lin, S.X., Chen, Y.K. (2020). Design and implementation of a multiple AGV scheduling algorithm for a job-shop, *International Journal of Simulation Modelling*, Vol. 19, No. 1, 134-145, <u>doi: 10.2507/ IJSIMM19-1-CO2</u>.
- [11] Wang, J.F., Liu, J.H., Zhong, Y.F. (2005). A novel ant colony algorithm for assembly sequence planning, *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, Vol. 25, 1137-1143, <u>doi: 10.1007/s00170-003-1952-z</u>.
- [12] Reed, M., Yiannakou, A., Evering, R. (2014). An ant colony algorithm for the multi-compartment vehicle routing problem, *Applied Soft Computing*, Vol. 15, 169-176, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.asoc.2013.10.017</u>.
- [13] Balseiro, S.R., Loiseau, I., Ramonet, J. (2011). An ant colony algorithm hybridized with insertion heuristics for the time dependent vehicle routing problem with time windows, *Computers & Operations Research*, Vol. 38, No. 6, 954-966, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.cor.2010.10.011</u>.
- [14] Mousavi, M., Yap, H.J., Musa, S.N., Dawal, S.Z.M. (2017). A fuzzy hybrid GA-PSO algorithm for multi-objective AGV scheduling in FMS, *International Journal of Simulation Modelling*, Vol. 16, No. 1, 58-71, <u>doi: 10.2507/IJSIMM16</u> (1)5.368.
- [15] Sadeghpour, H., Tavakoli, A., Kazemi, M., Pooya, A. (2019). A novel approximate dynamic programming approach for constrained equipment replacement problems: A case study, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 14, No. 3, 355-366, <u>doi: 10.14743/apem2019.3.333</u>.

- [16] Xu, W., Yin, Y. (2018). Functional objectives decision-making of discrete manufacturing system based on integrated ant colony optimization and particle swarm optimization approach, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 13, No. 4, 389-404, <u>doi: 10.14743/apem2018.4.298</u>.
- [17] Li, H.-Y., Xu, W., Cui, Y., Wang, Z., Xiao, M., Sun, Z.-X. (2020). Preventive maintenance decision model of urban transportation system equipment based on multi-control units, *IEEE Access*, Vol. 8, No. 1, 15851-15869, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2961433</u>.
- [18] Liu, S.N., Ke, Y.L. (2007). An algorithm for job shop scheduling in dual resource constrained with AGV, *China Mechanical Engineering*, Vol. 15, 1810-1813.
- [19] Li, X. (2012). Utilization control optimization of AGV based on queuing theory, *Journal of Lanzhou Jiaotong University*, Vol. 31, No. 6, 91-93.
- [20] Jiang, C., Xi, J.T. (2019). Dynamic scheduling in the engineer-to-order (ETO) assembly process by the combined immune algorithm and simulated annealing method, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 14, No. 3, 271-283, doi: 10.14743/apem2019.3.327.
- [21] Zheng, K., Tang, D., Giret, A., Gu, W., Wu, X. (2015). Dynamic shop floor re-scheduling approach inspired by a neuroendocrine regulation mechanism, *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part B: Journal of Engineering Manufacture*, Vol. 229, No, 1, 121-134, <u>doi: 10.1177/0954405414558699</u>.
- [22] Zheng, K., Tang, D., Gu, W., Dai, M. (2013). Distributed control of multi-AGV system based on regional control model, *Production Engineering, Research and Development*, Vol. 7, No. 4, 433-441, <u>doi: 10.1007/s11740-013-0456-4</u>.
- [23] Rong, J. (2017). Research on collision avoidance strategy of AGV, In: Proceedings of 2017 International Conference on Manufacturing Construction and Energy Engineering (MCEE 2017), Hong Kong, 15754-25995, doi: 10.12783/ dtetr/mcee2017/15754.
- [24] Dean, J., Ghemawat, S. (2008). <u>MapReduce</u>: Simplified data processing on large clusters, *Communications of the ACM*, Vol. 51, No. 1, 107-113, <u>doi: 10.1145/1327452.1327492</u>.
- [25] Eken, S., Sayar, A. (2019). A MapReduce-based big spatial data framework for solving the problem of covering a polygon with orthogonal rectangles, *Tehnički Vjesnik – Technical Gazette*, Vol. 26, No. 1, 36-42, <u>doi: 10.17559/ TV-20170418094421</u>.
- [26] Talbot, J., Yoo, R.M., Kozyrakis, C. (2011). Phoenix++: Modular mapreduce for shared-memory systems, In: Proceedings of the Second International Workshop on MapReduce and Its Applications, New York, USA, 9-16, doi: 10.1145/1996092.1996095.

APEM journal Advances in Production Engineering & Management Volume 16 | Number 1 | March 2021 | pp 47–66 https://doi.org/10.14743/apem2021.1.384 **ISSN 1854-6250** Journal home: apem-journal.org Original scientific paper

A conceptual model for measuring the competency level of Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs)

Oztemel, E.^a, Ozel, S.^{a,*}

^aDepartment of Industrial Engineering, Marmara University, Istanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises (SMEs) are of major importance to developing countries. SMEs are the main drivers to strengthen society in sustaining economic growth and development. Governments provide various support programs to improve their industrial power and to increase the number of enterprises in the market. The enterprises must be assessed and suitable funds should be provided to those in need, to achieve an effective support program in the most efficient way. This requires implementing an assessment methodology based on a predefined set of scientific criteria. The current literature is comprehensive enough to assess the healthiness of the enterprises concerning strategic, technologic, financial as well as intellectual competencies but on the other hand, it lacks of an assessment model. This study aims to introduce a general framework for sustaining an effective assessment methodology for SMEs to eliminate this gap. The proposed model measures five different types of competencies such as Technological Competency, Strategic Competency, Financial Competency, Intellectual Competency, R&D and Innovation Competency. These competencies are to put forth the conditions in which the enterprises are running accurately. A real-life case study is conducted to ensure the baseline of the model to be implemented. The governmental organizations may utilize the model for sustaining their support role effectively to SMEs.

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs); Competency assessment; Technological competency; Strategic competency; Financial competency; Intellectual competency; R&D and innovation competency; Smart manufacturing; Industry 4.0

**Corresponding author:* semih.ozel@marmara.edu.tr (Ozel, S.)

Article history: Received 2 January 2020 Revised 9 March 2021 Accepted 10 March 2021



Content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International Licence (CC BY 4.0). Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.

1. Introduction

SMEs are considered to be the foundation pillar of a country's economic and social development. SMEs have a series of positive characteristic such as, their ability to adapt quickly in changing markets, flexibility in their production structures, their contribution to balanced growth between regions and their influence on the reduction of unemployment and creation of new areas of employment. Since most of the SMEs try to survive with a limited capital and to do business mainly by experienced manual labor, they always need state-support to improve their infra-structure especially at the age of Industry 4.0. The era of digital transformation offers various opportunities for enterprises to sustain competitive advantage. New business models enabled enterprises to grow their market share. A comprehensive assessment of the existing capabilities and competencies are required, in order to achieve better utilization of technology for the sake of digitization. While considering quality, cost, efficiency and environment, the enterprises should also perform the necessities of transition to Industry 4.0. Being able to utilize the technology especially digital operations and methods like autonomous systems would improve the capability of the respective SME to respond to the market requirement in an early and effective manner. This would definitely contribute to the competency of the enterprise ensuring sustainable competitiveness. Therefore, digital transformation and intelligent (smart) devices are considered to be one of the core elements of respective (technological) competency. The effects of smart and intelligent manufacturing to the competency level of the enterprise are explained below.

SMEs may increase the economic situation through producing products and services as in the same way large companies operate. They have to be supported to both improve both quality and variety of products semi-finished products the produce. In this way, SMEs may contribute to the whole economy as well as related innovation and creativity. It should be kept in mind that these enterprises, whose goal is to stay on their feet and grow in the cutthroat competition of today's business world, are the barometer of economic buoyancy. Economic buoyancy needs to create a competitive environment by growing as many SMEs as possible and by challenging the birth of lots of new enterprises and some existing industry leaders.

There is no universal definition of the term, SME, which may vary in different countries and regions. However, generally, the size of the labor force or the value of assets thy possess are considered as indicators. As claimed by Frijns and Vliet (1999) [1], the number of employees in a company is an important factor for measuring the size of industrial enterprises, particularly in developing countries. They suggested two categories for small industries: micro-enterprises (1-9 employees) and small-scale industries (10-50 employees). Even though, the limit for the number of employees in a company to indicate a small or medium company varies in different countries. For example, in Mexico and Brazil, any company with fewer than 100 staff is considered an SME, in Australia, this number rises to 200 employees, and in the United States and Denmark, a company of up to 500 employees would be categorized as an SME (Hillary, 2000) [2].

The given definitions in most OECD countries are also based on labor figures where 500 employees are considered as the upper limit of the SMEs. On the other hand, the definition most commonly accepted and used nowadays in that of Eurostat of 19 European countries states that an SME must have no more than 250 employees. Manufacturing and services of SMEs are also considered in various scope within this definition (OECD Report, 2013) [3]. Another distinguishing feature of an SME is whether it is an independent organization or linked to a larger enterprise or group. Above all, the management structure also influences the classification of SMEs in some countries (OECD Report, 2004) [4]. The last OECD report published in 2013 clearly states that any enterprise can be called an SME if it fulfills the criteria for the number of staff and one or more of the financial criteria as provided in Table 1.

As stated above, the SMEs which are greatly important for national economies should able to stay on their feet and grow in a place of global competition through receiving the support of various funds provided mainly by the governments. That is the main reason for many countries to establish associations such as KOSGEB in Turkey where KOSGEB stands for the *Association of SME Development* which is responsible for supporting the SMEs. All nations provide support to their SMEs. There ise a necessity of an assessment methodology in oderd to validate and verify the fund distribution processes. In the developed countries, a well-structured information system is set up to follow the fund distribution programs as well as the progress along with the use of these funds. This makes it easier to carry out the respective evalutions of applicants. However, in the countries such as Turkey, there has not been a fully integrated IT system between the government and industry and business community yet. Therefore, an industry independent and separate assessment system is employed which may lead to several problems such as the inade-quate distribution of funds among the sectors as well as a waste of resources in the areas which

Table 1 SME definition by European Union (OECD Report, 2013)							
Enterprise category	Headcount	Turnover (€) or	Balance sheet total (€)				
Medium-sized	50-249	\leq 50 million	≤ 43 million				
Small	10-49	\leq 10 million	≤ 10 million				
Micro	< 10	\leq 2 million	≤ 2 million				

may require less attention. This clearly requires an extensive study on defining a well-suited funding and assessment system which is also one of the major motivations of this research.

Note that, the SME support in Turkey Is carried out by KOSGEB. Currently, the funds are distributed through various programs and respective assessments carried out by institutional procedures.

KOSGEB estimates that the number of enterprises considered SMEs has remarkably increased to approximately 3,500,000 in the last five years (KOSGEB, 2019) [5]. On the other side, considering the limited amount of support funds available, providing funds on adequate by *asneeded* bases become very critical. Here the main question is to determine what support should be given to which enterprise? The funds will not produce the desired output (objectives of the funder providers) if they are arbitrarily provided to anyone who asks for them. By being aware of this, KOSGEB continuously seeks alternative support programs to increase the expected benefit for the enterprises. The project-based support system is one of these. This program has now become the leading SME support system in Turkey. SMEs should generate a project and indicate that the results of the project contribute to the development of the enterprise by increasing productivity, flexibility, mobility, profitability, service time, quality, and so on. The qualifications required by KOSGEB for project-based support are a strong financial structure and a history of successful completion of previous projects carried out by the claimer.

Similarly, KOSGEB implements more than 30 different support programs. The current assessment system employed is designed as a manual review system and it is easy to assess various enterprises at the same standard. However, it is very difficult to install a system to monitor the post-support state of SMEs. Since KOSGEB is the only agency that employs SME assessment and selection criteria, it was considered to be important to review its structure as well as support related operations for the success of this study. During this analysis, it was found that one of the basic tools used by KOSGEB to manage the support programs is the Beneficiary Situation Detection Form called YDTF.

Currently, each applicant fills in an SME Statement Form, providing respective information to find out whether or not they can be classified as an SME. If approved, they are then asked to fill in the Beneficiary Situation Detection Form (YDTF). The information given by the applicant in this form is reviewed by the experts and categorized into one of four groups (A- Micro, B-Small, C-Medium, and D-Large) in accordance with enterprise characteristics. The respective support is granted following the results of this assessment.

This classification is carried out using a set of criteria developed by KOSGEB through several years of experience. Interview with some of those experts indicated that the funding algorithm based on the classification of SMEs under these four groups makes it difficult to catch up with socio-economic developments over time, as well as making it difficult to perform the assessment in harmony with the present conditions. Furthermore, as stated above, having the fact that the number of enterprises falling within the scope increased more than eight times (from 400,000 to 3,500,000) within a very short period (in five years) also makes it difficult to manage the support programs with the currently available human resources. This obviously creates a negative impact on the performance and efficiency of the manual assessment and monitoring. A Computer-aided intelligent assessment system seems to be essential to remove this negative impact as it may clearly highlight the effectiveness of the assessment programs with limited funds available.

Similarly, several countries have developed and installed assessment systems aligned to their own national economic vision. Countries also manage to solve this problem to some extent by making their relevant agencies work in coordination and cooperation with each other employing a certain but common assessment system on a single database. Furthermore, it is claimed that if recently developed information technologies such as cloud computing are adapted to the infrastructure of such agencies, their systems would be more functional and the need to install an assessment system specific to an enterprise or sector could be minimized (Mell and Grance, 2011) [6]. For countries where such infrastructure is not available or is in the process of being developed (as in the case of Turkey), manual methods are utilized. Note that the lack of some competency-related data prevents effective assessments. Although some simulation studies like the one proposed by Dragic and Sorak (2016) [7] are carried out to define and predict SME data

for the assessment, the right set of data is always subject to the effectiveness of the models utilized which are not easy to validate. This is also valid for some studies limited in scope and bounded by implicit requirements (see for example Emebo *et al.*, 2017) [8]. It is believed that the framework proposed in this study may be a good reference for handling competencies for better assessment along this line.

The proposed assessment model focusing on certain competencies could be effectively adapted to the distribution of support provided by agencies, and make an important contribution to the installation of a flexible and dynamic fund management system. It may also be used to help SMEs increase their performance and industrial productivity in the medium and long terms as well as to monitor the sustainability of productivity with valuable and important feedback.

In the proposed model five basic modules have been developed to assess and measure the competencies of SMEs as explained below. For the sake of clarity, a literature review is provided first.

2. Literature review on SME assessment

There have been various assessment studies presented in the literature some of which are discussed below.

Sohn *et al.* (2007) [9] suggested a Structural Equation Model (SEM) based on mainly financial performances and management of technology for granting the respective supports to SMEs. Direct and indirect relations between technological and financial indicators are established and analyzed. Similarly, Xiao-hong *et al.* (2008) [10] concentrated the financial parameters and proposed an evaluation index that measures and evaluates the performance of funds provided to small and medium-sized enterprises in China. This study clearly indicates that the size and quality of an enterprise have a positive influence on the growth rate and record time of the enterprise, whereas the status of ownership does not have much effect. In terms of financial dimension factors, *solvency* was proven to have a negative effect on the business progress.

Moon and Sohn (2005) [11] proposed an evaluation model for distributing governmental funds by performance data using the decision tree method and data envelopment analysis. Consequently, they proposed a fund management system through an intelligent probability-based approach. Similarly, Yang (2006) [12] developed a *technical efficiency index* for SME assessment in Korea using data envelopment analysis (DEA). In this study, the eligibility of the SMEs for state funds is decided based on this index and the effectiveness of the program is analyzed through a comparison of enterprises both supported and not. The analysis in this study is restricted to efficiency, but it can be considered to serve as a starting point and light the path for more comprehensive analysis. Sohn and Kim (2007) [13], on the other hand, developed a random effect-logistic regression model using financial and non-financial factors in order to estimate the performance of SMEs that are supported by the government but do not fulfill their commitments. They identified that SMEs that did not fulfill their commitments often encountered refund delays, cheques bouncing, non-commercialization of products, or poor management. Similarly, an approach aiming to monitor SMEs as being part of an integrated assessment and fund management system is presented.

Ying and Li (2009) [14] presented an evaluation model based on both fuzzy logic and Analytical Hierarchy Process. They used both quantitative and qualitative data analysis in especially, evaluating innovation capability. Five evaluation stages such as *perfect, very good, good, medium* and *poor* were identified for each criterion to constitute a fuzzy matrix in assessing the innovation capability of Shaoxing Textile Enterprise Group. A similar study to assess the innovation capability in Austria is provided by Kaufman and Tödling (2002) [15]. Ahmad and Qui (2006) [50] also employed both AHP and DEA to measure enterprise manufacturing performance. In general, this study was limited to the re-evaluation of SME performance but did not provide any information about a support providing model. Innovation was also the main focus of the study carried out by Cheng and Wang (2009) [16] who studied destructive innovation evaluation and risk analysis in SMEs yielding the result that destructive innovation has an important role in survival in competitive environments. Wang (2008) [17] provided a different but statistical approach taking the effect on external environmental factors for SMEs' living conditions into account. Six main factors mainly, external environment economy, politics, technology, social culture, human capital, and natural sources were examined using Structural Equation Model (SEM), Fuzzy Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP), and Main Component Analysis (MCA) with the results of 12,000 surveys resulting that SEM performs better in comparison to other two.

Some of the research along this line produced performance assessment systems such as those carried out by Hvolby and Thorstenson (2001) [18], Barnes et al. (1998) [19], Hudson et al. (2001) [20], Delisle et al. (2004) [21], Brem et al. (2008) [22], Hanif and Manarvi (2009) [23], etc. Those provide assessment systems with little differences in the focus of the research or the methodology implemented. Some take delivery time, delivery duration, capacity ratio, quality levels, and cost accounts whereas others concentrate on strategic objectives or institutional control mechanisms. While some of them utilizing computerized technology such as expert systems, some implemented face-to-face meetings, some concentrated on a balanced scorecard approach. Some of those such as Kim *et al.* (2008) [24] implemented an adapted learning network to support the assessment process by examining various factors based on products and administrative properties. Some researchers were very keen on performing the comparison of performance modes provided in the literature (see, for example, Abouzeedan and Busler (2004) [25]. Note that in those studies, attention was paid not only to financial criteria but also to all criteria affecting the performance of the SMEs. Hanif and Manarvi (2009) [23], on the other hand, focused on quality, productivity, innovation, and investigation of learning initiatives. A hierarchical cluster analysis was conducted using the K-means algorithm. An interesting remark was provided by Ozturk and Coskun (2014) [26] by noting that the balanced scorecard was not an effective assessment tool for banking if it was not used properly.

Lin and Tong (2010) [27] constituted a two-step credit rating model using the Cox model and Support Vector Machine (SVM). They classified SMEs in Taiwan using a two-step model and presented that the accuracy rate was better than existing gradual credit rating models.

There have been some studies on assessing the organization for other purposes not focusing the attention on funding, rather identifying areas to be improved in comparison to others. Some of them are discussed below.

Little research such as the one provided by Katwalo (2006) [28] concentrated on the competency improvement of SMEs. SMEs in England were studied in terms of foreseen competency improvement capabilities. A brief description of competency and general information about competency improvement was introduced. Existing models were compared and factors making it easier to understand competency improvement were discussed. Although SME competency was the main focus, little information is provided in conjunction with the support assessment program.

Cassell *et al.* (2001) [29] studied the effectiveness of comparison methodologies designed to improve SME benchmarking. The most effective comparison factors were identified as financial indicators, customer satisfaction, and quality of products or services. But the focus of the assessment was not on providing support to improve the areas requiring improvement.

Vanhoof *et al.* (1995) [30] developed an agent-based information system. They evaluated within the context of Strength-Weakness-Opportunity-Threat (SWOT) analysis which is an important tool for identifying the strategic objective of any organization.

Fernandes *et al.* (2006) [31] applied the balanced scorecard approach using a systematic structured methodology in a case study. They claimed that SMEs in Britain's manufacturing industry had several problems. The right approaches and methodologies could help sort them out. They also listed the application results of the proposed method, and their experiences, successes, and lessons learned during the implementation process are highlighted.

The literature review provided so far indicates that enterprises, and especially SMEs, are evaluated in many different ways mainly employing the assessment criteria related to the field, structural properties, and respective specializations. The proposed methodologies include BSC, AHP, Fuzzy AHP, DEA, SEM, etc. (see for example Sohn *et al.*, 2007 [9]; Moon and Sohn, 2005 [11]; Ying and Li, 2009 [14]; Hanif and Manarvi 2009 [23]). Furthermore, The Survival Index

Value Model (SIV) is unique to enterprise, and approaches such as the Two-Step Credit Rating Model, and the Structural Equality Model are implemented by improvements (as described by Abouzeedan *et al.*, 2004 [25]; Lin and Tong, 2010 [27]; Romano *et al.*, 2000 [32]).

In the assessment studies, making the actual status of an enterprise crystal clear is essential as well as some environmental circumstances. Although some general indicators are proposed for observing the enterprise status, the literature still highlights the need to identify a set of criteria specific to the enterprise under assessment for more detailed analysis. Moreover, it is shown that, in the assessment of enterprises, not only determining the criteria but also choosing the correct methods and approaches is also important.

3. Proposed methodology

The proposed framework is explained below with respect to its philosophy components and respective issues.

3.1 Understanding the competency of an organization

The topic of competency has a great variety of definitions. However, most of the definitions are focused on individual competency which is related to a person having sufficient knowledge and skills to carry out a certain responsibility. Mostly, competency is considered as the basic requirements to be satisfied by the employees in an organization.

The term *competency* was first appeared in the paper of R.W. White in 1959 introduced for performance motivation. Later, it has been popularized by other researchers especially in performance improvement activities after the 1970s (Audrey, 1989) [33].

Although there have been some studies on competency as an individual, there is little research going on for the competency of the enterprises. This is one of the reasons for aiming to examine and assess the competency of the organizations, especially of the small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in this study. Organizational competency can be defined as "the capability of an enterprise to adapt itself to changes in technology, methods, and methodologies, processes, managerial approaches as well as the changes in customer behavior". The best competent organization is assumed to be the one well capable of managing the change and dominate the market in any aspect related to the business.

Hitt *et al.* (2015) [34] defines competency as the combination of both resources and capabilities. They state capabilities that are valuable, rare, difficult to imitate, and difficult to substitute as the core competencies which would be the baseline to the strategic competitiveness.

In this study, this definition is taken as a baseline and the competency is defined from the organizational point of view as such that the technical competency, financial standing, strategic restructuring, and intellectual capacity of the enterprise, as well as its ability to utilize those, are considered to be the core competency areas. Additionally, it is accepted as important to focus on the ability of the enterprise to convert its commercial and managerial resources into a benefit, and to what extent that it could use these qualities effectively and efficiently. The model proposed in this study, therefore, focuses on these areas.

3.2 Competency assessment approach of the proposed model

The concept of competency that forms the foundation of the proposed model is an indicator of any aspects of the enterprise such as background, knowledge, applications, approaches, methods, and the most developed equipment, etc. As shown in Fig. 1, these capabilities have been grouped and collected under five evaluative areas. For each of these, the capability and skills to be assessed have been uniquely defined. In other words, the proposed model so-called ASME (Assessment of Small and Medium Enterprises) is made up of five main components such as:

- Technological competency,
- Financial competency,
- R&D and innovation competency,
- Strategical competency,
- Intellectual competency.

The goal of each of these components is to measure the competency of an enterprise in a certain aspect. Setting out these five areas of competencies, the factors having the most important or the biggest effect on the development and improvement of the enterprises are taken into account. A nested and staged representation (leveled architecture) is introduced. A scoring system is also developed in order to measure the general status of the SMEs under assessment using the ASME Model.

The general status of the enterprise under assessment is first evaluated through a preassessment procedure. That is to identify the business type and respective business operations to be assessed. Note that each component and respective levels specified by the proposed model are weighted to validate adequate funding for the most needed areas.



Fig. 1 Components of proposed generic model for assessment of SMEs (ASME)

In the proposed model, each area of competency has been divided into six levels where each level has a predefined requirement within the scope of related competency at that level. The main objective of the model is to match the existing state of the enterprise to the most suitable level of the competency. The reason for separating the areas of competency into levels is to create a nested assessment system in the organizations as shown in Fig. 2. In the proposed nested structure every level of competency naturally covers the related characteristics of the lower levels. For example, the sixth level indicates that the SME is to be in the highest degree of competency and means that the SME has all the qualities of the levels.



Fig. 2 Nested illustration of Competency Levels

For any SME, the important thing is to be able to develop itself in respective areas of predefined levels of certain competencies producing the point of competency scale for that enterprise. This unique point of the scale allows the provision of support in order to establish a course of action in conducting the assessments. If the enterprise that cannot fulfill one or more of the criteria for a particular competency level is not considered to move into a higher level, and cannot claim the support and funds assigned to that particular level.

A measurement scale between 0 to 100 has been created in order to identify the competency 6 levels of the SMEs as such that 10 points indicate the level score (*LS*) that the enterprise has the first and weakest level of competency (level 1) whereas 20, 40, 60, 80 and 100 points are assigned as the level scores to the subsequent levels respectively.

As an example of a score-matching card, sub competency of Technological Competency is illustrated in Table 2. The same matching card is used for each five core competency which is proposed in the model.

Note that the in Score-matching card, each assessment factor (*AF*) determines the respective competency level of the enterprise as *retained level* (*RL*) since each level and operational capability has its predefined scores. After summing up the scores obtained for all assessment factors, the generic component competency score is calculated by dividing the total value by the number of factors assessed. Here in the example, some most known assessment factors are used for IT Infrastructure as seen in table 3. In order to establish which assessment factor will be in which level, the level identification table as it is seen as an example in Table 3 will be used. The table is arranged that each higher level encapsulates the other lower levels. Every five key competencies with sub-competency have a similar identification card but due to paper limitation rest of the tables could not find a place in this study.

In the Table 3, the scope of each level has been described using general terminology. This is so that a generic and flexible model that covers different sectors and SMEs can be established. Considering the recent technological transformation as well as developments, not many enterprises will have so much love competency indicated by the first level. However, this level is still kept in this approach for the sake of completeness and wider coverage of the assessment system. In order to sustain and validate the applicability of the model a flexible structure is generated which has high potential to be updated according to the requirements of the fund providers and strategic objectives of funding.

		0	5	1 5	0	1 5
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6
	(0-10)	(10-20)	(20-40)	(40-60)	(60-80)	(80-100)
Level	No information	Independent	Integrated	Integrated	Software-based	Automated
	technology	software use	electronic	developed	decision	decision
Assessment	(<i>LP</i> ¹ Point: 10)	(<i>LP</i> ² Point: 20)	data exchange	electronic data	making	making
Factors (Af_i)			(<i>LP</i> ₃ Point: 40)	exchange	(<i>LP</i> ₅ Point: 80)	(<i>LP</i> ₆ Point: 100)
•				(<i>LP</i> ₄ Point: 60)		
Af_1	Retained level	-	-	-	-	-
Operation sys-	(RL_1)					
tems						
Af_2	-	-	Retained level	-	-	-
Accounting			(RL3)			
programs						
Af_3	-	Retained level		-	-	-
MRP System		(<i>RL</i> ₂)				
	-	-	Retained level	-	-	-
			(<i>RL</i> ₃)			
Afn	-	-	-	-	Retained level	-
ERP system					(<i>R</i> ₅)	
	$LS_1 = \Sigma LP_1$	$LS_2 = \Sigma LP_2$	$LS_3 = \Sigma LP_3$	$LS_4 = \Sigma LP_4$	$LS_5 = \Sigma LP_5$	$LS_6 = \Sigma LP_6$
Level score	$LS_1 = 10$	$LS_2 = 20$	$LS_3 = 40 + 40$	$LS_4 = 0$	$LS_5 = 80$	$LS_6 = 0$
Sub-competency						
of technology			$SC_2 = \sum_{i=1}^{6}$	LSi / #Af		
(<i>SC</i> ₂)			$\Delta l = 1$	2007 milj		

Table 2 An example score-matching card for IT system as a Sub competency of Technological Competency

Technological level	Explanation
Level 6 Automated decision making	An SME at this level is at the most developed level of information technology. Every sort of work and data storage is carried out on a cloud server and satellite connections are used to allow for the fast buying and selling of data. In terms of hardware, tools are not used except for data entry and screening. ERP and MRP type programs are integrated and restored smart systems can carry out every kind of work without human intervention. Managers can access any information they want instantly (with devices such as mobile telephones, tablets and computers, etc.). The system has a very flexible and smart reporting function. Employees can access and carry out their work without being in close proximity to the system by connecting via mobile phones or personal computers. Every hardware and software infrastructure is in place to run unmanned manufacturing enterprises.
Level 5 Software based decision making	At this level, every kind of software used is integrated, and necessary data can be ascertained, used, and shared without human intervention. Using a fast network infra- structure system, the software can share data with systems in other regions, and when necessary can find data on the internet to be used with smart decision-making mecha- nisms.
Level 4 Integrated developed electronic data exchange	At this level, many programs are used across a network and data can be shared. As with general-purpose software, specific purpose programs can be integrated and a central data repository can be used.
Level 3 Integrated electronic data exchange	Programs that are used generally to reduce a company's workload come under this level. Programs specific to the sector or enterprises are used independently. They can be used in a network and to provide inclusion of electronic data handling.
Level 2 Independent software use	At this level, there are independent programs and computer hardware. The programs are used generally for the running of the enterprises rather than for any particular purpose.
Level 1 No information technology	At this level, no form of computer hardware or programming products is used for any purpose in the enterprises. Every form of calculation, drawing, and planning work is performed by hand.

Table 3 An example level identification table for IT system as a Sub Competency of Technological Competency

After defining the competency score for all sub-components of Technological Competency and five components of the model, the overall competency score (Competency Grade) of the enterprise is calculated by multiplying each main component competency score with its respective weight values which is represented as α_i and adding them up. A case study in a valve manufacturing process is assessed for proof of the concept of the proposed model.

A competency function with the purpose of showing the degree of corporate competency is established as shown in Fig. 3. The following abbreviations are used for sub-components of Technological Competency.

- *SC*₁ Machinery suit; Machinery suit (infrastructure) weight: $\alpha_1 = 0.5$;
- *SC*₂ IT systems; IT systems weight: $\alpha_2 = 0.2$;
- *SC*₃ Manufacturing support operations; Manufacturing support operations weight: $\alpha_3 = 0.1$;
- *SC*₄ Storage & delivery; Storage & delivery deight: $\alpha_4 = 0.2$

Technological competency score: $TCs = \Sigma \alpha_i \cdot SC_i$

The other four components of the model are not considering any subcomponent. Note that the weights of the sub-competencies and main core competencies are defined by using SWARA (Step-wise Weight Assessment Ratio Analysis) methods which is one of the most used multi-criteria decision techniques (Keršulienė, *et al.* 2011 [35]; Zolfani, *et al.* 2013 [36]).

Table 4 indicates some examples of weighing schemes for different sectors. Note that these weight values are defined by a series of expert view studies using SWARA methods. However, the model does not impose these values, the assessor organization can define the respective values in accordance with their suitability and can be defined by a specific purpose. The model requires that the weight provided in Table 4 is to be multiplied by the level of competency of the enterprise yielding a score called *competency score* (CS).

Table 4 Completency weightings of selected sectors							
Sectors	Mining	Energy	Construction	Manufacturing	Other services		
Competencies							
Technological competency (wtc)	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.2		
Strategic competency (wsc)	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2		
Financial competency (wfc)	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.2		
Intellectual competency (wic)	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.2		
R&D and innovation competency (wrdi)	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2		
Total weights	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0		

Table 4 Competency weightings of selected sectors

Weights for application in this study are imported from table 4 for the manufacturing sector. The calculation is carried out using a defined abbreviation as seen below:

• *TCs* – Technological competency scale calculated as overall of sub-components for Technology

Weight of technological competency: *wtc* = 0.3

- *FCs* Financial competency scale (will be accrued from related score matching card) Weight of financial competency: *wfc* = 0.2
- *SCs* Strategic competency scale (will be accrued from related score matching card) Weight of strategic competency: *wsc* = 0.1
- *RICs* R&D and innovation competency scale (will be accrued from related score matching card)

Weight of R&D and innovation competency: *wrdi* = 0.2

- *IC* Intellectual competency scale (will be accrued from related score matching card) Weight of intellectual competency: *wic* = 0.2
- *OCS* Overall competency score

The SME corporate competency level is calculated by multiplying the degree of competency and the weights as such:

- Technological competency score: $TCS = TCs \cdot wtc$
- Financial competency score: *FCS* = *FCs* · *wfc*
- Strategic competency score: *SCS* = *SCs* · *wsc*
- R&D and innovation competency score: *RICS* = *RICs* · *wrdi*
- Intellectual competency score: *ICS* = *ICs* · *wic*

Competency function is then given by the following equation:

OCS = TCS + FCS + SCS + RICS + ICS

Defining *OCS* in this way indicates the enterprise has one of the following technological competency states:

 $00.00 \le 0CS \le 9.99$ Very poor \rightarrow $10 \le 0CS \le 19.99$ Poor \rightarrow $20 \le 0CS \le 39.99$ Insubstantial \rightarrow $40 \le 0CS \le 59.99$ \rightarrow Just enough $60 \le 0CS \le 79.99$ \rightarrow Good/Perfect Excellent $80 \le OCS \le 100.00$ \rightarrow

Fig. 3 is the radar graph of different competency scores with a visual representation of the competency scale area to better understanding.

Each competency in the proposed model is assessed by measuring several assessment factors represented by Af_i . This is defined to be able to calculate the total level score as such. Retained level point of Af can be placed on those of existed levels in the table L_1 , L_2 , L_3 , L_4 , L_5 , L_6 then each Af will get a Level Point that is symbolized by an abbreviation LP. Summing all assessment factors will be divide into several assessment factors used in the table.



Fig. 3 Radar Diagram of SME Competency Scale

Based on this, each Competency Score (CS) will be calculated as multiplying each component score with its respective weight values and adding them up ($\Sigma \alpha_i \cdot SC_i$). For a more detailed assessment, a second alternative can be used by the assessor assigning another weight to each assessment factor. Since the existing study is only comprised of generating a framework model, it is not considered in this study.

3.3 Components of the proposed model

The SME competency assessment model comprising five core concepts that are introduced in a generic framework and the scoring system. The reason for identifying five areas of competency is clarified through supporting the idea by existing literature and scrutiny of the importance of them in terms of SMEs. A brief definition of each competency and the respective model elements with assessment tables are explained below.

Technological competency

The success of business nowadays is strictly related to the technological competency of the enterprise, particularly in the manufacturing industry. Companies are competing by their knowhow and technology suits to facilitate their expertise for the sake of improving their power of competitiveness. This capability is even becoming more and more important especially with the introduction of Industry 4.0 (Sari et al., 2020) [37]. As such, studies in this area are no longer focus on just technology but are also associated with innovation and unmanned operational capability. Developments in technology get the ball rolling for innovative products and processes to spring up. The continuation of a company is now directly related to its ability to adapt to technological advancements. Medic et al. (2019) [38], highlighted the importance of advanced Industry 4.0 technologies in manufacturing and they provided several criteria to perform a digital assessment with respect to technological progress. They particularly pointed out the necessity of integrated software suite like ERP systems. The technological competency would not be ensured without taking this into account. IT capability is therefore directly linked to competency progress in this study. Moreover, faster and higher quality presentation of products and services by discovering and utilizing the domain knowledge through IT utilization. From the past to today (from the 1 revolution to the recently announced 4th one), technology, along with social, economic, and cultural factors, has become one of the components with the biggest influence on the change of societies. The introduction of new system developments and generation of the tools and machines fueled the agricultural revolution to digitalization. The transformation continues from industrial society towards the knowledge society. This kind of change and effect that technology brought about to societies led to various definitions and commentaries of this concept throughout history (Kibritçioğlu, 1998 [39]; Durand, 2004 [40]). On the other hand, the belief on "something that can't be measured can't be managed" has created the need for technology to be managed and adopted. Many studies on technology management in this line have become very popular (see, for example, Kropsu-Vehkapera, 2009 [41]; Cetindamar *et al.*, 2009 [42]; Tekin, 2006 [43]).

In this study, a six-step scaling system for technological capability has been proposed to identify the level of the technological infrastructure of a certain enterprise. A hierarchical structure is proposed in such a way that each level includes the characteristics of all the levels below in the hierarchy. Besides, a set of criteria for each degree of competency within a level has been specified. The main aim of this is to define the competency level of an enterprise in terms of stated criteria at that level. Thus, the technological competency assessment is performed on the available foundational infrastructure. The core infrastructure is made up of a machine system that is effective in every area of production by directly adding value to the business. In order to increase the applicability of the model to different sectors and business branches, it is designed with a general assessment logic. Four core infrastructures (Sub-Competencies of Technological Competency Module) that are considered to have great importance in every sector are taken into account as such (Fig. 4).

- Machinery suit (infrastructure),
- IT Systems (examples are given in Table 2 and Table 3),
- Manufacturing support operations,
- Storage & delivery.



Fig. 4 Sub-Competencies of Technological Competency

In order to make the analysis and evaluation of the processes easier, an assessment Score-Matching Card has been created that the necessary and required information for each level is stored on this card. Note that, these cards are structured in a table format where every column highlights the levels of operational competence and each row indicates the available business operations/capabilities/systems such as machining, programming, etc.

As shown in Fig. 4, the technological competency is assessed by four sub-competency infrastructures stated above. These sub-competencies have been identified by considering the areas in business where technology has to be implemented. A basic weighting and scoring system is also proposed. As each level encapsulates the lower levels, the degree of technological competency increases level by level. A score for generic technological competency level is calculated by multiplying the level scores of the operating infrastructure as defined weights by experts similar to main competency weights.

Financial competency

As stated above, most of the SME evaluations are based on financial indicators with respective analyses. Due to quantifiable measures, this attracts the assessors to check out the corporate strength of any enterprise, especially SMEs. In business society, it is strongly believed that financial power indicates the continuum lifecycle of the companies in any nature. That is the main reason for relying on a financial indicator such as ratio analysis for the assessments. As financial ratio provides some information such as liquidity, indebtedness, and profitability of the enterprise it attracts not only the assessors but also other main stakeholders. For example, the banks or bankers use this ratio as the baseline for deciding on credits (loans) and perform risk assessments. In the scope of this paper, a different point of view and interpretation is presented on the

ratios concentrating on the competency. With this in mind, Altman's (1998) [44] Z score model has been taken as a basis as it is also proven to be more consistent and correct (Altman, 2000) [45]. This model introduces a weighting scheme for analyzing respective financial ratios. His analysis is based on the relationship between assessment components which are experimented with a multiple discriminant method. Note that, this analysis predicts the financial ratio by several characteristics such as *safe, grey* or *distress* zones.

A level boundary table is created and financial position is scored according to the corresponding level of this table. First of all, financial data is analyzed and respective ratio values are calculated. They are then compared with the industry standards. This level-based analysis is expected to identify first and foremost state the enterprise's financial level and its respective score. The percentages for the levels have been stated in accordance with the conditions of the period subject to the assessment. In this study, the ratios have been leveled taking the difference out of standards. For example, if an enterprise ratio is more than 50 % away (below) from the industry standards, that enterprise is considered to be at the second level of competency whereas the sixth level indicates that the enterprise is well operating and is 50 % above the standards.

The level boundary table has been described before states that a level for each financial ratio is evaluated individually. As with the scoring of the other competencies, a score is given to each ratio using a scorecard and the level warranted. The Financial Competency score is calculated as the following.

Financial Competency Level Score = \sum Ratio Score / #Ratio

By using the level competency score-matching card and listing the ratios from the leveling table that is similar to example table 3, it is clearly seen at which level the enterprise standing for its financial capability. The overall financial competency score is obtained by averaging all scores. The following factors are assessed under this component:

- Sales profitability,
- Asset turnover,
- Working capital ratio,
- Debt burden,
- Debt-equity ratio,
- Working capital turnover.

Strategic competency

Strategic management and planning are defined as the systematic way for an organization to reach its long-term objectives, the methods used in resource allocation necessary to attain these goals, and applications in the light of these methods. The strategy is seen as an administrative tool that provides innovation, advancement, and interaction with the business's environment and that keeps changes under control. It is hard for an enterprise that is not strategically strong to achieve satisfactory and permanent productivity and effective operations. Therefore, the evaluation of an SME's strategic competency is considered to be an important matter in the assessment. By been aware of this, Husseyin and Jahanzaip (2018) [46] proposed a conceptual manufacturing framework that is structured by three elements as Ideal, Strategy, and Architecture in order to sustain a continuous business. They considered strategic planning, being the combination of transformation sustainability and competitiveness as the core element. However, measurement in strategic competency is important but extremely difficult. Taking the internal and external conditions of enterprises into account, it is important that the short and long-term plans of an SME are correctly set up. While preparing these plans, appropriate strategies should be employed, and these strategies need to be well managed. For an SME, first, the mission and vision and then the goals and aims of the business must be identified. Then the strategies need to be stated according to the business structure and market position, and in time, updated accordingly (Ulgen and Mirze, 2004) [47].

As has been done for the other competencies, a six-step assessment table has been created for strategic competency assessment as well. The proposed strategic competency model is ex-

pressed in terms of environmental analysis, strategic thinking, planning and implementation, department-based operations, control evaluation, and continuous improvement within this scope as well as key performance indicators. The following factors are considered to be sufficient in performing the assessment for this type of competency (for more precise calculation, each factor can be weighted as well):

- Environmental analysis,
- Strategy formulation,
- Planning and implementation,
- Department constitution,
- Control and evaluation,
- Feedback and continuous improvement.

Similar to other components of the competency model, the strategic competency will be scored using a leveled table. Using the scorecard, it will be determined whether or not the parameters of strategic management, analysis of environmental conditions, strategy creation, implementation, and control assessment are in place or not. The score-matching card is used in a similar manner. Each level is marked depending on the score achieved through the control of whether the necessary processes are being fulfilled or not. As with the other competency modules, it is possible to rearrange the scoring of the strategy levels in the scorecard according to the situation or strategy of the business that will use the leveling model.

Intellectual competency

The world is on the edge of the information era. It is now very clear that the effective usage of knowledge in operations becomes more important, especially, with the transition from industrial to the information revolution. The information with respective knowledge has a direct impact on many areas such as company strategies, corporate performance management, and customer satisfaction. This is also very much related to the transformation of organizational culture as revealed by Draskovic *et al.* (2019) [48]. With this in mind, one of the most important issues corporations experience today is how to use the right knowledge in the right place at the right time and in the right way. That is the main reason for taking knowledge management as one of the main indicators of institutional competency. The companies without strong knowledge management capability it is extremely hard to solve the problems. An SME with strong corporate culture and effective utilization of knowledge and information systems is considered to develop its related competency.

A similar six-step scaling system has been created for evaluating intellectual capital as well. The levels are stated in six stages starting from the first level. The first level shows the weakest position of an enterprise's intellectual competency whereas the sixth level shows the highest degree of intellectual competency. Similarly, a scorecard method is used and a score is defined for each level of intellectual competency. In the proposed leveling system for intellectual competency, each level will be assessed from five perspectives such as:

- Information management
- Education level,
- Career management,
- Process and improvement, and
- Generation of new ideas.

In the scorecard, the first and lowest level is defined as *implicit knowledge possessed*, the second level as *knowledge providing*, the third, *understanding of knowledge*, the fourth, *analysis of knowledge*, the fifth, *evaluation of knowledge*, and the sixth and most developed level as *creating of knowledge*.

The scoring of intellectual competency will be carried out in the same fashion as the previous competency modules by evaluating the state of the enterprise in each intellectual dimension according to the definitions which are tabled and marking the level on which an enterprise pos-

sesses on the scorecard. After every intellectual dimension has been marked, the level scores are summed up and divided by the number of dimensions. Thereby, by multiplying the result by the intellectual competency weights, an intellectual competency score to be used in general assessments is obtained.

Research & Development (R&D) and Innovation Competency

Global competition among corporates has inevitably created the need for businesses to conduct R&D and innovation in business (i.e. on products or processes). Due to the importance attached, R&D and innovation have become an important necessity all over the world for the growth of SMEs and the marketing of more products or services. Furthermore, over the past few years in developing countries, the studies related to entrepreneurship attracted the attention of fund providers and the support of new entrepreneurs has increased. Businesses that can increase their productivity could gain a competitive advantage in the markets. Increasing productivity depends on gaining competence in innovation on a global scale (Chen *et al.*, 2009) [49]. Consequently, the existence of R&D and innovation in SMEs and to what degree they are effective has come forth as important criteria in searching out a better assessment model and it is considered that innovation and R&D, evaluated as an important area of competency.

Innovation and R&D mean turning an idea into a marketable product or service, a new or developed manufacturing or distribution method, or a new social service method. For successful innovation and R&D management, the respective innovation strengths of businesses must be explored and evaluated.

For this reason, as with the other competency tools above, the potential and performance of a business through measuring the company's R&D and innovation competency and capacity are considered to be taken into account. Similar to the others, The R&D and innovation competency assessment model has also been constructed using a six-step leveling table as with the other competency modules. Each level is examined from three core perspectives defined as *commercialization*, *R&D* and *innovation culture*, and *R&D* potential and structure. The definitions of these three areas have been leveled separately in a nested structure as defined earlier.

As with the previous competencies, a scorecard is used for the scoring of R&D and innovation competency. According to the scorecard, technological competency, strategic competency, and intellectual competency other competencies, and the R&D and innovation structure, scoring will be done determining will be used in the measurement of this competency. In addition to these, R&D and innovation structure will be scored with the assessment table mentioned in the previous sections. Thus, the R&D and Innovation structure will be evaluated with three competencies that are components of the proposed model.

The scoring of R&D and innovation competencies in enterprises uses a different approach than that of the other competencies. In this competency, it is necessary to consider the situation of the technological, strategic, and intellectual models. Therefore, the scores previously obtained for these three competencies are also added to the R&D scoring table. In addition to this, R&D potential and infrastructure, R&D and innovation culture, and commercialization will be used in the scoring. However, the model has a flexible structure and an enterprise using the model can create its assessment table and update the proposed table as necessary.

4. A case study: Implementation of the proposed assessment model

The validity of the competency model proposed in this study is illustrated by performing an assessment of an enterprise operating in the metal industry. KAYALAR ARMATUR of KAS GROUP where the model is implemented is a medium-sized valve manufacturer. Although, the proposed model has a general structure; this application provides information regarding the applicability of the model in the manufacturing sector. As stated earlier, the model requires sector-based weight values to indicate the importance of each component of the model for a defined sector. The competency weights given in Table 4 for the manufacturing sector are used.

The assessment is carried out for each competency using the scorecards explained earlier in related table 2 that is exampled on IT System as a sub competency of Technological Competency.

By comparing the information obtained for the company with the competency level descriptions, the retained level for each assessment factor for each competency is identified and marked on the scorecard. A competency score for each competency is calculated and by adding together these scores for each operation and dividing by the number of operations. Note that the four sub-competency of technological competency is previously calculated to find the score of technological competency.

The total of these scores states the enterprise's overall competency score which is calculated to be:

$$\begin{aligned} Overall \ Competency \ Score \ (OCS) &= TCS + FCS + SCS + RICS + ICS \\ OCS &= (TCs \cdot wtc) + (FCs \cdot wfc) + (SCs \cdot wsc) + (RICs \cdot wrdi) + (ICs \cdot wic) \\ OCS &= (31.75 \cdot 0.3) + (56.66 \cdot 0.2) + (23.33 \cdot 0.1) + (24 \cdot 0.2) + (33.30 \cdot 0.2) \\ OCS &= 9.525 + 11.33 + 2.33 + 4.8 + 6.66 \\ OCS &= 34.645 \end{aligned}$$

 $20 \le OCS \le 39.99 \rightarrow$ Insubstantial

Considering the scale created earlier, since the company score is between 20- 39,99 then, it can be defined that this enterprise competency is insubstantial. Company score together with respective module scores shown in Fig. 5. After find to a retained level of each assessment factor for each competency TCs is calculated and then to find the competency score weight of related competency is used. Weight values are defined by the experts who work operationally in the sector of the company.



Fig. 5 Visual Representation of the competency assessment of KAS VALVE Inc.

In the general competency assessment, since the KAS VALVE Inc. is a manufacturing enterprise, the highest weighting it received for any of the five competency components was 0.3 for technological competency. As for the four sub-competencies that make up technological competency, 0.5, the highest weighting, has been applied to machine infrastructure, with 0.1, 0.2, and 0.2 being applied to the other areas respectively. In the technological competency assessment, the four sub-competencies scores were found to be as follows:

- Machine Infrastructure Score: 33.3
- Manufacturing Support Operation Infrastructure Score: 35
- Storage & Delivery Infrastructure Score: 28
- IT Systems Infrastructure Score: 30

Taking these scores and multiplying them by the relevant weightings gives a competency score of 31.75 for technological competency.

 $TCs = 33.3 \cdot 0.5 + 35 \cdot 0.1 + 28 \cdot 0.2 + 30 \cdot 0.2 = 31.75$

This score shows that the enterprise's technological competency is at level 3. Similarly, the scores 56.66, 23.33, 24, 33.3 were calculated for financial, strategic, intellectual, and R&D and Innovation competencies respectively. Thus, the overall competency level of the enterprise has been defined according to a value that is calculated and represented above as OCS = 34.645.

KAS VALVE Inc.'s strongest area of competency with a score of 56.66 contributing to the overall competency level by 11.33 is financial competency. The next strongest competency is technological competency with a score of 31.75 (overall score of 9.525), which is due to the enterprise being a manufacturing company. This shows that after the enterprise's financial infrastructure, its technological infrastructure is strong. Even though the R&D and Innovation competency score is low, it is a competency that is necessary at certain levels for a manufacturing company with a competency score of 6.6. It is seen that the strategic and intellectual competency scores of 2.33 and 4.8 are comparatively low. Therefore, it is predicted that KAS VALVE Inc. would not be able to apply for support from KOSGEB in strategic and intellectual areas as support is classified according to certain scores. It is recommended that the assessed enterprise increase its strategic and intellectual competency by strengthening any missing components, or by securing support to strengthen these competencies. The strengthening of weaker competencies can also have the effect of raising other competencies to higher levels.

5. Conclusion

SMEs whose number is remarkably increasing day by day can also be seen as the locomotive of economies in most of the countries. Therefore, it requires a considerable effort to make them operate efficiently and effectively with compatibility capabilities. They are mostly supported by the official agencies to sustain the level of competency possessed.

With the increase in the number of various supports offered by government authorized organizations such as KOSGEB, the fund utilization and effectiveness of support programs are the main concern. Due to the environmental, political, and social effects as a result of globalization, it is not easy to sustain competitive advantage. Since, the number of SMEs in need of government funds increasing, defining a more selective method and fair distribution of these limited funds is at the top of the agenda. Giving the right amount of funds to the right enterprise is of great importance for increasing both the benefit to the enterprise itself and also to the country.

It is known that every country has its own methods for assessing the benefit of funds provided to enterprises according to its political and economic conditions. In evaluations that have been carried out, it is seen that these kinds of problems have been over overcome due to strong integration between government organizations, particularly in developed countries. Many problems can be solved from the beginning through the collective process of data collection, sharing data, and use of highly integrated automation systems. In many countries, the assessment of companies who wish to receive funds is carried out by experts using a variety of formulas. This process cannot identify the extent of the benefit of the funds to an enterprise just as it cannot test the strength of the enterprise applying for the governmental funds. Therefore, it is possible that much of the funds given by the government are in fact used by enterprises that cannot reap the expected benefits. Besides there is a need for information gathering and processing capability on how effective the given supports are to the enterprises. Hence, a custom made monitoring system is required for each country.

In this study, it is demonstrated that in reality, the desired results of an assessment will not always be obtained by just considering the financial data. Initially, a generic evaluation framework is defined. Within this framework, it is expected that the fund distribution schemes need to be improved through not only concentrating financial ratios but also other capabilities such as technological, strategic, financial, R&D as well as intellectual capabilities. Therefore, governmental organizations such as KOSGEB in Turkey that provide a variety of funds and support to enterprises need more effective and dynamic assessment systems. For the creation of such systems, it is first necessary to well-understand the competencies of enterprises from different aspects and measure those. Implementation of the model in an actual enterprise indicated that the model can be easily employed and there is no difficulty in collecting the required information to perform the assessment.

The proposed model can easily be improved and turned into a systematic structure through a programming language to considerably facilitate the assessment of applications made by millions of SMEs. It is foreseen that such an agent-based framework model also can considerably facilitate the following secondary objectives:

- Determining relevant performance indicators to accomplish dynamic analysis of the state of SMEs.
- Determining the SMEs to be supported and the amount to be provided.
- Estimating what support will bring what kind of benefits, and building an infrastructure to plan the next support under such estimations.
- Displaying what types of support provided SMEs with more successful results.
- Making suggestions to SMEs on how to use the support they receive in a better way and providing SMEs with the computer-assisted distant training courses.
- Analyzing clusters of SMEs by industry or assessing SMEs within an industry.
- Analyzing how the support efficiency by industry should differentiate per industrial needs.

References

- [1] Frijns, J., van Vliet, B. (1999). Small-scale industry and cleaner production strategies, *World Development*, Vol. 27, No. 6, 967-983, <u>doi: 10.1016/S0305-750X(99)00044-3</u>.
- [2] Hillary, R. (2000). *Small and medium-sized enterprises and the environment: Business imperatives,* First edition, Greenleaf Publishing, Sheffield, United Kingdom, <u>doi: 10.4324/9781351282840</u>.
- [3] OECD (2013). Creating Value from Intellectual Assets. OECD council meeting report, OECD publication, from <u>https://www.oecd.org/sti/inno/36701575.pdf</u>, accessed January 1 2020.
- [4] OECD (2004). Small and medium-sized enterprises in Turkey: Issues and policies. Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development Report, Paris, France, <u>https://www.oecd.org/turkey/31932173.pdf</u>.
- KOSGEB (2019). 2019-2023 Stratejik Plan, from <u>https://www.kosgeb.gov.tr/Content/Upload/Dosya/Mevzuat</u> /2020/KOSGEB Stratejik Plan%C4%B1 (2019-2023).pdf, accessed March 1, 2021.
- [6] Mell, P., Grance, T. (2011). The NIST definition of cloud computing, U.S. Department of Commerce National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST), NIST Special Publication of Cloud Computing, 800-145, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.6028/NIST.SP.800-145</u>.
- [7] Dragic, M., Sorak, M. (2016). Simulation for improving the performance of small and medium-sized enterprises, *International Journal of Simulation Modelling*, Vol. 15, No. 4, 597-610, <u>doi: 10.2507/IJSIMM15(4)2.343</u>.
- [8] Emebo, O., Daramola, O., Ayo, C. (2017). A survey on implicit requirements management practices in small and medium-sized enterprises, *Tehnički Vjesnik – Technical Gazette*, Vol. 24, Supplement 1, 219-227, <u>doi: 10.17559/ TV-20150823114946</u>.
- [9] Sohn, S.Y., Kim, H.S., Moon, T.H. (2007). Predicting the financial performance index of technology fund for SME using structural equation model, *Expert Systems with Applications*, Vol. 32, No. 3, 890-898, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2006.01.036</u>.
- [10] Chen, X.-H., Li, J.-M., Wang, X.-D. (2008). Governance of creditor's rights evaluation and growth of SMEs: An empirical study based on Chinese listed SMEs", In: *Proceedings of 4th International Conference on Wireless Communications, Networking and Mobile Computing, WICOM'08*, Dalian, China, 8474.
- [11] Moon, T.H., Sohn, S.Y. (2005). Intelligent approach for effective management of government funds for small and medium enterprises, *Expert Systems with Applications*, Vol. 29, No. 3, 566-572, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2005.04.019</u>.
- [12] Yang, J.-C. (2006). The efficiency of SMEs in the global market: Measuring the Korean performance, *Journal of Policy Modeling*, Vol. 28, No. 8, 861-876, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.jpolmod.2006.07.004</u>.
- [13] Sohn, S.Y., Kim, H.S. (2007). Random effects logistic regression model for default prediction of technology credit guarantee fund, *European Journal of Operational Research*, Vol. 183, No. 1, 472-478, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.ejor.2006.</u> <u>10.006</u>.
- [14] Ying, Y., Li, J.-C. (2009). A fuzzy-AHP based innovation ability evaluation system for small and medium-sized enterprise clusters, In: Proceedings of 2009 International Conference on Information Management, Innovation Management and Industrial Engineering, Xi'an, China, 277-281, doi: 10.1109/ICIII.2009.74.
- [15] Kaufmann, A., Tödtling, F. (2002). How effective is innovation support for SMEs? An analysis of the region of Upper Austria, *Technovation*, Vol. 22, No. 3, 147-159, <u>doi: 10.1016/S0166-4972(00)00081-X</u>.
- [16] Cheng, Q., Wang, M. (2009). Risk analysis and evaluation of the destructive innovation in small and mediumsized enterprises, In: *Proceedings of 2009 International Conference on Management and Service Science*, Beijing, China, 2009, 1-5, doi: 10.1109/ICMSS.2009.5305759.

- [17] Wang, Z. (2008). Comparative research on the evaluation method of external environment of small and mediumsized enterprises, In: *Proceedings of 4th International Conference on Wireless Communications, Networking, and Mobile Computing, WICOM'08*, Dalian, China, 1-4, <u>doi: 10.1109/WiCom.2008.1969</u>.
- [18] Hvolby, H.H., Thorstenson, A. (2001). Indicators for performance measurement in small and medium-sized enterprises, *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part B: Journal of Engineering Manufacture*, Vol. 215, No. 8, 1143-1146, <u>doi: 10.1243/0954405011518926</u>.
- [19] Barnes, M., Dickinson, T., Coulton, L., Dransfield, S., Field, J., Fisher, N., Saunders, I., Shaw, D. (1998). A new approach to performance measurement for small to medium enterprises, In: *Proceedings of the Performance Measurement Theory and Practice Conference*, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- [20] Hudson, M., Smart, A., Bourne, M. (2001). Theory and practice in SME performance measurement systems, *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, Vol. 21, No. 8, 1096-1115, <u>doi: 10.1108/EUM 000000005587</u>.
- [21] Delisle, S., Dugré, M., St-Pierre, J. (2004). Performance evaluation: Upgrading to data warehousing & data mining techniques, In: *Proceedings of the International Conference on Information and Knowledge Engineering*, Las Vegas, USA.
- [22] Brem, A., Kreusel, N., Neusser, C. (2008). Performance measurement in SMEs: Literature review and results from a German case study, *International Journal of Globalisation and Small Business*, Vol. 2, No. 4, 411-427, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.1504/IIGSB.2008.018102</u>.
- [23] Hanif, A., Manarvi, I.A. (2009). Performance-based segmentation of small and medium enterprises: A data mining approach, In: *Proceedings of 2009 International Conference on Computers & Industrial Engineering*, Troyes, France, 1509-1513, doi: 10.1109/ICCIE.2009.5223690.
- [24] Kim, K.S., Knotts, T.L., Jones, S.C. (2008). Characterizing viability of small manufacturing enterprises (SME) in the market, *Expert Systems with Applications*, Vol. 34, No. 1, 128-134, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2006.08.009</u>.
- [25] Abouzeedan, A., Busler, M. (2004). Typology analysis of performance models of small and medium-size enterprises (SMEs), *Journal of International Entrepreneurship*, Vol. 2, 155-177, <u>doi: 10.1023/B:JIEN.0000026911.</u> 03396.2d.
- [26] Ozturk, E., Coskun, A. (2014). A strategic approach to performance management in banks: The balanced scorecard, Accounting and Finance Research, Vol. 3, No. 3, 151-158, doi: 10.5430/afr.v3n3p151.
- [27] Lin, L.C., Tong, L.I. (2010). Constructing two-stage credit scoring model using Cox model and SVM: The case of SMEs in Taiwan, *The Journal of American Academy of Business*, Vol. 15, No. 2, 300-306.
- [28] Katwalo, A.M. (2006). An overview of competence development in SMEs, *International Journal of Strategic Change Management*, Vol. 1, No. 1-2, 89-95, <u>doi: 10.1504/IJSCM.2006.011104</u>.
- [29] Cassell, C., Nadin, S., Older Gray, M. (2001). The use and effectiveness of benchmarking in SMEs, *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, Vol. 8, No. 3, 212-222, <u>doi: 10.1108/EUM000000005624</u>.
- [30] Vanhoof, K., Houben, G., Lenie, K. (1995). A qualitative analysis of small and medium-sized enterprises, In: *Proceedings of the 11th Conference on Artificial Intelligence for Applications*, Los Angeles, USA, 286-291.
- [31] Fernandes, K.J., Raja, V., Whalley, A. (2006). Lessons from implementing the balanced scorecard in a small and medium size manufacturing organization, *Technovation*, Vol. 26, No. 5-6, 623-634, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.technovation.</u> 2005.03.006.
- [32] Romano, C.A., Tanewski, G.A., Smyrnios, K.X. (2000). Capital structure decision making: A model for family business, *Journal of Business Venturing*, Vol. 16, No. 3, 285-310, <u>doi: 10.1016/S0883-9026(99)00053-1</u>.
- [33] Collin, A. (1989). Managers' competence: Rhetoric, reality, and research, *Personnel Review*, Vol. 18, No. 6, 20-25, doi: 10.1108/00483488910133459.
- [34] Hitt, M.A., Ireland, R.D., Hoskisson, R.E. (2015). *Strategic management: Competitiveness and globalization*, 11th edition, Cengage Learning, Cincinnati, USA.
- [35] Keršulienė, V., Turskis, Z. (2011). Integrated fuzzy multiple criteria decision-making model for architect selection, *Technological and Economic Development of Economy*, Vol. 17, No. 4, 645-666, <u>doi: 10.3846/20294913</u>. 2011.635718.
- [36] Hashemkhani Zolfani, S., Kazimieras Zavadskas, E., Turskis, Z. (2013). Design of products with both international and local perspectives based on yin-yang balance theory and SWARA method, *Economic Research – Ekonomska Istraživanja*, Vol. 26, No. 2, 153-166, doi: 10.1080/1331677X.2013.11517613.
- [37] Sarı, T., Güleş, H.K., Yiğitol, B. (2020). Awareness and readiness of Industry 4.0: The case of Turkish manufacturing industry, Advances in Production Engineering & Management, Vol. 15, No. 1, 57-68, <u>doi: 10.14743/ apem2020.1.349</u>.
- [38] Medic, N., Anisic, Z., Lalic, B., Marjanovic, U., Brezocnik, M. (2019). Hybrid fuzzy multi-attribute decision-making model for evaluation of advanced digital technologies in manufacturing: Industry 4.0 perspective, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 14, No. 4, 483-493, doi: 10.14743/apem2019.4.343.
- [39] Kibritçioğlu, A. (1998). Determinants of economic growth, and the role of human capital in new growth models, *The Journal of Ankara University SSF*, Vol. 53, No. 1-4, 207-230, <u>doi: 10.1501/SBFder 0000001947</u>.
- [40] Durand, T., Granstand, O., Herstatt, C., Nagel, A., Probert, D., Tomlin, B., Tschirky, H. (2004). Bringing technology and innovation into the boardroom, Strategy, innovation and competences for business value, Palgrave Macmillan, London, United Kingdom, doi: 10.1057/9780230512771.
- [41] Kropsu-Vehkapera, H., Haapasalo, H., Rusanen, J-P. (2009). Analysis of technology management functions in finnish high tech companies, *The Open Management Journal*, Vol. 2, 1-10, <u>doi: 10.2174/1874948800902010001</u>.

- [42] Cetindamar, D., Phaal, R., Probert, D. (2009). Understanding technology management as a dynamic capability: A framework for technology management activities, *Technovation*, Vol. 29, No. 4, 237-246, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.technovation.2008.10.004</u>.
- [43] Tekin, M., Güleş, H.K., Öğüt, A. (2006). *Değişim çağında teknoloji yönetimi*, Nobel Yayın Dağıtım, Cilt No. 79, Ankara, Turkey.
- [44] Altman, E.I., Saunders, A. (1998). Credit risk measurement: Developments over the last 20 years, Journal of Banking & Finance, Vol. 21, No. 11-12, 1721-1742, doi: 10.1016/S0378-4266(97)00036-8
- [45] Altman, E.I. (2013). Predicting financial distress of companies: Revisiting the Z-score and Zeta models, In: Bell, A.R., Brooks, C., Prokopczuk, M. (eds.), *Handbook of research methods and applications in empirical finance*, 428-456.
- [46] Hussain, S., Jahanzaib, M. (2018). Sustainable manufacturing An overview and a conceptual framework for continuous transformation and competitiveness, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 13, No. 3, 237-253, doi: 10.14743/apem2018.3.287.
- [47] Ulgen, H., Mirze, S.K. (2004). *Işletmelerde Stratejik Yonetim*, Publisher: Literatur Yayinlari, Istanbul, Turkey.
- [48] Drašković, Z., Ćelić, Đ., Ćosić, I., Uzelac, Z., Petrov, V. (2019). The relationship between organizational culture and performance of SME's: Empirical study from a developing country, *Tehnički Vjesnik – Technical Gazette*, Vol. 26, No. 6, 1620-1627, <u>doi: 10.17559/TV-20180801135606</u>.
- [49] Chen, Y.-S., Lin, M.-J.J., Chang, C.-H. (2009). The positive effects of relationship learning and absorptive capacity on innovation performance and competitive advantage in industrial markets, *Industrial Marketing Management*, Vol. 38, No. 2, 152-158, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.indmarman.2008.12.003</u>.
- [50] Ahmad, N., Qiu, R.G. (2006). Effectiveness evaluation services for small to medium-sized manufacturing enterprise, In: *Proceedings of 2006 IEEE International Conference on Service Operations and Logistics, and Informatics,* Shanghai, China, 1106-1112, <u>doi: 10.1109/SOLI.2006.328905</u>.

Journal

Advances in Production Engineering & Management Volume 16 | Number 1 | March 2021 | pp 67–81 https://doi.org/10.14743/apem2021.1.385 **ISSN 1854-6250** Journal home: apem-journal.org Original scientific paper

Study of load-bearing timber-wall elements using experimental testing and mathematical modelling

Premrov, M.^a, Ber, B.^b, Kozem Šilih, E.^{a,*}

^aUniversity of Maribor, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Transportation Engineering and Architecture, Maribor, Slovenia ^bJelovica hiše d.o.o., Preddvor, Slovenia

ABSTRACT

Combining timber and glass in the wall elements of the building envelope with the proper orientation of such transparent façade elements enables the utilization of solar energy for heating and internal illumination of the building. However, the asymmetrical layout of timber-glass wall elements in such buildings can result in problems with the horizontal stability of the structure, so their participation to load-bearing capacity of the structure is usually neglected. The study deals with solutions for such elements as horizontal loadbearing members with proper connection details. First, specifically developed timber-glass wall elements were experimentally tested under monotonic and cyclic horizontal point load, and further in combination with classical timberframed wall elements implemented into special single and two-storey boxhouse models, which were further experimentally tested on the shaking table. In the second part as the main goal of the study, a quite simple mathematical model of the box-house prototypes is developed using a fictive diagonal element for simulating the racking stiffness of the bracing timber-glass wall element. The calculated results for the 1st vibration period are compared with the previously measured experimental results to prove an accuracy of the developed model. Finally, a linear time-history calculation is done as a sample presentation of the developed mathematical model using Landers acceleration spectrum. The developed mathematical model enables a simple and effective seismic response calculation of timber buildings considering the developed timber-glass wall elements as load-bearing bracing elements against horizontal load actions. The model can also be recommended for using in further parametric numerical academic studies analysing the influence of various parameters.

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Wall elements; Timber; Timber-glass building; Stiffness; Vibrations; Experiments; Modelling; Landers accelerogram

**Corresponding author:* erika.kozem@um.si (Kozem Šilih, E.)

Article history: Received 6 October 2020 Revised 26 February 2021 Accepted 7 March 2021



Content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International Licence (CC BY 4.0). Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.

1. Introduction

Climate changes of the last few decades do not only encourage research into the origins of their onset, but they also mean a warning and an urgent call for a need to remove their causes and alleviate the consequences affecting the environment. Eco-friendly solutions in residential and public building construction remains our most vital task, whose holistic problem solving requires knowledge integration [1]. Therefore, the domain of energy consumption is witnessing a worldwide trend whose aim is to reduce primary energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions. Consequently, many investigations have been carried out towards 100 % renewable and sustainable energy solutions in many different areas [2-5]. Constructions are, besides the fields of transport and industry, one of the main users of the primary energy from fossil sources. However, it is important to set out that residential buildings forming 70 % of the total buildings'

surface consume and are responsible for 63 % of the total energy demand required to satisfy the requests of the hosing stock [6].

Moreover, the time of significant climate changes demands active search for energy efficient structural systems with as low CO_2 emissions as possible in the phases of object construction, its exploitation, and its decomposition. As a natural raw material requiring minimal energy input into the process of becoming construction material, timber shows indisputable environmental excellence with very low CO_2 emissions. Therefore, the prefabricated timber buildings are suitable for building the energy saving objects of different standards.

The use of glazing in buildings has always contributed to openness, visual comfort, and better daylight situation. Although characterized by weak thermal properties in the past, glass has been gaining an ever-greater significance as a building material due to its improved thermal, optical and strength properties, resulting from years of development. Manufacturers have improved thermal insulation and strength of the glass over years [7] and the factor of energy transmission of solar radiation which enabled not only the internal illumination of the building with big glass surfaces, primarily oriented toward the south, but also the solar energy heating.

Nowadays, timber construction combined with the usage of suitable and properly oriented glass surfaces represents a huge potential in residential and public building construction. The fact that location of Slovenia on the southern side of the Alpine range enables considerably high portion of the solar potential in the time of heating season results in high portions of solar gains with the proper installation of bigger glass surfaces in the southern side of the building envelope [8-10]. Consequently, so-called timber-glass buildings have been developed in order to provide the highest possible solar potential and internal natural illumination. In that way, fixed glass surfaces are installed besides windows primary in the southern part of the building envelope (Fig. 1). Such wall elements were earlier not considered as load - bearing to horizontal loads because of the extremely brittle behaviour of the glass. Only conventional prefabricated frame-panel wall elements with classical OSB or fibre-plaster boards were mostly installed on other three sides of the building envelope.

However, it is important to emphasize that consecutive asymmetrical installation of loadbearing wall elements of the building envelope, if timber-glass elements are considered as completely non load bearing, leads to the phenomenon of torsion in single floors due to the seismic load. As schematically presented in Fig. 2, the position of the mass floor centre (M) in such case can significantly deviate from the centre of stiffness (R) of the load-bearing elements.

Namely, the possible phenomenon in the mentioned case can be the so-called soft floor, which should be avoided when designing multi-storey buildings in seismic areas [11]. This phenomenon can be constructionally solved in two known and in engineering practice common used methods:

- Inner conventional prefabricated frame-panel wall elements can be additionally installed; however, this is not in line with contemporary architecture of residential buildings aiming to enlarge natural illumination and general living comfort.
- Special additional load-bearing diagonal elements can be installed in timber-glass wall elements of the building envelope, which are evidently visible (Fig. 3). Still, this practice is mostly used in public buildings only.

Subsequently, lots of researchers deal with the solution of the problem by means of loadbearing timber-glass wall elements. In this case, studies of non-linear seismic response of the buildings on object classes should be done, and accordingly such design methods should be developed that are reliable enough for introduction in construction. Importantly, the basic standard condition [12] – life safety should be met.



Fig. 1 Timber-glass houses with south-oriented fixed glazing



Fig. 2 Phenomenon of torsion on the floor due to deviation of mass (M), and centre of stiffness (R), randomly chosen case



Fig. 3 Detached house with fixed glazing with south-oriented and additionally installed visible diagonals; designed and photographed by Architekturbüro Reinberg ZT GmbH Vienna

The timber-glass wall elements are formed as alternative load-bearing members on horizontal weight which can significantly contribute to additional horizontal load-bearing capacity and stiffness of the whole building. Moreover, they reduce the torsion impact on single floors and at the same time the installation of the visible diagonals can be avoided. This requires the failure not to run at the glass panel, which is as a very un-ductile structural element, but on the joint surface between the glass and timber frame or on the steel corner joint inter-storey elements which can ensure high level of ductility of such load-bearing wall elements. An interesting alternative method of the development of timber-glass wall panels without any adhesive is shown in [13]. In [14] innovative hybrid structural components composed of cross-laminated timber frame and laminated glass infill without using any adhesive to examine their response on the reverse-cyclic loading. As a result, in the case of specimens with low vertical load, the strength degradation demonstrated on average twice higher than in the cases of specimens with high vertical load. The stiffness degradation was not influenced either by the intensity of vertical load or by the number of glazing panels. Therefore, it was possible to formulate this phenomenon with a common equation, which is important for the development of future mathematical model of the tested type of structural components.

The goal of the study analysis in this contribution aims to find a solution to change a conventional board (plaster-fibre, OSB) of framed-panel wall elements with fixed thermal-insolation glazing. Importantly, by the right procedure of connection details in the connecting plane of the timber-glass frames, these can be considered as additional load-bearing vertical elements on known horizontal strain with proper level of ductility. This is briefly presented in the form of experimental study in Section 3. So-called timber-glass wall elements were developed and experimentally analysed in detail on numerous specimens in the frame of international research project WoodWisdom LBTGC [15]. However, it has to be emphasized that the costs of such experiments are too high to be recognized as useful in engineering practice using also various types of un-tested walls and box-house models. There are also many various parameters, such the adhesive and glass type and thickness, the bonding connection type, etc., which significantly affect racking stiffness of timber-glass wall elements and have to be very carefully analysed, [15-18]. On the other case, the group of authors widely investigated a case where the glass panes were completely not bonded to the timber frame, [19, 14].

Therefore, the second part in Section 4 as the main and final goal of the presented study, a quite simple mathematical model of the box-house prototypes is developed using a fictive diagonal element for simulating the racking stiffness of the bracing timber-glass wall element. It enables designers its application in a quite simple calculaculation software in order to determine the horizontal load-bearing capacity and stiffness of such timber-glass wall element and further also the calculation of oscillating form of the whole timber-glass building model. Such mathematical model can be later used for determination of complete seismic response of such buildings. A simple example performed on previously experimental box-house model is presented at the end of the study. However, the behaviour factor (q) should be determined first in that case. Only then such design methods can be finally developed that are reliable enough to be introduced in common engineering practice for a complete seismic calculation analysis of such timber-glass structures.

However, it should be especially finally emphasized that these topics are not yet included in European standards such as [11] or [12], since they are the first such implementing European guidelines in terms of glass construction as support and implementation of existing Eurocodes [20]. Nevertheless, studies are already mentioned in these guidelines which explicitly state that they are still in the stage of an academic level only. Generally, each object is unique, so a designer should provide sufficiently high resistance to all expected load cases, as determined by European standard. All presented and developed timber-glass wall elements from our article, separately listed in [20], can only increase this kind of calculated loads on request and at suitable constructor knowledge who does not need to use only known load-bearing wall elements or other strengthening methods (e. g. diagonals) in order to ensure sufficiently high resistance to expected horizontal loads (wind, earthquake), which are not the topics of this study. Hereby the problem of the so-called soft floor can be avoided, and all parameters of modern energy efficient prefabricated timber building can also be taken into consideration.

2. Materials and methods

Prefabricated framed-panel wall elements are made of timber frames composed by studs and longitudinal posts and sheathing boards (fibre-plaster or OSB), which may be unilateral or bilateral with nails or staples attached to the timber frame. The soft thermal insulation is installed in the space between the frame structure which together with outer stiff thermal insulation pro-

vides sufficient thermal insulation of the outer wall elements. Such prefabricated elements were in their original form technologically manufactured only as single-panel elements (Fig. 4a) with the standard length 1250 mm which was the standard length of sheathing boards. In 1990s, the single-panel system became a macro-panel system (Fig. 4b) for technological requirements after faster manufacture, so the entire wall systems were manufactured in one piece of 12500 mm length with mostly built-in window and doors openings. In terms of horizontal loads, a macropanel system is statically considered as the sum of separate single panel wall elements. However, the method A in Eurocode 5 [12] requires only the consideration for the contribution of the single-panel elements without any window and doors openings.



Fig. 4 a) Single-panel, and b) macro-panel wall system

Several studies [21-24] in the known literature prove that elements with window and doors openings can contribute to a certain extend to horizontal load-bearing capacity and stiffness of such wall elements. Therefore, timber-glass elements, where conventional sheathing is replaced by insulation glazing (Fig. 5a), can be considered as load-bearing to horizontal loads to a certain extend. Obviously, horizontal force transfer should be assured both over connecting plane glass-timber with the help of the suitable adhesive and over fictive tensile diagonal of the glass panel, as schematically shown in Fig. 5a [25-27]. Furthermore, it should be emphasized that such load-bearing timber-glass wall elements should be then incorporated in a load-bearing wall system of prefabricated frame-panel macro-wall systems and used in the models of timber-glass prefabricated objects, presented in the shape of the simplified *box-house* models in Fig. 5b, which were experimentally tested in the frame of the project [15] on the shaking table of IZIIS in Skopje [28].



Fig. 5 a) Type single panel wall element with fixed glazing and schematic presentation of horizontal load transfer, b) *Box-house* model of a timber glass building

3. Results and discussion

3.1 Experimental analysis

Experimental analysis of timber-glass wall elements

Prefabricated single frame panel wall elements with fixed three-layered insulation glazing panel were first tested for monotonous static load according to the standard EN 594:2011, [29]. The vertical static load was constant and scaled up to 25 kN/m. The tests were then resumed with cyclic horizontal point load under the same load. In addition, the Niedermaier *end-joint* type 1 [30] was used to provide the joint between glass panel and timber frame. Two-component polyurethane adhesive of 5mm thickness and the annealed glass of 3x6 mm thickness were used, and the space between glazing was 16 mm thick. Two types of specimens were tested; they are schematically shown in Fig. 6:

- wall elements with insulating glass unit (IGU) in one piece (TGWE-1),
- wall elements of equal dimensions with a glass panel in two pieces (TGWE-2).



Fig. 6 Geometry of tested timber-glass wall specimens

The results for all obtained hysteresis of cyclic tests for both types of all tested specimens with drawn first envelopes of hysteresis curves are shown in Fig. 7.

It can be observed that the test samples with glazing in one piece (TGWE-1) notably prove slightly higher horizontal load-bearing capacity and especially higher stiffness. However, hysteresis curves show that the ductility for TGWE-1 is significantly lower, which could significantly influence on seismic resistance of such type of load-bearing timber-glass wall elements. The average ductility calculated according to EN 12512 [31] amounts for d = 2.8 for TGWE-1 and d = 3.1 for TGWE-2. The detailed presentation of the results under static horizontal load, calculated values for horizontal stiffness and detailed analysis of measured values with additional recommendations for practical usage can be found in detail in [15] and [28].

The reduction in load capacity in repetitive cycles is presented in Figure 8, where the forcedisplacement diagram shows the envelopes of the first, second and third cycles for all tested samples. The curves are markedly antisymmetric, and a cyclic decrease in stiffness is also observed. Additionally, the calculated mean values of the racking stiffness with the stiffness reduction chart for the first three envelopes are also presented for TGWE-1 and TGWE-2 test samples.

The stiffness diagram in Fig. 8 shows a slightly larger decrease in stiffness from the first to the second cycle for TGWE-2 type (16.3 %). From the second to the third cycle, the decrease in stiffness is more pronounced in the TGWE-1 type (8.6 %). The total decrease in stiffness, i.e., difference between the first and third cycle ranges from 19.1 % (TGWE-2) to 21.2 % (TGWE-1), respectively.


Fig. 7 Presentation of the response to horizontal cyclic load for both groups of specimens and calculated stiffness



Fig. 8 Presentation of the response to horizontal cyclic load for both groups of specimens and calculated stiffness

Experimental analysis of box-house timber-glass specimens

The further analysis connects together the previously experimentally tested TGWE-1 and TGWE-2 timber-glass wall elements in different ways by conventional timber-framed wall elements sheathed with OSB (TFWE-1) boards. Consequently, as the final product so-called *box-house* timber-glass building models are developed, schematically presented in Figure 5b, and tested on the shaking table IZIIS in the Skopje institute. Single and two-storey composed *box-house* models with different settings of TGWE and TFWE wall elements are photographically presented in Figure 9. It should be mentioned that insulating three-layered glass panels from non-laminate glass were used just for the economic reasons, while laminate glass should be used in practice for safety reasons because it significantly increases the glass ductility. Anyway, failure mechanism should be created in order to generate the failure along ductile steel inter-storey hold-downs or at least along adhesive in connecting plane glass-timber, and by no means the failure along the glazing, which would lead to the instant brittle fracture.

Four single-storey and four two-storey objects with ground plan 2.4×3.4 m and height 2.5 and 5.0 m, were constructed from wall elements, type TGWE-1, TGWE-2 and TFWE-1. Threelayered cross glued panel of dimension $2.4 \text{ m} \times 3.4 \text{ m}$ and thickness 100 mm served for the connection of wall elements. The additional mass of 1600 kg was applied to the panel which simulated the impact of its own weight and live load in the floor element. Due to the higher stiffness in shorter direction, the panel transferred the majority of vertical loads onto wall elements, installed perpendicularly to the direction of excitation. The wall elements that were seismically loaded in their planes received only a minor portion of vertical load. This is an important boundary condition which affects the behaviour of these wall elements. The wall elements were attached to the AB foundation with WKR-285 type of angle brackets and with additional M12 anchors along the length of the bottom sill. The ceiling panels were joint to the wall elements by self-tapping wood screws 8/180 mm on mutual distance of 150 mm. Upper and lower walls were joint together in corners by metal angle brackets and M12 screws. In addition, dynamic tests were divided into two basic modules: i) lower intensity testing without failure in the structure or in the so-called elastic state (together with all joints) and ii) higher intensity testing, where the ground acceleration was scaled up enough to cause failure in the structure.

After the structure was loaded with recorded *Petrovac* and *Landers* accelerograms, the structure did not exhibit visible damages. In order to intensify the response of the structure, randomly generated ground motion in frequency range 2.0 - 15 Hz and ground acceleration from 0.1 to 0.4 g was applied, as shown in Table 1.



Fig. 9 Photo of tested single- and two-storey box-house timber-glass models

Study of load-bearing timber-wall elements using experimental testing and mathematical modelling

Low-intensity testing		High-intensity testing							
GLS1 - GLS4 and GLS6 - GLS9	1 - GLS4 and GLS6 - GLS9 GLS5 (
Modified Landers	0.15 g modified Landers 0.50 g modified Land		modified Landers	0.50 g					
Modified Landers	0.25 g	modified Landers	0.75 g modified Land	modified Landers	0.75 g				
Petrovac	0.22 g	sine-beat 9.856 Hz	0.10 g	random 2-15 Hz					
		sine-beat 9.856 Hz	0.50 g	random 2-15 Hz	0.35 g				
		sine-beat 9.856 Hz	1.00 g						
		random 2-15 Hz	0.10 g						
		random 2-15 Hz	0.25 g						
		random 2-15 Hz	0.40 g						

ing

Deformations can be noticed in the glue line between the glass panel and timber frame, shear drift and corner uplifting. Fig. 10 (left) shows the values of these deformations for the GLS5 model at random excitation (2.0-15 Hz) with acceleration 0.4 g. The vertical displacement of the corner was 1.0 mm, however, shear wall drift (1.9 mm) and deformations of the glue line in the size of 1.2 mm were also noticed.

The tests of structure excitation or the so-called *sweep tests* were carried out in the frequency area 1.0-32 Hz and the intensity acceleration 0.01 g. Based on these, vibration periods of the structure were calculated; this could serve also for the evaluation of the reduction level of the structural stiffness and damage levels. The measured values before and after high intensity excitation are graphically presented in Fig. 11.



Fig. 10 Values of displacements and deformations of the GLS5 and GLS10 models for a high intensity dynamic test



Fig. 11 Measured values of basic vibration periods of the before and after high intensity testing

A detailed analysis of all results can be found in [15] and [28], however, it should be mentioned that the high intensity excitation did not result in any visible deformation in glazing, yet ductile failure mechanism with yielding of steel hold-downs between floors, the so-called rocking mechanism was generated at all test specimens. The majority of seismic energy was absorbed in the steel corner fasteners which function as ductile protectors of wall elements. In fact, this was also one of the goals of this study. The measured values of vibration periods before and after excitation (Fig. 11) also prove that there was no significant decrease in structure stiffness. The slight increase in the measured 1st time periods can result only from the yielding process in steel corner fasteners.

3.2 Mathematical modelling and numerical analysis of the single and two-storey boxhouse model

First, in order to perform the numerical analysis, it was necessary to define a suitable mathematical model of the structure. For this purpose, the previously introduced mathematical model with a fictive diagonal for determination of the racking stiffness of timber-framed wall elements with classical OSB or fibre-plaster (FPB) sheathing material [32] was applied and further developed for the timber-glass wall elements stiffness simulation. Following the expressions presented in [32], the fictive diagonal diameter for classical sheathing boards (OSB or FPB) is determined in the way that horizontal displacement of the actual wall element is the same as a horizontal displacement of the simplified model with a fictive diagonal, as schematically presented in Fig. 12. Lastly, the fictive diagonal diameter (d_{fic}) is expressed in the final form of:

$$A_{d,fic} = \frac{k_p \cdot L_d}{E_D \cdot \cos^2 \alpha} \tag{1a}$$

$$k_p = \frac{1}{D_p} = \left(\frac{H^3}{3 \cdot EI_{eff}} + \frac{H}{GA_s}\right)^{-1}$$
(1b)

$$d_{fic} = 2 \cdot \sqrt{\frac{A_{d,fic}}{\pi}} \tag{1c}$$

with E_D being the modulus of elasticity of the diagonal, $A_{d,fic}$ the fictive cross-section of the diagonal and L_d the length of the diagonal.

However, it is important to point out that the already developed mathematical model by [32] can be used only for sheets which are mechanically fastened to the timber frame by staples or nails. The effective stiffness EI_{eff} is namely calculated using the gamma-method following the Eurocode 5 [12] expressions.



Fig. 12 Schematically presented transformation of a frame-panel wall modelled with truss members and a fictive diagonal

However, in case of timber-glass wall elements, where the glass pane is continuously bonded to the timber frame, it is not possible to determine the gamma coefficient and the effective stiffness EI_{eff} in Eq. 1b directly with the known expressions from the Eurocodes. Some already developed mathematical models with spring elements simulate the flexibility of the bonding line between the glass pane and the timber frame [25], followed by an extensive numerical parametric study [27], albeit the calculation time is too long to be implemented into the whole box-house building model. Therefore, for timber-glass wall elements the diameter of the fictive diagonal d_{fic} can be determined using experimental results from Subsection 3.1 upon derived equation only:

$$d_{fic} = \sqrt{\frac{4 \cdot F_{cr} \cdot L_d}{w_{cr} \cdot (\cos a)^2 \cdot \pi \cdot E_D}}$$
(2)

where F_{cr} represents the force upon appearance of the first crack and w_{cr} represents the corresponding displacement upon appearance of the first crack. The values for F_{cr} and w_{cr} can be determined only according to experimental testing.

The diameters of the diagonals were calculated in this way for each type of wall panel. As the box-house model is composed as a combination of classical timber-framed wall elements with OSB sheathing boards (TFWE-1) and the timber-glass wall elements (TGWE-1 and TGWE-2), the diameter of the substitutional fictive diagonal is determined for the OSB wall elements in semi-analytical final expressions using Eq. 1 and for the timber-glass TGWE-1 and TGWE-2 wall elements from the experimental results using Eq. 2. The results for d_{fic} are presented in Table 2. According to the results presented in Table 2, the horizontal stiffness of TGWE-2 and conventional TFWE-1 wall panels are practically equal, the stiffness of the TGWE-1 does not differ much as well. It also means that stiffness centre (R) and mass centre (M) of the box-house model coincide relatively well. Basically, this was one of the goals of our study, because consecutive high torsion loads along the building floor can be avoided in the case of an earthquake. Steel with the elasticity module E = 210 GPa was considered as material for diagonals.

Wall elements	<i>R</i> (N/mm)	d _{fic} (mm)
TGWE-1	6704	16.60
TGWE-2	3595	12.16
TFWE-1	3636	12.23

In the mathematical model of the box-house are considered as rigid. Also, the timber frame elements are considered as axially rigid in order to eliminate the frame flexibility and only the flexibility of the diagonals is taken into account [32]. However, they are already further developed in [33] an upgraded mathematical approach for classical timber-framed wall buildings by including different contributions to the stiffness of the timber-framed walls, such as floor bending flexibility and flexibility in all floor to walls connections, which are not included in this study.

The mathematical model defined by this method was then used for the numerical analysis of the single-storey GLS5 and two-storey model GLS10. The numerical analyses were performed using the structural analysis software SAP 2000 v.17. Timber columns were modelled as axially rigid, while the timber cross-glued floor panels were considered as isotropic thin slabs board. The floor slabs were subjected to a surface load of 2.0 kN/m². Fig. 13 shows the numerical models of the one-storey and the two-storey box-house using the fictive diagonals, while Table 3 presents the calculated fundamental vibration periods for both models and comparison with the measured fundamental periods as obtained from the experimental analysis (see Subsection titled *Experimental analysis of box-house timber-glass specimens*).

Table 3 shows that the results of the numerical analysis coincide well with the measured ones. Minor differences can be observed due to the fact that rigid supports were used in numerical models, while anchor elements in the experimental models have a certain flexibility which gives rise to a higher deformability of the structure and consequently slightly longer vibration periods. Subsequently, with the application of the developed mathematical models time-history analyses can be further performed using the Landers accelerogram, Fig. 13. The calculated horizontal displacements of the top of the structures as a function of time are shown in Fig. 14 for the single-storey models GLS5 and two-storey GLS10, respectively. The maximal horizontal displacement amounted to 2.67 mm for the model GLS5 and 11.86 mm for the model GLS10.



Fig. 13 Simplified numerical model of single-storey and two-storey model with a fictive diagonal (presentation of fundamental vibration forms)

Table 3 Review of fundamental	vibration period	of experimentally	v and numerically	tested models
Table 5 Review of fullualitetical	vibration periou	or experimentally	/ and numerically	lesteu mouers

Model	Fundamental vibration period T ₁ (s)			
	Experimental	Numerical		
Single-storey GLS5	0.095	0.096		
Two-storey GLS10	0.167	0.173		



Fig. 14 Numerical values of the top horizontal displacements of the GLS5 and GLS10 models as the result of the time history analyses using the Landers accelerogram

4. Conclusion

The usage of enlarged portion of glass surfaces in modern timber objects provides solar thermal gains and impacts living comfort positively. However, large non-load-bearing glass surfaces under wind and seismic forces cause structural problems, above all in terms of uneven distribution of the horizontal force due to irregularity of the structure in its ground plan. Therefore, it is reasonable to ensure that such wall elements can provide certain horizontal load capacity and stiffness and also certain level of ductility in seismic active areas.

Firstly, discussed timber-glass elements were experimentally tested. Secondly, timber-glass wall elements were studied with combination of conventional frame wall elements which were used in the test box models of single-storey and two-storey objects. The timber-glass wall elements, used in the box models and subjected to highly intensive seismic impact showed sufficiently high level of robustness because the energy absorption was noted in uplifted and shear steel corner fasteners, whereas the wall panel remained in elastic area without any visible signs of deformation of the glue line. In Subsection 3.2, special mathematical models using fictive diagonal elements for prefabricated timber-glass wall elements are developed and upgraded from the already known study in [32], however, they are applicable for timber-framed wall elements with classical sheathing boards only. Consequently, previously experimentally developed load-bearing timber-glass wall elements with insulating three-layered glass pane are implemented

into the linear seismic analysis of the whole timber-frame building by using a fictive diagonal approach for the first time in this study.

The developed new models for timber-glass elements however enable numerical simulation of seismic behaviour of single and two-storey timber-glass box-house models and demonstrated very good agreement with the previously experimentally measured results. Therefore, the models can be recommended for further parametric numerical academic studies analysing the influence of many various parameters.

Our further work will base on existing experimental results and expand numerical models in terms of actual nonlinear behaviour of single-wall and anchorage elements and determination of the factor for structural behaviour. Only then numerical analyses could simulate real structural behaviour as a whole and develop reliable design methods which could be introduced in practice. It is important to highlight once more that the basic requirement of the standard [11] should be fulfilled – that is life safety.

Finally, discussed timber-glass panels are in the development phase and at the level of implementing guidelines [20] in European standardization, even though some companies have started to use them in practice as additional panels after they were awarded international patent [34]. In fact, the usage of developed models should be implemented in practice after further seismic studies and proper certification of timber-glass wall element with CE marking.

References

- [1] Diakaki, C., Grigoroudis, E., Kabelis, N., Kolokotsa, D., Kalaitzakis, K., Stavrakakis, G. (2010). A multi-objective decision model for the improvement of energy efficiency in buildings, *Energy*, Vol. 35, No.12, 5483-5496, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.1016/j.energy.2010.05.012.</u>
- [2] Olabi, A.G. (2013). State of the art on renewable and sustainable energy, *Energy*, Vol. 61, 2-5, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2013.10.013</u>.
- [3] Olabi, A.G. (2014). 100% sustainable energy, Energy, Vol. 77, 1-5, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2014.10.083.
- [4] Lund, H., Mathiesen, BV. (2009). Energy system analysis of 100% renewable energy systems The case of Denmark in years 2030 and 2050, *Energy*, Vol. 34, No. 5, 524-531, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2008.04.003</u>.
- [5] Lund, H., Möller, B., Mathiesen, B.V., Dyrelund, A. (2010). The role of district heating in future renewable energy systems, *Energy*, Vol. 35, No. 3, 1381-1390, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2009.11.023.
- [6] Itard, L.C.M., Meijer, F. (2008). *Towards a sustainable Northern European housing stock: Figures, facts and future,* The series Sustainable Urban Areas, IOS Press, Vol. 22, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
- [7] Wurm, J. (2007). *Glass structures Design and construction of self-supporting skins*, Birkhäuser Verlag AG, Basel, Boston, Berlin, doi: 10.1007/978-3-7643-8317-6.
- [8] Žegarac Leskovar, V., Premrov, M. (2013). Energy-efficient timber-glass houses, Springer, London, Heidelberg, New York, Dordrecht, doi: 10.1007/978-1-4471-5511-9.
- [9] Premrov, M., Žegarac Leskovar, V., Mihalič, K. (2016). Influence of the building shape on the energy performance of timber-glass buildings in different climatic conditions, *Energy*, Vol. 108, 201-211, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2015.</u> 05.027.
- [10] Žegarac Leskovar, V., Premrov, M. (2011). An approach in architectural design of energy-efficient timber buildings with a focus on the optimal glazing size in the south-oriented façade, *Energy and Buildings*, Vol. 43, No. 12, 3410-3418, doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2011.09.003.
- [11] European Committe for Standardization CEN/TC 250 (2005). EN 1998-1:2005 Eurocode 8: Design of Structures for Earthquake Resistance Part 1, General rules, seismic actions and rules for buildings, Brussels.
- [12] European Committe for Standardization CEN/TC 250/SC5 N173 (2005). EN 1995-1-1:2005 Eurocode 5: Design of Timber Structures – Part 1-1, General rules and rules for buildings, Brussels.
- [13] Antolinc, D., Rajčić, V., Žarnić, R. (2014). Analysis of hysteretic response of glass infilled wooden frames, *Journal of Civil Engineering & Management*, Vol. 20, No. 4, 600-608, <u>doi: 10.3846/13923730.2014.899265</u>.
- [14] Žarnić, R., Rajčić, V., Kržan, M. (2020). Response of laminated glass-CLT structural components to reverse lateral loading, *Construction and Building Materials*, Vol. 235, 1-17, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2019.117509</u>.
- [15] Premrov, M., Serrano, E., Winter, W., Fadai, A., Nicklisch, F., Dujič, B., Šušteršič, I., Brank, B., Štrukelj, A., Držečnik, M., Buyuktaskin, H.A., Erol, G., Ber, B. (2012-2014). Workshop report "WP 6: Testing on life-size specimen components: shear walls, beams and columns including long-term behaviour". Woodwisdom-net, research project, load bearning timber-glass-composites, <u>https://plus.si.cobiss.net/opac7/bib/18802454</u>.
- [16] Blyberg, L. (2011). Timber/glass adhesive bonds for structural applications, Licentiate thesis, Linnaeus University, School of Engineering, Sweden, <u>http://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:447937/FULLTEXT01.pdf</u>.
- [17] Blyberg, L., Serrano, E., Enquist, B., Sterley, M. (2012). Adhesive joints for structural timber/glass applications: Experimental testing and evaluation methods, *International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives*, Vol. 35, 76-87, doi: 10.1016/j.ijadhadh.2012.02.008.

- [18] Cruz, P.J.S., Pacheco, J.A.L., Pequeno, J.M.B. (2007). Experimental studies on structural timber glass adhesive bonding, In: COST E34, Bonding of Timber, 4th Workshop "Practical Solutions for Furniture & Structural Bonding", Golden Bay Beach Hotel, Larnaca, Cyprus,
- https://sigarra.up.pt/feup/pt/conteudos_service.conteudos_cont?pct_id=30543&pv_cod=41slaqqt89ra.
- [19] Stepinac, M., Rajčić, V., Žarnić R. (2016). Timber-structural glass composite systems in earthquake environment, Gradjevinar, Vol. 68, No. 3, 211-219, doi: 10.14256/JCE.1505.2015.
- [20] Dimona, S., Pinto, A., Feldmann, M., Denton, S. (2014). European Comission JCR Scientific and Policy Reports. Guidance for European Structural Design of Glass Components, Support to the implementation, harmonization and further development of the Eurocodes, Report EUR 26439 EN, Luxemburg, Publications Office of the European Union.
- [21] Kozem Šilih, E., Premrov, M., Šilih, S. (2012). Numerical analysis of timber-framed wall elements coated with single fibre-plaster boards, Engineering Structures, Vol. 41, 118-125, doi: 10.1016/j.engstruct.2012.03.044.
- [22] Šupek, S., Dujič, B., Žarnić, R. (2008). Influence of openings on shear capacity of KLH walls, In: Zbornik 30. zborovanja gradbenih konstrukterjev, Bled, Ljubljana: Slovensko društvo gradbenih konstruktorjev, Slovenia, 145-154.
- [23] Kozłowski, M., Dorn, M., Serrano, E. (2015). Experimental testing of load-bearing timber-glass composite shear walls and beams. Wood Material Science & Engineering, Vol. 10, No. 3 (Special issue), 276-286, doi: 10.1080/ 17480272.2015.1061595.
- [24] Dorn, M., Kozłowski, M., Serrano, E., Enquist, B. (2014). Development of large-scale load-bearing timber-glass structural elements, In: Salenikovich, A. (ed.), World Conference on Timber Engineering, WCTE 2014, Quebec City, Canada.
- [25] Hochhauser, W. (2011). Ein Beitrag zur Berechnung und Bemessung von geklebten und geklotzten Holz-Glas-Verbundscheiben, Doctoral thesis, Vienna University of Technology, Austria, https://www.ub.tuwien.ac.at/diss/AC07810717.pdf.
- [26] Štrukelj, A., Ber, B., Premrov, M. (2015). Racking resistance of timber-glass wall elements using different types of adhesives, Construction and Building Materials, Vol. 93, 130-143, doi: 10.1016/i.conbuildmat.2015.05.112.
- [27] Ber, B., Finžgar, G., Premrov, M., Štrukelj A. (2018). On parameters affecting the racking stiffness of timber-glass walls, Glass Structures and Engineering, Vol. 4, No. 1, 69-82, doi: 10.1007/s40940-018-0086-5.
- [28] Ber, B., Šušteršič, I., Premrov, M., Štrukelj, A., Dujič, B. (2015). Testing of timber-glass composite walls, Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers – Structures and Buildings, Vol. 168, No.7, 500-513, doi: 10.1680/stbu.13. 00105.
- [29] European Committe for Standardization CEN/TC 250/SC5 N173 (2011). EN 594:2011 Timber structures. Test methods. Racking strength and stiffness of timber frame wall panels, BSI, London, UK.
- [30] Niedermaier, P. (2003). Shear-strength of glass panel elements in combination with timber frame constructions, In: Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Architectural and Automotive Glass (GPD), Tampere, Finland, 262-264.
- [31] European Committe for Standardization (2002). EN 12512:2002 Timber structures Test methods Cyclic testing of joints made with mechanical fasteners, https://standards.iteh.ai/catalog/standards/sist/82e23cd2-e11c-40ad-8ca0-384618804f92/sist-en-12512-2002.
- [32] Pintarič, K., Premrov, M. (2013). Mathematical modelling of timber-framed walls using fictive diagonal elements, Applied Mathematical Modelling, Vol. 37, No. 16-17, 8051-8059, doi: 10.1016/j.apm.2013.02.050.
- [33] Vogrinec, K., Premrov, M. (2018). Influence of the design approach on the behaviour of timber-frame panel buildings under horizontal forces, Engineering structures, Vol. 175, 1-12, doi: 10.1016/j.engstruct.2018.08.014.
- [34] Ber, B. (2015). Tragendes Glaswandelement für leichte Holzbauten: CH707540 (B1), 2015-01-15. Bern: EPO, SI P-201300028, 2013-02-06; CH707540 (A2), 2014-08-15; SI23931 (A), 2013-05-31; DE102013217209 (A1), 2014-08-07; ITRM20130609 (A1), 2014-08-07.

APEM journal

Advances in Production Engineering & Management Volume 16 | Number 1 | March 2021 | pp 82–98 https://doi.org/10.14743/apem2021.1.386 **ISSN 1854-6250** Journal home: apem-journal.org Original scientific paper

The implications of product modularisation on the development process, supplier integration and supply chain design in collaborative product development

Koppenhagen, F.^a, Held, T.^{a,*}

^aHamburg University of Applied Sciences, Department of Mechanical Engineering and Production Management, Germany

ABSTRACT

Generating economies of scale is one of the most desirable goals when developing modular product systems. Since complex products are commonly developed in collaboration between an Original Equipment Manufacturer (OEM) and its suppliers, pursuing this goal inherently establishes interdependencies between the development process, supplier integration and supply chain design. To fully reap the benefits of modular product systems requires a comprehensive approach that encompasses these fields and addresses the interdependencies between them via a coherent collaboration between development and purchasing. This is the main focus of this work. In this paper, we first describe how the product development process has to be restructured for the concerted development of modules and overall products within the scope of a modular product system. Secondly, we propose a new collaboration model between the OEM and its suppliers, since OEMs need to collaborate directly with suppliers of lower levels of the value chain in order to facilitate the standardisation of components and modules across different products. Finally, we delineate an awarding process for both development services and production volumes for series supply that resolves the conflicting priorities of economies of scale and avoiding over-dependence on single suppliers. The process models described in this paper have been conceived based on systems engineering principles and have been successfully tested and further refined throughout several industrial projects carried out with two automotive manufacturers. The resulting approach will be demonstrated using a generic example taken from the automotive industry.

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Supply chain design; Robust value chains; Modularity; Product development; Complexity management; Awarding process; Supplier integration; Automotive industry

**Corresponding author:* tobias.held@haw-hamburg.de (Held, T.)

Article history: Received 14 August 2020 Revised 28 January 2021 Accepted 7 March 2021



Content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International Licence (CC BY 4.0). Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.

1. Introduction

The importance of modular product architectures in reducing the complexity of the industrial realisation process of physical products is undisputed today and has already been described many times in literature [1, 2]. Yet, the existing literature mainly focuses on methodologies for the complexity-adequate design of modular product architectures. However, the introduction of a consistent modularisation strategy for complex products in cooperation with multiple suppliers and development partners has far-reaching implications for the organization of product development and procurement. First, the development process at the original equipment manufacturer (OEM) has to be restructured since there are now two different processes, which have to be aligned: (1) the development of modules to be integrated into different overall products and (2) the development of overall products. Both processes are temporally decoupled but must be coordinated with regards to their content. Second the effective standardisation of product com-

ponents on different levels of the product architectures across different products requires the OEM to make design decisions and resolve technical conflicts within scopes of the technical system that he has previously managed as black boxes during the design process, because the first-tier supplier used to be responsible for it. In doing so, the OEM must collaborate intensively and directly with suppliers on lower levels of the supply chain during product development, that have previously been coordinated by first-tier suppliers. Therefore, a new collaboration model between the OEM and suppliers at the various stages of the supply chain is needed. And third, the awarding processes for external development and production services must be coordinated on multiple levels and across projects in order to achieve the objectives of modularisation while at the same time ensuring a robust design of the entire value chain that prevents the OEM from being overly dependent on single vendors. All the aforementioned aspects necessitate a coherent and strategically-aligned collaboration between development and purchasing, which so far has received scant attention in the research literature.

The purpose of this paper is to delineate the prerequisites for effectively tapping the potentials of product modularisation in the collaborative development of complex products. Thus, the paper provides three major contributions: (1) a process model for the concomitant development of modules and overall products, (2) a new collaboration model between the OEM and its suppliers that effectively supports the standardisation of product components and (3) a comprehensive process for awarding development services and production volumes which resolves the conflicting priorities of economies of scale and avoiding over-dependence on single suppliers.

The theoretical derivation of the proposed models and practices will be explained in detail in this paper. The empirical foundation of the approach is based on projects with two European automotive OEMs and five of their system suppliers (*development partners*) in which the authors had the opportunity to be involved as participants and consultants. Due to confidentiality agreements with all companies involved, neither the company names nor the detailed data can be presented here. We will therefore use a generic example from the context of the automotive industry to illustrate the developed approach as the result of our theoretical and empirical research.

The structure of the article is divided as follows: Section 2 outlines the basics of modular product architectures. Section 3 describes the specifics of the development process for the concomitant development of modules and overall products. Then, Section 4 will propose a new collaboration model between the OEM and its suppliers as part of these development processes. Finally, Section 5 will explain how to organize the awarding of development services and production volumes across various products with the objective of designing robust value chains based on modular product architectures. The article finishes in Section 6 with a conclusion.

2. Basics of modular product architectures

In order to understand the effect of modularity on the product architecture, it is necessary to take a close look at the defining principles of modularity from a systems engineering perspective. Modularity is a structural property of systems. A system is modular if it consists of subsystems whose inner relationships are much stronger than the relationships between these subsystems [3, 4]. This primacy of the intramodular bond leads to an almost decomposable system which consists of subsystems (modules) that are largely decoupled from each other [5-8]. Modularity can thus be seen as the opposite pole to complexity with regard to a system's structure. In other words, modularisation, meaning grouping technical components into modules that have strong internal relations but relatively weak external relations, is the most effective approach to reduce the complexity of a system. This process inevitably establishes a new system level of subsystems, which is why modularisation can be seen as a targeted hierarchization process from the perspective of general systems theory (Fig. 1). Applied to the concrete technical system of the product architecture which encompasses the product's components and the entire functional and physical relations between them, this means that a product architecture is modular if it consists of subsystems (modules) that are largely independent of each other with regards to both functional and physical relations. Functional relations encompass the flow of force, energy, material and signals between technical components. Physical relations refer to the physical separability of technical components and geometric structural dependencies between them. A comprehensive computer aided methodology for the systematic development of modular product architectures that considers technical aspects and customer needs as well as product strategy-related objectives can be found in [9].

All advantages (as well as disadvantages) of modular product architectures are a result of the module's relative independence in the product architecture. The lower strength of intermodular relationships not only helps to share development tasks, and thus simplifies system design, but also tends to increase product robustness by minimising *incidental interactions* [1] between modules. Optimally, the interactions between modules are limited to the energy, signal and information flow that is indispensable for fulfilling the desired function of the system. The central advantage of the modules being largely decoupled from each other is the possibility of concentrating the required variance and dynamics on specific modules and therefore limiting the effects of these external factors to the respective modules (Fig. 2). The required product variation can then be realized by simply varying the design of certain modules, whereas the design of the rest of the modules remains unchanged. The same principle applies for required product design changes over time due to a change of customer needs, new legal regulations or technological progress. In modular product architectures, these external dynamic factors can often be addressed by simply changing the design of certain modules, whereby as many other modules as possible remain stable, sometimes even over several product generations (*carry over*).

The extensive decoupling of the modules in the product architecture thus ultimately enables a far-reaching decoupling of the in-house product creation process from external competitive changes in the market, so that even in a competitive environment characterised by high complexity and dynamics, standardisation potentials in the product creation process and thus competitive advantages can be tapped (Fig. 3). In other words, a modular product architecture enables the generation of economies of scale [9, 10, 11] while at the same time providing a high variety of products as well as time-stable processes in the product creation process and simultaneously realising short product life cycles [12].

	Horizontal relations of the system (structural concept)	Vertical relations of the system (hierarchical concept)
Complex Architecture		System 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 6 9 6 1
Modular Architecture		A B C Subsystems

Fig. 1 Basic principle of modularisation from a general systems theory perspective



Fig. 2 Concentrating variety and dynamics in the product architecture



Fig. 3 The product architecture as the leverage point for the decoupling of external competitive changes and the in-house product creation process

3. The development processes of modules and overall products

The task of developing a product system based on a modular product architecture has a dual character: On the one hand, modules must be developed that can be used across different product variants and product lines and, in part, across product generations [12]. On the other hand, however, the resulting products should exhibit a high degree of technical integrity, meaning that the final products should appear to the customer as if they were *made of one piece* and should not be perceived as a motley compilation of separate components [13]. To successfully master this development task, its duality must be taken into account when designing the development process. In concrete terms, this means that separate processes should be defined for both module development and development of the overall products. Both development processes should be temporally decoupled so that the development and quality assurance of technical innovations within the modules do not have to be carried out on the critical path of the development project for an overall product [14]. However, they need to be coupled in terms of their content to ensure that the modules meet the requirements of the target products into which they are ultimately to be integrated. This alignment of module and product requirements in order to meet customer needs can be done by means of a strategic steering committee in which the areas of development, marketing, sales, production and purchasing are each represented with a high rank so that the different perspectives of these departments can be mapped onto the product. On the one hand, this steering committee can ensure that the requirements from the respective target products will be incorporated into the modules' development processes, but on the other hand this steering committee must also define binding specifications for the target products with regard to the modules to be used.

This planning process for the development of a modular product system is a very complex and time-consuming effort (Fig. 4). The technical requirements and boundary conditions of several target products must always be considered during module development. In this context, it is advantageous to define possible solution spaces so that joint intersections can be determined within the module development process and stepwise convergence towards uniform, discrete solutions can be promoted. Then again, the market interface and controlling must define a segment-compliant range of functions and quality levels as well as segment-compliant target costs. From this, among other things, the required variation and diversification of the modules can be derived in order to ensure a sufficient differentiation of the overall target products offered on the market. In both areas, technical and business planning of the modular product system, longterm aspects of strategic planning and innovation management have to be taken into account and competitive developments must be anticipated. For both, the modules and the overall products, innovation roadmaps have to be created which determine when which innovations will be incorporated into modules and products (for roadmaps, [15]). Since the modules to be developed can be used in several products that will be subsequently developed, greater effort in the upstream module development ultimately pays off. Due to the many influencing factors and the long prognosis period, such a strategic planning process is associated with considerable prognostic uncertainty. Therefore, an adaptation or further development process of the modules must be implemented, which runs parallel to the development process of the corresponding target products in order to make necessary adjustments of the modules with regard to volatile requirements of the target products.

The development of a completely new product that does not built upon a modular product architecture with pre-existing modules is usually preceded by a strategy phase, in which the product planning takes place. The result of this strategy phase is the *concept booklet*, a requirement document that defines the strategic positioning of the product to be developed. This document not only describes the competitive environment and the market segment the product is intended to enter, but also outlines important design specifications and first technical concepts on a high aggregation level. After completion of the product planning, the actual product development starts from scratch. Thus, very little prior knowledge about the development object exists, which significantly increases the uncertainty in early design decisions of the development project. As a consequence, over the course of the project, there is a considerable risk that technical problems occur, which had not been anticipated by the design team, requiring concept changes that might disrupt the original project schedule. Due to the lack of experience and empirical data, preventive quality and risk management as well as virtual and physical quality assurance during product development is correspondingly complex. A high degree of technical maturity cannot be reached before late stages of the project. Even at the product launch, quality problems often occur.



Fig. 4 Product planning process for a modular product system

The goal of the module development process in the context of modular product development, however, must be to provide modules that successfully passed complete quality assurance and for which a stable production process exists [14]. The development process for the target products then starts with a concept phase in which the responsible strategic project manager (chief engineer [14]) develops a product concept based on the existing modules. At the beginning of the concept phase, the chief engineer builds on already proven, or at least pre-tested, modules with a high level of technical maturity and functional reliability. This allows for reaching the proof of concept for the overall product in a relatively short time. After concept approval, the integration phase follows. This phase encompasses the product-specific adaptation and integration of the modules into a coherent overall product. The volume of the actual new development is limited to a few customisation components, which for example are required for the integration of modules at interfaces (e.g., specific holders etc.) or for the differentiation of the products with respect to visual appearance. The integration phase is ended by the design freeze before the marketability of the product is achieved in the assurance phase (Fig. 5). Throughout the development process, preventive quality and risk management can focus on the system integration of the modules and a limited number of changes within the modules. Even if a module's design has to be adapted for a specific product, the module's basic concept can usually remain stable, so that it is still possible to benefit from existing knowledge and experience.

The modular development process as described above can only be carried out successfully if the decoupling of the development processes of module and overall products is also reflected in the organisational structure of the company's development department. In such an organisational structure, there are development engineers and organisational units that have component responsibility for modules and work outside the critical path of the target products' development projects in the upstream module development, and others who have responsibility for overall products and carry out the integration and application development during the development projects of the target products. The different individual interests of these protagonists are determined in particular by the inherent contradiction between component-based standardisation and the aspired objective of high product differentiation. To prevent a conflicting *front* *line* between the involved stakeholders as well as to avoid unbalanced priorities, the responsibility for modules and overall products must be interlinked in a fractal manner across all hierarchical levels of the development organisation [16, 17]. Only such an organisational structure in development can efficiently support the standardisation of modules as well as the development of coherent overall products.



Fig. 5 Separation of module and product development process (modified according to [16])

4. Supplier integration in modular product development

Since the mid-1980s, the importance of outsourcing development services and joint development with external suppliers has been recognised as a significant factor in successful product development [18-25]. Especially in the automotive industry, the collaboration with development partners and the assignment of development tasks to them has often been the subject of scientific analysis [25, 26].

Until just a few years ago, a trend was observed among automotive companies to allocate steadily larger scopes of development to so called system suppliers in order to accelerate the development process and save human resources at the OEM [27]. The OEM increasingly viewed the outsourced technical systems as black boxes and controlled their development accordingly [28, 29]. In general, the development partners in this cooperation model were also the designated series suppliers and carried out both the system-technical integration of the procurement volume in development and the subsequent assembly integration on their own authority [30]. So, for example, the order for the development and series production of an automotive seating system was often completely assigned to a tier one supplier [31-32]. The respective tier one supplier carried out the actual development of the seating system based on the requirements laid down in the specifications. The development engineer responsible for the seating system at the OEM only guided and supervised the tier one supplier and mainly focussed on the integration of the seating system into the overall vehicle. The tier one supplier could assign the orders for the development and series production of modules and components within the seating system to subcontractors on its own behalf (Fig. 6). The main advantage of this collaboration model was that it allowed the OEM to control relatively large development scopes with only one development engineer, as the detailed design of the seating system and the coordination of the suppliers on the downstream levels of the supply chain was accomplished by the tier one supplier. However, this outsourcing of actual development and awarding responsibility had two major downsides. (1) The development engineers at the OEM no longer had an in-depth understanding of the technical system for which they were responsible [28, 29, 33]. Since the definition of the manufacturing processes for the seating system and its components lay also in the hands of the tier one supplier, essential technical know-how flowed from the OEMs to the suppliers. (2) The OEM had no influence on determining which seating structure or which safety and comfort systems – such as airbags and seat belt buckles or seat heaters and seat ventilation systems – were integrated into the seating system. That prevented the OEM from standardising these technical components within the seating systems across different vehicles resulting in an uncontrolled increase in variety at the assembly and component level. This specific downside to the outsourcing of development services has been insufficiently reflected in the scientific discourse so far.

To effectively facilitate components' standardisation across different vehicles necessitates a new collaboration model between the OEM and its suppliers. Such a new collaboration model, however, must not entail a significant increase in capacity requirements in the OEM's development department. To address these aspects, the authors propose a new collaboration model, which will be illustrated in the following, again using the example of an automotive seating system's development.

As part of a comprehensive modularisation strategy, the OEM must regain control over the development of all major product components to be able to specify standard modules for different vehicles. This means that, in the course of module development, the OEM must again work directly together with the suppliers of the second and third level of the subsequent value chain and must again assume the responsibility for awarding the respective volumes. That way, it can for example be ensured that the same standardised seating structure is used in the seating systems of different vehicles to generate appropriate economies of scale. However, the specification of modules for certain technical systems implies the conceptual design of these systems. Thus, the OEM must again take over the responsibility for the system-technical integration of vehiclespecific procurement volumes during development. This is a prerequisite for deriving technical requirements for cross-vehicle module development. For reasons of capacity, this integration process is supported by an external development partner. This should usually be a potential tier one supplier or, in the late stage of development, the actual tier one supplier, because only they have the knowledge required for the system-technical integration of the procurement volumes (see also Section 5). This tier one supplier can also be a potential module supplier within the scope of the procurement volume for subsequent series production. The responsibility for development and awarding of the tier one supplier itself is limited only to vehicle-specific individualisation components of subordinate value (e.g., covers of a seating system).

However, this new collaboration model has the consequence that the development task at the OEM in part becomes more complex since the system-technical integration or *performance inte*gration [13], which was previously limited to a high level of aggregation (seating system-tovehicle), must be extended to lower levels of the product architecture (e.g., module-to-seating system). As a result, the development engineer responsible for integration of the seating system has to acquire in-depth knowledge about the interaction of the modules and components within the seating system, which the developer previously managed as a black box during the design process. That means it is again increasingly important to gather *architectural knowledge* [34, cf. 35]. In addition, the development of the modules, which should be standardised across several vehicles, must again be controlled directly by a development engineer at the OEM responsible for components with regard to the requirements of the different target vehicles. In turn, this module developer must have an in-depth understanding of the internal structure and functionality of the individual modules, i.e. what is known as *component knowledge* [36, cf. 13, 37]. The solution of technical problems at the interface of different development and / or award volumes is now the responsibility of the OEM and requires a close functional coordination between the development engineer responsible for the system-technical integration and the module developers. This increases the OEM's coordination effort during product development (Fig. 7).



* Tier 1: Development and assembly integration

Fig. 6 Development task and responsibility for awarding **before** the introduction of a consistent modularisation strategy – using the example of an automotive seating system



Fig. 7 Development task and responsibility for awarding <u>after</u> the introduction of a consistent modularisation strategy – using the example of an automotive seating system

This additional effort associated with product modularization has led some authors to rate the positive effects of modularization in product development as significantly less than originally hoped [13, 38, 39, 40], some even speak of the *unfulfilled promise of modularity* [13] in this context. However, there is a failure here to recognise that the implementation of a comprehensive modularisation strategy requires the coherent redesign of the development process, supplier integration and awarding process, as described in this paper, to fully reap the potential benefits of product modularisation. Under the premise of such a comprehensive approach, the extra development effort pays off, because it increases the overall performance of product development with great leverage by allowing for the development of a significantly larger number of different overall products with a very high degree of technical maturity in a relatively short time. Moreover, this additional effort in development at the OEM is not associated with an increase in capacity requirements in the OEM's development department: on the one hand, the development of modules used in different vehicles is more complex, but on the other hand, the number of modules to be developed decreases as a result of standardisation. Thus, the volume of vehiclespecific development projects, which now only involves integration and application development of technically mature modules, is significantly reduced. Therefore, it is often sufficient to shift internal development capacities from the vehicle-specific development projects to the module development projects. In addition, the actual development of the standardised modules continues to take place with the module suppliers and is only controlled by the OEM with regard to the requirements of the different target vehicles. As a result, the level of outsourcing of development services to external partners remains virtually unchanged overall. This also applies to the influence of external development partners in driving innovation. Due to the specific knowhow of the suppliers (cf. *learning by doing* [13, cf. 35]), many module- or component-related innovation impulses will continue to originate from the suppliers (*push principle*). However, due to the increased knowledge of the OEM in terms of the interaction of the modules in the procurement volumes as well as the cross-vehicle-oriented control of module development by the responsible development engineers at the OEM, innovation ideas from the OEM to the suppliers are becoming more and more important (*pull principle*).

5. The awarding process

To design a robust value chain based on modular product architectures, the duality of the development processes described, i.e. the separation of module development and overall product development, must also be reflected in the awarding process. This means that differentiation between modules and integration volumes, which cover several modules, is necessary. The modified collaboration model with the development partner also requires a differentiation between the awarding of development services and subsequent delivery in series production. This will be explained below again using the example of the automotive industry.

5.1 The awarding of integration services in development and production

When the responsibility for system integration and awarding to downstream suppliers in the value chain was still with the tier one supplier, the OEM was forced to award the entire order for the development services and subsequent series delivery to a specific tier one contractor very early on, usually shortly after completion of the concept booklet. This was necessary to enable the tier one supplier to award the almost completely project-specific volume to the subcontractors of the downstream levels at an early stage in order to ensure the supply of parts in subsequent series production. Before the introduction of a comprehensive modularisation strategy, every vehicle generation was typically entirely new designed. Thus, prior knowledge about the concepts to be developed barely existed, so that design decisions had to be made under high prognostic uncertainty, in particular during early stages in product development. This uncertainty rendered design decisions less stable and led to frequent concept changes (cf. Section 3) resulting in high costs for change management and often even renegotiation of the series price. The bargaining power of the tier one supplier was relatively large due to the necessity of the OEM to bind early to a certain tier one supplier and the reduced knowledge of the OEM about the

system integration within the procurement volumes. The only advantage for the OEM was that the development costs did not have to be paid directly, but could be allocated to the later series price.

If the OEM as part of the modularisation strategy again takes over the system-technical integration of larger procurement volumes and the modules for which the series production is awarded are already completely developed, the OEM is able to carry out a two-stage awarding process (Fig. 8). In the early phase of a vehicle project – in which it used to be necessary to award the entire production volume and thus to make far-reaching decisions with high prognostic uncertainty – initially only the engineering service for supporting the OEM in the systemtechnical integration of the respective procurement volume up to the design freeze is awarded. Hereby, the selected development partner is usually a potential tier one supplier. This is because only these suppliers have the required development competence (especially with regards to design for manufacturing and assembly) to support the OEM efficiently in the systemtechnical integration of large procurement volumes. The OEM then directly remunerates supplier development costs. At the time of the design freeze, when the design of the entire vehicle has been completed, a second invitation to tender is issued, in which the remaining quality assurance of the procurement volume and the actual production output in terms of assembly integration and series delivery is awarded.

Since the concepts have a high level of technical maturity due to the already predeveloped modules and the high volume of common concepts, modules and parts, the remaining development risk at the time of awarding the series production is relatively low, so that there is a high degree of prognostic certainty for the series award. Nevertheless, some communication losses and handover problems in development are to be expected, if this second invitation to tender results in a change of the supplier, meaning if the later series supplier is different from the previous development partner up to the design freeze. When awarding larger assembly volumes, such as a seating system or a cockpit module, the production and quality expertise of potential suppliers must be carefully assessed. In the automotive industry, for example, a segment-specific differentiation must be made. If, for example, a supplier has so far only had experience as a seating system supplier for vehicles from the lower segment, it should be closely reviewed if this specific supplier can meet the increased quality requirements of a higher vehicle segment. This also partly affects the awarding of development services in the early phase of vehicle development.



Fig. 8 Previous, conventional awarding process vs. new, two-stage awarding process

5.2 The awarding of modules

Since modules are used in several products and in part even in several product generations [12], and therefore are produced in large numbers over a long period of time, the awarding decision for the modules has a high relevance. This opens up a field of potential conflict for the OEM in assigning the modules in regard to the robust design of the value chain, which has so far attracted little attention in literature. To maximise the economies of scale, the OEM would have to bind itself exclusively to one supplier in the long term in order to obtain a high quantity of standardised modules over a long period of time. However, this would result in a high dependence of the OEM on this supplier and significantly reduce the robustness of the value chain as there would not be an adequate alternative in the event of supplier failure. Toyota's approach to address this issue is predicated on long-term, and sometimes exclusive, symbiotic collaborations with selected suppliers [14, 41] which is often assured via company shares. This approach cannot fully be applied to the structure of the western supplier industry. We propose a multi-stage awarding process for the modules to resolve the conflicting priorities of maximising economies of sales and avoiding over-dependence on certain suppliers. In contrast to the awarding of integration services in development and production, the dividing line for allocating the award volume does not run within the development process, but between different production volumes after completed development. The reasons for this and the specific design of this awarding process will be explained in more detail below.

As the functional relationships in modular product architectures are concentrated on the modules (cf. Section 2), the modules are usually also the primary technology carriers and thus often the starting point of innovations. For this reason, it is recommended that the awarding of modules be preceded by a concept competition that enables evaluation of the technology and development competence of potential suppliers. Due to the level of innovation and the large number of requirements to be taken into account from the different target products (cf. Section 3), the development of new modules is considerably costlier than later integration development. Therefore, the development effort and the development risk are accordingly high for the supplier. The quality assurance within the module development process is extremely complex and requires a close collaboration between OEM and supplier. In addition, the new development of modules involving technical innovations also touches on intellectual property issues. A division of the award volume, which is still done within development is therefore - in contrast to the integration development - not viable. The supplier can only be motivated to undertake the considerable development effort and to take on the development risk if, at the same time, later series production is also awarded to a significant extent. However, since the developed modules are then used in several products and product generations, the later volume of series delivery is so large that it opens up the possibility of dividing the award volume into different batches, which can then be awarded to different suppliers. The division of the batches should be staggered over time (e.g., depending on the planned vehicle launches) in order to be able to control the degree of capacity utilisation of the suppliers and also consider regional aspects (such as the supply of different production facilities) in order to reduce logistics costs and satisfy local content requirements. The supplier to whom the module volume was originally awarded develops the module and, at the same time, gets the award for the first, mostly very extensive, batch for series delivery so that the development effort pays off for this supplier (Fig. 9).

This supplier can also apply again when later batches are being awarded. However, the supplier already knows when the first batch of the production volume is awarded that the entire awarding volume will be distributed among several suppliers. Depending on the volume of the module, it may also be the case that the supplier who originally developed the module does not have the capacity to solely supply the global production volumes required by the OEM.



Fig. 9 Awarding process for modules

The division of award volumes in later series delivery requires strategic planning which must be anchored both institutionally and organisationally in the committee landscape of the OEM, e.g., in the form of a strategic award steering committee. The two most important representatives in this body, which must also include representatives from production logistics and quality management, are purchasing and development. Within this body, a strategic procurement roadmap must be developed which considers both the planned product launches and scheduling of technical innovations as well as the OEM's global procurement targets and the supplier's assessment in terms of their strategic direction, economic stability and their production capacity. The long-term planning of the awarding of modules thus requires a much more intensive coordination between development and purchasing than the procurement of purely project-specific volumes with a comparatively short-term planning horizon.

The example of Toyota [42-44] impressively demonstrates the importance of product design for manufacturing and assembly in the context of strategic quality management. Toyota sees itself primarily as a production company where development work allows for function, quality and efficiency, but these are actually realised in the factory. The design for manufacturing therefore has absolute priority in the Toyota development system. The joint development work with the suppliers provides for close and detailed coordination throughout the supplier network which aims to streamline the processes, synchronises the value streams and matches production systems along the entire value chain [14, 44-46].

Applied to the approach outlined in this section for the design of the module awarding process, this means that the OEM and the supplier to whom the development contract and the first batch for a module volume was awarded both share a common responsibility for design for manufacturing and the definition of an optimal production and assembly process. This process must then be specified with binding nature in subsequent awards for all other suppliers for this procurement volume. This requires that the production process is based on best-practice solutions that can be reliably implemented by every potential supplier. In order to ensure this, the OEM must again specifically acquire knowledge about the production and assembly processes of modules and integration volumes across several stages of the value chain. For certain key scopes of particular technical or monetary importance, this may also include a small pilot production and assembly line at the OEM. This facility has only a minor importance in terms of production volume and primarily fosters the development and continuous improvement of manufacturing and assembly processes. If this is not possible and the complexity of the awarded volume requires specific knowledge in terms of development and production which only one or a few suppliers have, then the acquisition of shares of suppliers following the Toyota model could be a conceivable alternative in individual cases for securing a long-term partnership. In this way, if necessary, exclusivity in cooperation can be ensured, which prevents the outflow of know-how through the development partner to potential competitors.

6. Conclusion

The individualisation of demand and the internationalisation of the geographical orientation of companies as well as shorter technology cycles have made the adequate handling of complexity and dynamics a decisive competitive factor in almost all industries [47]. The main question is how to reduce the complexity of product creation without restricting the range of products offered by companies. Modular product architectures, which serve as the basis for the development of modular product families, are of particular importance in this context as they enable the provision of a high number of variants and the realisation of short product life cycles while simultaneously opening up standardisation potentials in the product creation process.

In this paper we proposed a comprehensive approach to fully reap the benefits of modular product architectures in the collaborative development of complex products. This approach encompasses necessary changes to the design of the product development process and the awarding process as well as a new collaboration model for the integration of suppliers during product development.

Firstly, we have shown that the development of a modular product family requires a special design of the development processes which considers the dual character of the development task [16]. This duality exists in the development of standardised modules on the one hand, and sufficiently differentiated overall products of high coherence on the other hand. In order to meet both requirements, the module development process has to be temporally decoupled from the development process of the overall products. A strategic steering committee should be implemented that reflects the different product views of different functional departments and business units. This ensures that the modules meet the requirements of the target products.

Secondly, we proposed a new collaboration model with external development partners as part of the redesigned product development process. In order to achieve effective cross-product standardisation, the OEM must again control the development of all major product components to be able to specify standard modules to be used in different products. This forces the OEM to collaborate directly with the second and third tier suppliers in module development and take over responsibility for awarding modules within procurement batches. However, the specification of modules for certain technical systems implies the conceptual design of these systems. Thus, the OEM must again take over the responsibility for the system-technical integration of product-specific procurement volumes during development. As a result, the OEM must reacquire specific knowledge regarding the function and structure of the modules involves the consideration of requirements from several target products and the subsequent development of the overall products requires close coordination between the development engineers responsible for the module development and the development engineer responsible for the product-specific integration and application, the development task at the OEM becomes more complex overall.

Finally, we showed how to organise the awarding process, in order to generate economies of scale and, at the same time, ensure a robust design of the supply chain. With respect to the awarding process a distinction must be made between the award of development services and production volumes as well as between the module and integration volumes. The separation of the module and product development process allows for a two-stage awarding process in which initially only the development up to the design freeze and then later the remaining series assurance along with the production output, i.e. assembly integration, is awarded. In this way, more competition as well as cost transparency and security can be realised when awarding assembly integration in series production. When awarding the modules, there is a field of potential conflict between generating the greatest possible economies of scale and avoiding over-dependence on

individual suppliers. This can only be resolved by dividing the entire procurement volume for the series delivery of several target products into different batches which will be awarded separately. Due to the complexity and level of innovation of module development, it is not possible to divide up the development scope. Since development costs and risks are accordingly high for the supplier, the first award of a module, in addition to the complete development order, typically must also contain the first production batch in series delivery with a correspondingly large scope.

With regard to current and future development, it can be said that complex products such as automobiles are increasingly becoming product service systems. In particular, the higher level of electronics and software (e.g., in-drive entertainment systems, driverless driving, car-to-car communication) hereby leads to new development processes and a reorganisation of production chains as well as to changed power relations between OEM and certain suppliers. In particular, the question arises as to who will *own* which customer data or who can use it. As a result, on the one hand, questions about the scope of outsourcing and the tailoring of modules must be posed again. On the other hand, however, the choice of individual product and process development partners and the design of development networks must also once again be questioned. An example is the purchase of the map service *here* by BMW, Mercedes and Audi for 2.8 billion euros in 2015, which in this context can also lead to challenges in the design of modules beyond OEM borders, which creates further need for future research.

References

- [1] Ulrich, K.T., Eppinger, S.D., Yang, M.C. (2020). *Product design and development,* Seventh edition, McGraw-Hill, New York, USA.
- [2] Eitelwein, O. (2009). *Modular architectures in firms and value systems: Antecedents, structures, performance impact*, Stiftung Wiss. Hochschule f. Unternehmensführung, Vallendar, Germany.
- [3] Göpfert, J. (2013). Modulare Produktentwicklung: Zur gemeinsamen Gestaltung von Technik und Organisation, Wiesbaden, Gabler, Norderstedt, Germany.
- [4] Wagner, H. (1999). Modularisierung von neuronalen Netzen, Doctoral dissertation, Technischen Fakultät der Universität Bielefeld, Bielefeld, Germany, <u>https://d-nb.info/957576080/34</u>.
- [5] Maier, M.W., Rechtin, E. (2009). *The art of systems architecting*, Third edition, CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, USA.
- [6] Haberfellner, R., de Weck, O., Fricke, E., Vössner, S. (2019). *Systems engineering, Fundamentals and applications,* Springer Nature, Cham, Switzerland, <u>doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-13431-0</u>.
- [7] Simon, H.A. (1962). The architecture of complexity, In: *Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society*, Vol. 106, No. 6, 467-482.
- [8] Simon, H.A. (1973). The organization of complex systems, In: Pattee, H.H. (ed.), *Hierarchy theory: The challenge of complex systems*, G. Braziller, New York, USA, 1-27.
- [9] Koppenhagen, F. (2004). Systematische Ableitung modularer Produktarchitekturen Komplexitätsreduzierung in der Konzeptphase, Shaker Verlag, Aachen, Germany.
- [10] Skirde, H. (2015). Kostenorientierte Bewertung modularer Produktarchitekturen, Josef Eul Verlag GmbH, Lohmar, Germany.
- [11] Mikkola, J.H. (2007). Management of product architecture modularity for mass customization: Modeling and theoretical considerations, *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, Vol. 54, No. 1, 57-69, <u>doi: 10.1109/ TEM.2006.889067</u>.
- [12] Foroughi, K. (2014). *Gestaltung eines Vorgehensmodells zur Umsetzung von Lean Development entlang der Supply Chain*, Otto-von-Guericke-Univ., Inst. für Logistik und Materialflusstechnikf per Borsch, Magdeburg, Germany.
- [13] Zirpoli, F., Becker, M.C. (2011). The limits of design and engineering outsourcing: Performance integration and the unfulfilled promises of modularity, *R&D Management*, Vol. 41, No. 1, 21-43, <u>doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9310.2010.</u> 00629.x.
- [14] Morgan, J.M., Liker, J.K. (2006). *The Toyota product development system, Integrating people, process, and technology,* First edition, Productivity Press, Boca Raton, USA, <u>doi: 10.4324/9781482293746.</u>
- [15] Daim, T.U., Oliver, T., Phaal, R. (2018). *Technology roadmapping*, World Scientific Publishing, New Jersey, USA, <u>doi: 10.1142/9789813235342</u>.
- [16] Koppenhagen, F. (2011). Verzahnte Produktentwicklung Wirksames Komplexitätsmanagement durch die kohärente Gestaltung von Produktarchitektur, Entwicklungsorganisation und Entwicklungsprozess, *Industrie Management*, Vol. 27, No. 5, 13-16.
- [17] Koppenhagen, F. (2014). Modulare Produktarchitekturen Komplexitätsmanagement in der frühen Phase der Produktentwicklung, In: Schoeneberg, K.-P. (ed.), Komplexitätsmanagement in Unternehmen - Herausforderungen im Umgang mit Dynamik, Unsicherheit und Komplexität meistern, Springer, Wiesbaden, Germany, 113-162, doi: 10.1007/978-3-658-01284-7 7.

- [18] Imai, K.-I., Nonaka, I., Takeuchi, H. (1985). Managing the new product development process: How Japanese companies learn and unlearn, In: Hayes, R., Clark, K., Lorenz, C. (eds), *The Uneasy Alliance: Managing the Productivity-Technology Dilemma*, Harvard Business School Press, Boston, USA, 337-375.
- [19] Asanuma, B. (1985). The contractual framework for parts supply in the Japanese automobile industry, *Japanese Economic Studies*, Vol. 13, No. 4, 54-78, <u>doi: 10.2753/JES1097-203X130454.</u>
- [20] Clark, K.B. (1989). Project scope and project performance: The effect of parts strategy and supplier involvement on product development, *Management Science*, Vol. 35, No. 10, 1247-1263, <u>doi: 10.1287/mnsc.35.10.1247</u>.
- [21] Hartley, J.L., Meredith, J.R., McCutcheon, D., Kamath, E.R. (1997). Suppliers' contributions to product development: an exploratory study, *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, Vol. 44, No. 3, 258-267, <u>doi: 10.1109</u> /<u>17.618077</u>.
- [22] Laseter, T.M., Ramdas, K. (2002). Product types and supplier roles in product development: an exploratory analysis, *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, Vol. 49, No. 2, 107-118, <u>doi: 10.1109/TEM.2002.1010879</u>.
- [23] Danese, P., Filippini, R. (2010). Modularity and the impact on new product development time performance: Investigating the moderating effects of supplier involvement and interfunctional integration, *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, Vol. 30, No. 11, 1191-1209, <u>doi: 10.1108/01443571011087387</u>.
- [24] Pereira, R., Ro, Y.K., Liker, J.K. (2014). Product development and failures in learning from best practices in U.S. auto: A supplier perspective, *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, Vol. 61, No. 3, 545-556, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.1109/TEM.2014.2323060</u>.
- [25] Held, T. (2015). Supplier involvement in product development: A literature review covering three decades of research, In: *Proceedings of the 24th Annual International Purchasing and Supply Education and Research Association Conference*, Amsterdam, Netherlands, 48-57.
- [26] Johnsen, T.E. (2009). Supplier involvement in new product development and innovation: Taking stock and looking to the future, *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, Vol. 15, No. 3, 187-197, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.pursup. 2009.03.008</u>.
- [27] Pandremenos, J., Paralikas, H., Salonitis, K., Chryssolouris, G. (2009). Modularity concepts for the automotive industry: A critical review, *CIRP Journal of Manufacturing, Science and Technology*, Vol. 1, No. 3, 148-152, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.1016/j.cirpj.2008.09.012</u>.
- [28] Becker, M., Zirpoli, F. (2008). Beyond product architecture: Addressing the challenges of complex product development, In: *Proceedings of 25th Druid Conference*, Copenhagen, Denmark, 39 pages.
- [29] Zirpoli, F., Camuffo, A. (2009). Product architecture, inter-firm vertical coordination and knowledge partitioning in the auto industry, *European Management Review*, Vol. 6, No. 4, 250-264, <u>doi: 10.1057/emr.2009.25</u>.
- [30] Wolters, H. (1995). Modul und Systembeschaffung in der Automobilindustrie: Gestaltung der Kooperation zwischen europäischen Hersteller und Zulieferunternehmen, Gabler, Wiesbaden, Germany.
- [31] Hackenberg, U., Hirtreiter, K., Rummerl, C. (1997). Entwicklungs- und Produktionssynergien der Baukastensystematik, In: *ATZ – Automobiltechnische Zeitschrift, Sonderausgabe "Der neue Audi A6",* Vol. 99, No. 3, 48-57.
- [32] Huber, G., Kuonath, K. (1997). Das Modulkonzept der Mercedes-Benz A-Klasse, In: *VDI-Berichte, 1343, Neue Wege in der Fahrzeugentwicklung,* VDI, Düsseldorf, Germany, 21-33.
- [33] Fixson, S.K., Ro, Y., Liker, J.K. (2005). Modularisation and outsourcing: Who drives whom? A study of generational sequences in the US automotive cockpit industry, *International Journal of Automotive Technology and Man*agement, Vol. 5, No. 2, 166-183, doi: 10.1504/IJATM.2005.007181.
- [34] Henderson, R.M., Clark, K.B. (1990). Architectural innovation: The reconfiguration of existing product technologies and the failure of established firms, *Administrative Science Quarterly*, Vol. 35, No. 1, 9-30, <u>doi: 10.2307/ 2393549</u>.
- [35] Brusoni, S., Prencipe, A. (2001). Unpacking the black box of modularity: Technologies, products and organizations, *Industrial and Corporate Change*, Vol. 10, No. 1, 179-205, <u>doi: 10.1093/icc/10.1.179</u>.
- [36] Takeishi, A. (2002). Knowledge partitioning in the interfirm division of labor: The case of automotive product development, *Organization Science*, Vol. 13, No. 3, 321-338, <u>doi: 10.1287/orsc.13.3.321.2779</u>.
- [37] Lee, J., Veloso, F.M. (2008). Interfirm innovation under uncertainty: Empirical evidence for strategic knowledge partitioning, *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, Vol. 25, No. 5, 418-435, <u>doi: 10.1111/j.1540-5885.</u> 2008.00312.x.
- [38] Stephan, M., Pfaffmann, E., Sanchez, R. (2008). Modularity in cooperative product development: The case of the MCC 'smart' car," *International Journal of Technology Management*, Vol. 42, No. 4, 439-458, <u>doi: 10.1504/IJTM.</u> 2008.019385.
- [39] Takeishi, A., Fujimoto, T. (2003). Modularisation in the car industry: Interlinked multiple hierarchies of product, production and supplier systems, In: Prencipe, A., Davies, A., Hobday, M. (eds), *The business of systems integration*, Oxford University Press, Oxford, United Kingdom, 254-278, <u>doi: 10.1093/0199263221.003.0013</u>.
- [40] MacDuffie, J.P. (2008). *Technological and organizational barriers to modularity: Persistent integrality in the global automotive industry*, Mimeo, Wharton, Philadelphia, USA.
- [41] Morgan, J.M., Liker, J.K. (2018). Designing the future: How Ford, Toyota, and other world-class organizations use lean product development to drive innovation and transform their business, McGraw-Hill Education, New York, USA.
- [42] Fourcade, F., Midler, C. (2005). The role of 1st tier suppliers in automotive product modularization: The search for a coherent strategy, *International Journal of Automotive Technology and Management*, Vol. 5, No. 2, 164-165, <u>doi: 10.1504/IJATM.2005.007180</u>.
- [43] Schaede, U. (2010). Globalisation and the reorganization of Japan's auto parts industry, *International Journal of Automotive Technology and Management*, Vol. 10, No. 2-3, 270-288, <u>doi: 10.1504/IJATM.2010.032628</u>.

- [44] Morgan, J.M. (2002). High performance product development: A systems approach to learn product development process, Ph.D. dissertation, University of Michigan, Michigan, USA, <u>http://hdl.handle.net/2027.42/132677</u>.
- [45] Ward, A.C., Liker, J.K., Christiano, J.J., Sobek II, D.K. (1995). The second Toyota paradox: How delaying decisions can make better cars faster, Sloan Management Review 36 (3), 43–61 (Spring 1995), *Long Range Planning*, Vol. 28, No. 4, 129, <u>doi: 10.1016/0024-6301(95)94310-u</u>.
- [46] Liker, J.K., Sobek, D.K., Ward, A.C., Cristiano, J.J. (1996). Involving suppliers in product development in the United States and Japan: Evidence for set-based concurrent engineering, *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, Vol. 43, No. 2, 165-178, doi: 10.1109/17.509982.
- [47] Kersten, W., Koppenhagen, F., Meyer, C. (2004). Strategisches Komplexitätsmanagement durch Modularisierung in der Produktentwicklung In: Spath, D. (ed.), *Forschungs- und Technologiemanagement: Potenziale nutzen – Zukunft gestalten*, Carl Hanser, München, Germany, 211-218.

Journal

Advances in Production Engineering & Management Volume 16 | Number 1 | March 2021 | pp 99–111 https://doi.org/10.14743/apem2021.1.387 **ISSN 1854-6250** Journal home: apem-journal.org Original scientific paper

Exploring the link between project management approach and project success dimensions: A structural model approach

Ciric, D.^a, Delic, M.^{a,*}, Lalic, B.^a, Gracanin, D.^a, Lolic, T.^a

^aUniversity of Novi Sad, Faculty of Technical Sciences, Novi Sad, Serbia

ABSTRACT

Aligning the project management approach to a particular project is considered to be essential for project success. Based on the literature review, in this research, the project management approach is analyzed through differentiation between agile and traditional approaches within the specific managerial aspects. This research aimed to contrast these two project management approaches and explore their impact on different project success dimensions. The research was conducted on a sample of 227 project management professionals worldwide, using the PLS-SEM method. Research results denounced that, in most cases, the traditional approach is applied in project initiation and planning. It has proven to provide higher-level od project success, while, within all other managerial aspects considered in this research, they gravitate more towards the agile approach. By combining agile and traditional approaches, organizations can take advantage of some benefits of agile development without abandoning the stability provided by a traditional approach. The study is relevant for project management practitioners tailoring down the success-oriented project management approach and developing project management contingency theory for academics.

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Project management approach; Agile; Traditional; Project success; Structural-model approach

**Corresponding author:* delic@uns.ac.rs (Delic, M.)

Article history: Received 31 January 2020 Revised 9 February 2020 Accepted 13 February 2020



Content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International Licence (CC BY 4.0). Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.

1. Introduction

Contemporary challenges, dynamic, uncertain environments, and stakeholders increase project complexity [1]. There are many different, and in some cases, overlapping approaches to manage the complexities of any given project, make it difficult to determine which one is suitable to use to achieve project success [2]. Things get further complicated as the universal project success definition is still challenging to find as it is discordantly discussed in the literature. Despite extensive research in recent years, there has been little agreement on what causes project success and how. Many authors argue that aligning the project management approach to a particular project [2-4], particularly correctly matching the project characteristics [5], is essential for project success. In a current condition of rapid change and uncertainty, some authors considered that project success is determined by how project risks are managed [6]. Based on the literature review and relevant literature sources, in this research, a project management approach is analyzed through differentiation between agile and traditional approaches. The early adopters of agile believe that agile may positively affect project success [7-9]. Followers of a more traditional approach believe that agile is more chaotic and lacks the formal procedural rigor that the former possess [10], affecting project success. This raises questions about the value and effectiveness of different project management approaches and how they link with project success. There is a lack of research in this field, signaling a clear gap in the literature. This research aims to contrast these two project management approaches and explore their impact on different project success dimensions. The following research question is posed: How agile and traditional project management approaches differentiate concerning their impact on different project success dimensions within the project management process's specific managerial aspects? To answer this question, we empirically tested the relationship between the project management approach, applied within the specific managerial aspect, and individual project success dimensions. This was done on a sample of 227 project management professionals worldwide, using the PLS-SEM method. Such a course of action was taken due to this research's exploratory nature [11]. The research is relevant for project management practitioners tailoring down the success-oriented project management approach and developing project management contingency theory for academics.

The paper's remainder is structured as follows. Section 2 reviews the literature on project management approach and project success. Section 3 research model with research questions and hypotheses is given, while in Section 4 research method, sample, and data collection process are presented. In Section 5, statistical data and results are presented and discussed, followed by a conclusion with limitations and suggestions for further research.

2. Literature review

2.1 Project management approach

As global demands change, organizations move from a traditional, hierarchical management approach based upon command and control to an agile project management approach based upon collaboration, flexibility, and dynamism [12]. The traditional approach pursues a goal of logical sequencing that required deliverables to be set in advance and project development evaluated based on performance at a series of capabilities gated reviews [13]. As opposed to the traditional ones, agile management relies much more heavily on the training and skills of a collaborative cross-functional team to adapt the methodology to a problem that they are attempting to solve and to deliver projects piece by piece and make rapid adjustments as needed to speed up the phases of the project [14]. Bringing a project to a successful closing requires integrating numerous management variables such as planning, directing, team building, team communication, cost and schedule management, client involvement, requirements, change management, stakeholders management, etc. The multiple factors involved in management that are subject to changes in variables external to the organization and organizational management models cannot be a static or deterministic concept [15]. To differentiate the agile and traditional project management approach, according to different project variables, identified in the literature, the authors defined five groups: (1) project initiation and planning, (2) personnel management, (3) client involvement, (4) modularity of work and (5) troubleshooting. Each group describes a specific managerial aspect of the project management process. Project initiation and planning refer to how the project is initiated and planned – the level and complexity of upfront planning, clarity, and stability of project scope and requirements. Personnel management refers to the way how the project team collaborates, how work is organised, and what is the management style. Client involvement describes the importance and level of client involvement and commitment throughout the whole project, lifecycle. The modularity of work refers to the way how project work is done, describing the development process (the value of modularized and incremental work, sequence of iterations, prioritization). Troubleshooting refers to the way how changes in requirements are managed and implemented. Differences between the agile and traditional project management approach within the specific managerial aspects of the project management process, identified in the literature, are presented in Table 1.

	Table T Aglie VS.	traditional approach in project managen	lielit [15, 10-19]	
	Variable	Agile	Traditional	
Project initiation	Scope	Largely emergent, rapid change; de- signed for current and foreseeable requirements	Known early, largely stable; designed for current requirements	
and planning	Project planning	Complex; iterative	Linear	
	Contract	Based on time and resources based (variable-price)	Based on fixed prices, time, and scope	
	Team collaboration	Collaborative; agile	Plan oriented; less collaboration	
Doroonnol	Team location	Distributed due to different physical locations	Co-located-all located at the same place	
management	Team organization	Self-organized and cross-functional teams; 100 % dedicated to the project	Strict separation of roles; access to external knowledge; pre-structured teams; spread across different pro- jects	
	Management style	Leadership and collaboration	Command and control	
Client involvement	Client involvement and commitment	Dedicated, knowledgeable; co-located; representative, frequent collaboration	Minimal commitments; not co- located and not empowered	
	Development model	Evolutionary-delivery model (iterative or adaptive models)	Linear or incremental (anticipatory)	
Modularity of work	Fundamental assumption	Continuous design improvement and testing based on rapid feedback and change	Systems are fully specifiable, pre- dictable, and are built through me- ticulous and extensive planning	
	Quality control	Continuous control of requirements; design and solutions, continuous test- ing	Heavy planning and strict control; late heavy testing	
	Prioritization	Client prioritized; time-boxed delivery	Manager negotiated; scope-based delivery	
Troubleshooting	Requirements	Creative, innovative; requirements unclear; changes expected	Precise initial requirements; low change rate expected	

Table 1 Agile vs. traditional approach in project management [13, 16-19]

2.2 Project success dimensions

There are various opinions on what composes project success and criteria by which the project should be judged. Still, no general agreement on project success has emerged appropriate for all projects [20, 21]. A specific project should focus on its explicit dimensions, and these dimensions should be determined according to the particular project type [22]. Traditional project success measures focused on the so-called iron triangle, completing the defined scope of work to specification, and meeting the time and budget goals [23]. Although this may seem right in some cases and suitable in the short run when time is critical, quite often, what appeared to be a troubled project, with extensive delays and overruns, turned out later to be a great business success [24].

Table 2 The five dimensions of project success [21]					
Project success dimension	Measures	Time			
Project efficiency	Meeting schedule goal	End of the project			
· ·	Meeting budget goal	· /			
	Team morale				
Impact on the team	Skill development	End of the project			
impact on the team	Team member growth	End of the project			
	Team member retention				
	Meeting functional performance				
	Meeting technical specifications				
Impact on the customer	Fulfilling customer's needs	Months following project			
impact on the customer	Solving customer's problem	Month's following project			
	The customer is using the products				
	Customer satisfaction				
Business success	Commercial success	Vears following project			
Dusiness success	Creating a large market share	rears following project			
	Creating a new market				
Preparing for the future	Creating a new product line	Years following project			
	Developing a new technology				

But literature has also examined the broader impact of projects on the business. Pinto and Slevin [20] had acknowledged three aspects of project success concerning the implementation process, the perceived value of the project, and customer satisfaction with the delivered project outcome. Shenhar & Dvir [21] proposed a new way to look at project success. Rather than seeing projects as tasks that lead to the meeting time, budget, and performance goals, one should view projects in their broader sense. They suggested a model based on five project success dimensions, judged over different timescales (see Table 2). This model was selected to assess individual project success dimensions in this research.

3. The research model: The relationship between project management approach and project success dimensions

Organizations are using a particular project management approach to collect practices, expecting greatly improved project performance and project success. As a collection of practices, the project management approach collectively impacts different project success dimensions. However, one approach may have a more significant impact than others, and their impact could differ concerning different project success dimensions. As argued by some authors, the traditional project management approach, which exclusively pursues the success criteria of costs, time, quality, and meeting technical requirements, has become considered ineffective [25]. Previous studies analyzed the impact of individual approaches or specific project management practices, or management variables on project success, without considering the impact on different project success dimensions, as perceived in this research. Recognizing this as exploratory research, the authors intended merely to explore the research questions. The research framework (see Fig. 1) was developed to provide empirical evidence and test whether the agile and traditional approach differentiates concerning their impact on different project success dimensions, taking into account various management aspects. For research purposes, this research considered five questions and 25 hypotheses (see Table 3).



Fig. 1 The research model

	rubie o rescar en questions una hypothesis
Question 1	How agile and traditional project management approach differentiate concerning their impact on project success dimension - Impact on the team?
<i>H</i> ₁	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Project initiation and planning - The project management ap-
11-	Agile ve Traditional annuage in Demonral management. Design menagement annuage is related
П2	Agne vs. Traditional approach in Personnel management - Project management approach is relat-
Ц.	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Client involvement. Droject management approach is related to
113	nroject success dimension - Impact on the team
н.	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Modularity of work - Project management approach is related to
114	nroject success dimension - Impact on the team
Hr	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Troubleshooting - Project management approach is related to
115	project success dimension - Impact on the team
Ouestion	How agile and traditional project management approach differentiate concerning their impact
2	on project success dimension - Project efficiency?
H ₆	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Project initiation and planning - Project management approach is
	related to project success dimension - Project efficiency
H_7	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Personnel management - Project management approach is relat-
	ed to project success dimension - Project efficiency
H_8	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Client involvement - Project management approach is related to
	project success dimension - Project efficiency
H_9	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Modularity of work - Project management approach is related to
	project success dimension - Project efficiency
H_{10}	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Troubleshooting - Project management approach is related to
	project success dimension - Project efficiency
Question	How agile and traditional project management approach differentiate concerning their impact
3	on project success dimension - Impact on the customer/client?
H_{11}	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Project initiation and planning - Project management approach is
	related to project success dimension - Impact on the customer/client
H_{12}	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Personnel management - Project management approach is relat-
	ed to project success dimension - Impact on the customer/client
H_{13}	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Client involvement - Project management approach is related to
11	project success dimension - impact on the customer/client
H 14	Agne vs. Traditional approach in Modularity of work - Project management approach is related to
Har	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Troubleshooting - Project management approach is related to
1115	nroject success dimension - Impact on the customer/client
Question	How agile and traditional project management approach differentiate concerning their impact
4	on project success dimension - Business success?
H_{16}	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Project initiation and planning - Project management approach is
	related to project success dimension - Business Success
H_{17}	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Personnel management - Project management approach is relat-
	ed to project success dimension - Business Success
H_{18}	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Client involvement - Project management approach is related to
	project success dimension - Business Success
H_{19}	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Modularity of work - Project management approach is related to
	project success dimension - Business Success
H_{20}	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Troubleshooting - Project management approach is related to
	project success dimension - Business Success
Question	How agile and traditional project management approach differentiate concerning their impact
5	on project success dimension - Preparing for the future?
H_{21}	Agile vs. Traditional approach in Project initiation and planning - Project management approach is
11	related to project success dimension - Preparing for the future
H22	Agile vs. I raditional approach in Personnel management - Project management approach is relat-
Ш	eu to project success annension - Preparing for the future
H23	Agne vs. realitional approach in cheft involvement - Project management approach is related to
Ц _а ,	project success uniterision - riepaining for the future Agile vs. Traditional approach in Modularity of work - Droiget management approach is related to
11 24	ngie vs. Hautional approach in mountainty of work - Project management approach is related to
Har	Agile vs. Traditional annroach in Troubleshooting - Project management annroach is related to
1123	project success dimension - Preparing for the future
	r ,,

Table 3 Reseau	ch questions :	and hypothesis
----------------	----------------	----------------

4. The research method

This research was based on the PLS-SEM method due to its exploratory nature [11]. Aside from the theoretical interpretation in prior studies, to the best of authors' knowledge, dimensions of project management approach and project success still lacks in its empirical validation, concerning cross-sectional samples and diverse research populations, as well as from the lacks of inclusion of various organizational types, sectors, and industries in such studies. Shenhar et al. [22] have empirically validated only four factors of project success. Shenhar & Dvir [21] proposed the fifth factor's inclusion, "impact on the team", afterward. In time, the five-factor solution of project success was empirically tested with exploratory factor analysis (EFA) by Mir & Pinnington [26]. However, as a method of factor extraction, rather than to cofound factor solution on maximum likelihood (ML), the authors have used principal component analysis (PCA), which is a simple linear combination of variables; therefore, it cannot be considered as "true" factor analysis [27]. Similarly, the constitution of project management approach dimensions concerning their manifest variables has yet, to be empirically tested and validated within the context of various research environments and their specifics. Thus, rather than "confirm" factor structure, this research is focused more on exploring the relations between research dimensions. Nevertheless, to achieve this, construct reliability and validity for project success factors is carried out in section 5.1, while the factor structure of project management approach was mimicked by calculating the composite score across its 21 manifest variables (summation of respondents' scores). Specifically, following literature recommendations, four items were used to calculate respondents' score, for each of: "Project initiation" (Q30-Q33), "Client involvement" (Q39-Q42), and "Troubleshooting" (048-051), while five items were used in the same manner for: "Personnel management" (Q34-Q38) and "Modularity of work" (Q43-Q47).

4.1 Measures and questionnaire development

This research used the originally developed questionnaire for a self-reporting (subjective) assessment of project management approach and project success, as perceived by respondents. The questionnaire had five sections, with 66 questions in total. As an independent variable, the project management approach was operationalized with 21 questions and analyzed through differentiation between agile and traditional project management approaches (see Table 1). The variables were classified into five groups: (1) project initiation and planning, (2) personnel management, (3) client involvement, (4) modularity of work, and (5) troubleshooting. While the fife-dimension framework for assessing project success, as a dependent variable, consisted of (1) project efficiency, (2) impact on team, (3) impact on customer/client, (4) business and direct organizational success, and (5) preparing for the future, taking the project success assessment questionnaire proposed by Shenhar & Dvir [21]. The operationalization of project success was measured with at least four manifest variables for project efficiency, impact on the customer/client, five questions for impact on the team, business and directional success, and preparing for the future. To capture respondents' self-reporting assessment of project management approach, to differentiate responses between agile and traditional, a continuum of seven-point, bipolar Likert type scale was used [28], where a far-left point (i.e., 1) is a measure of a more agile approach, opposed to a far-right measure of more, traditional approach (i.e., 7). Given that they are different by nature, in contrast to the aforementioned, a unipolar, five-point Likert type scale was used [28] to measure responses regarding the state of project success factors (1-strongly disagree, 5-strongly agree).

4.2 Data collection and sample demographic

The questionnaire was distributed through the Project Management Institute (PMI) worldwide network. PMI is the world's leading project management organization with over 500,000 global members, project professionals, and over 300 Local chapters internationally. Data collection was done electronically, using surveymonkey.com for the distribution process. Invitations to fill out the questionnaire were sent by email to PMI global members, through local chapters, and posted in PMI LinkedIn and other professional groups. This research was based on a random sample

method of project managers. The distribution process was conducted following Dillman's approach [29]; thus, only one reply was accepted from the respondents. The exact number of targeted project management professionals and response rate could not be specified, considering that PMI chapters worldwide distributed the questionnaire through their professional network, but they could not share the information about their contact list. After the two months, 314 responses were obtained; however, only 227 were treated as a "completed survey." 87 responses were omitted from the final respondents' database due to the potential risk of non-engaged bias, measured by the very low standard deviations in responses (below 0.2) or the low percentage of non-completed questions (below 70 %). To ensure sample representativeness, 227 respondents were compared with the omitted ones. The results show that there are no differences between these two groups. The final sample consisted of 167 males (73.6 %) and 60 females (26.4 %), from 49 different countries worldwide (42.7 % from Europe, 22 % from North America, 16.3 % from Asia,14.5 % from South America, 3.1% from Australia and 1.3 % from Africa). 148 respondents had 10 or more years of project management working experience, and more than 80 % of respondents have a professional PM certification. The organizations varied in size with 43 (18.9 %) organizations with 1-50 employees, 30 (13.2 %) with 51-200 employees, 21 (9.3 %) with 201-500 employees, 27 (11.9 %) 501-1000 employees, and 106 (46.7 %) with over 1000 employees. Respondents came from organisations from diverse industries: 25 % from IT, 11.5 % finance & financial services, 8.8 % construction, machinery, and homes, 8.4 % telecommunications, 7.5 % utilities, energy, and extraction, 7.5% government, 5.3 % education, 4.8 % manufacturing, 4 % healthcare & pharmaceuticals, 3.1 % business support & logistics, 3.1% insurance, 2.2 % airlines & aerospace (including defence), 1.8 % food & beverages, 1.8 % transportation & delivery, and other industries have less than 1 %.

5. Data analysis, results, and discussion

The research model was evaluated using a two-step approach [11]. The assessment of the measurement model was carried out first. Empirical evaluation of the research model was carried out afterward.

5.1 Measurement model

To test the reflective measurement model of "Project Success," confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was used. Hence, construct reliability, composite reliability, convergent, and discriminant validity were conducted [11]. A construct reliability test (Cronbach's α) and composite reliability (CR) were carried out following respectful literature recommendations [11,30]. Accordingly, the values of 0.70 and above are acceptable. Further, outer loadings and average variance extracted (AVE) were used to check convergent validity. Consequently, external loadings should be at least 0.7 and statistically significant ($t \ge 1.96$) [11], which was not the case for one item of "Business success" (Q55.3) and "Preparing for the future" (Q56.3). These items were removed from the measurement model [11]. Moreover, AVE values should be at least 0.5 for every measurement model construct [11]. All constructs have met this criterion. To assess discriminant validity, a Fornell-Larcker criterion was used [11]. Accordingly, the measurement model's discriminant validity is met if the reflective constructs have the strongest relationships only with its indicators (e.g., compared with any other construct) [11]. This criterion was also met for all constructs of project success. Finally, collinearity analysis was carried out using VIF (variance inflation factor). Since all of the VIFs were below the value of 3.3, collinearity was not an issue [11]. These values are shown in Table 4.

	Table 4The measurement model statistics											
No.	Construct	Items	Outer-	α	CR	AVE	VIF	1	2	3	4	5
			Loadings									
1	Impact on	5	0.808-	0.896	0.922	0.702	2.058-2.783	0.838 ^{fl}				
	theteam		0.869*									
2	Project	4	0.733-	0.774	0.854	0.594	1.347-1.787	0.586	0.771 ^{FL}			
	efficiency		0.813*									
3	Impact on	4	0.804-	0.873	0.911	0.719	1.943-2.607	0.537	0.671	0.848 ^{FL}		
	the custom-		0.873*									
	er/client											
4	Business	4 (-)	0.759-	0.830	0.885	0.658	1.828-2.207	0.541	0.574	0.585	0.811 ^{fl}	
	success		0.851*									
5	Preparing	4 (-)	0.719-	0.748	0.843	0.573	1.360-1.572	0.455	0.372	0.337	0.464	0.757 ^{FL}
	for the		0.827*									
	futuro											

 α - Cronbach's alpha, CR - composite reliability, AVE - Average variance extracted; VIF - Variance inflation factor * - statistically significant, $t \ge 1.96$; – Construct with removed indicators, ^{FL} – Fornell-Larcker criterion

5.2 Structural model results and discussion

A bootstrapping technique with 5000 subsamples was used for structural model testing of path coefficients. The coefficient of determination (R^2 values) was found to be acceptable [11]. Thus, it could be said that the predictive power of the research model is valuable. An empirically validated and tested research model is given in Fig. 2. These results are shown in Table 5. Concerning the bipolar scale used to capture respondents' feedback on the project management approach, path coefficients (β) of statistically significant relationships ($t \ge 1.96$) with project success factors are also given in the same manner. This is shown in Fig. 3. Bearing in mind that the continuum of far-right point of the scale is oriented towards traditional (higher values) and farleft towards the agile approach (lower values), positive, higher values of path coefficients show strong alignment in traditional, and, opposite to aforementioned, negative values are aligned with agile. Results from Table 5 show that, in most cases, organizations from the research population initiate and plan their projects work traditionally. In contrast, within all other managerial aspects of the project management process, they gravitate more towards the agile approach.

According to the research results empirically tested and validated research model has confirmed 13 out of 25 hypotheses (see table 5, Fig. 2 and Fig. 3) which were defined to answer the research questions. Question 1: How agile and traditional project management approach differentiate concerning their impact on project success dimension-Impact on the team? 4 out of 5 hypotheses confirmed that the project management approach is related to project success dimension impact on the team. Namely, the more traditional approach to project initiation and planning, including higher level and complexity of upfront planning, clarity and stability of project scope and requirements, and linear or incremental development, has a higher positive impact on team satisfaction. It could be assumed that a more anticipatory approach is more desirable for the project team. On the other hand, a more agile approach in team collaboration and organization and a higher level of client involvement and commitment throughout the project life cycle have a higher positive impact on team satisfaction. This is not surprising as agile places a premium on people and their interactions (10). Question 2: How agile and traditional project management approach differentiate concerning their impact on project success dimension-Project efficiency? 1 out of 5 hypotheses confirmed that the project management approach is related to project success dimension project efficiency. Only in project initiation and planning results has shown a strong statistically significant difference between the agile and traditional approaches favoring traditional. A more traditional approach to project initiation and planning, including a higher level and complexity of upfront planning, clarity, and stability of project scope and requirements, has a more substantial positive impact on project efficiency over agile. According to this result, it could be assumed that heavy planning and clarity of scope and requirement are essential for meeting project schedule and budget goals. Question 3: How agile and traditional project management approach differentiate concerning their impact on project success dimension-Impact on *customer/client?* 5 out of 5 hypotheses confirmed that the project management approach is related to project success dimension impact on customer/client. While a more traditional approach to project initiation and planning has a higher positive impact on client satisfaction, all other managerial aspects favor an agile approach. Namely, client satisfaction has shown to be higher when a team collaborates and is organized in a more agile way, with frequent and close collaboration with the client. Also, even though the team is more satisfied with linear and incremental development, it has been shown here that clients value a more agile approach with higher modularity of work and frequent iterations with changes that could be easily implemented during the project. Question 4: How agile and traditional project management approach differentiate concerning their impact on project success dimension-Business success? 1 out of 5 hypotheses confirmed that the project management approach is related to project success dimension business success. Only for troubleshooting, referring to how changes in requirements are managed and implemented, results have shown a strong statistically significant difference between agile and traditional approaches, in favor of agile, when discussing the impact on project benefits in commercial value and market share. Question 5: How agile and traditional project management approach differentiate concerning their impact on project success dimension-Preparing for the future? 2 out of 5 hypotheses confirmed that the project management approach is related to project success dimension preparing for the future. Namely, a more traditional approach to project initiation and planning, including higher level and complexity of upfront planning, clarity and stability of projects scope, and a more agile approach in team collaboration and organization, has a higher positive impact on preparing for the future, meaning creating new technological and operational infrastructure and market opportunities.



Fig. 2 Empirically validated and tested research model

Table 5 The structural model statistics										
Exogenous variable →	Endogenous variable	<i>R</i> ²	β	0.	μ	δ	t	р	Hypothe- sis	Sig.
Project initiation	Impact on team	0.261	0.302	0.302	0.304	0.069	4.372	0.000*	H_1	Yes
Personnel management			·0.247	0.487	0.492	0.058	8.365	0.000*	H_2	Yes
Client involvement			·0.239	0.417	0.422	0.059	7.042	0.000*	H_3	Yes
Modularity of work			0.050	0.263	0.266	0.063	4.197	0.000*	H_4	Yes
Troubleshoot- ing			·0.159	0.074	0.077	0.067	1.101	0.271	H5	No
Project initiation	Project _efficiency	0.346	0.487	-0.247	-0.252	0.063	3.923	0.000*	H_6	Yes
Personnel management			·0.073	-0.073	-0.076	0.064	1.145	0.252	H 7	No
Client involvement			·0.191	-0.105	-0.108	0.071	1.483	0.138	Нв	No
Modularity of work			0.002	-0.137	-0.138	0.072	1.890	0.059	H9	No
Troubleshoot- ing			-0.276	-0.034	-0.034	0.071	0.478	0.633	H10	No
Project initiation	- -Impact on custom- -er/client -	0.221	0.417	-0.239	-0.237	0.065	3.645	0.000*	H_{11}	Yes
Personnel management			·0.105	-0.191	-0.189	0.065	2.956	0.003*	H ₁₂	Yes
Client involvement			·0.135	-0.135	-0.135	0.067	2.019	0.044**	H13	Yes
Modularity of work			·0.021	-0.159	-0.161	0.070	2.253	0.024**	H_{14}	Yes
Troubleshoot- ing			·0.138	-0.266	-0.268	0.063	4.200	0.000*	H_{15}	Yes
Project initiation	Business success	0.312	0.263	0.050	0.050	0.079	0.628	0.530	H ₁₆	No
Personnel management			·0.137	0.002	-0.000	0.073	0.032	0.974	H17	No
Client involvement			·0.159	-0.021	-0.018	0.082	0.251	0.802	H18	No
Modularity of work			0.014	0.014	0.016	0.092	0.156	0.876	H19	No
Troubleshoot- ing			·0.103	-0.245	-0.247	0.086	2.833	0.005*	H20	Yes
Project initiation	Preparing for the future	0.202	0.074	-0.159	-0.156	0.081	1.971	0.049**	H ₂₁	Yes
Personnel management			·0.034	-0.276	-0.274	0.072	3.819	0.000*	H22	Yes
Client involvement			-0.266	-0.138	-0.140	0.085	1.628	0.104	H23	No
Modularity of work			-0.245	-0.103	-0.102	0.095	1.081	0.280	H24	No
Troubleshoot- ing			·0.022	-0.022	-0.024	0.079	0.284	0.776	H25	No

* statistically significant at $\alpha \le 0.005$; ** statistically significant at $\alpha \le 0.05$; β – path coefficient; 0. – original sample; μ – sample mean; δ – standard deviation; t – t statistics (statistically significant at t \ge 1.96)


Fig. 3 Path coefficients of the empirically validated and tested research model

6. Conclusion

Taking a different perspective on the project management approach may provide additional insight into why and how a particular approach, in some managerial aspects, has a higher impact on different project success dimensions. Perceiving this as exploratory research, the authors intended merely to explore the latest research ground. This research considered five questions and 25 hypotheses for testing whether agile and traditional approaches differentiate concerning their impact on different project success dimensions and reveal these differences' nature. Research results denounced that, in most cases, the traditional approach is applied in project initiation and planning. It has proven to provide higher-level od project success, while, within all other managerial aspects considered in this research, they gravitate more towards the agile approach. Based on these results, we can conclude that when we talk about the project management approach, namely, agile and traditional, we should consider combining them, where each makes the most sense. By combining agile and traditional approaches, organizations can take advantage of some benefits of agile development without abandoning the stability provided by a traditional approach. Traditional project management is very comprehensive, and it has been proven to work in diverse project situations. At the same time, agile adds new ideas for addressing the unique project situations focusing on people and collaboration combined with the need to embrace change. This requires having the right agile culture and the proper alignment at the management and team level [30]. The most effective and most natural is to implement agile is under conditions commonly found in the software industry, but it is crucial to determine how much agility is enough. In today's changing environment, organizations are forced to improve risk management to be successful and achieve goals [31]. For each project decision, it is essential to consider the risks of too much versus too little agility and the counterpart risks of doing too much planning [32]. The project management approach should fit the requirements and circumstances of each project but also the project team. A multidisciplinary approach, intense communication, lateral connections between functional units are just some of the prerequisites for more efficient project management [33]. By combining different facets of knowledge about the development activities, project managers can tailor team members' workloads and modify team composition to improve collaboration, coordination, and information exchange [34]. The project management approach's choice, which determines how a project is planned and executed, is of strategic importance to any organization. The chosen project management approach is often

cited among the top reasons projects fail [35]. Each organization must decide the best way to select the most suitable project management approach and whether to have one or more variations.

This work contributes to the existing literature by expanding the research related to project management contingency theory's evolving field. The research results gave more extensive evidence and findings that demonstrate that a more project-specific approach should be adopted by project managers, taking into account the desired impact on different project success dimensions.

This research is limited to the contrasting agile and traditional project management approach and project success using the model by Shenhar & Dvir [21]. Other dimensions of project success could be explored to deepen understanding. In the context of methodological approaches, the limitation is the use of bipolar, Likert-type scale. Thus, it was impossible to grasp a "true" negative relationship between endogenous and exogenous variables. Also, the use of the PMI network for distribution purposes might have, to a certain extent, some influence on responders' opinion, as well on the nature of obtained responses. The distribution process through the PMI network could have some influence on the responses obtained.

Future research should consider project characteristics as moderating variables. In-depth case studies should be conducted by comparing the traditional and agile approaches to see which project scenarios signal a better fit.

Acknowledgment

This work was supported by the Project Management Institute, Inc. under the PMI Thesis Research Grant Program for 2018.

References

- Gajic, S., Palcic, I. (2019). A new framework for complexity analysis in international development projects Results from a Delphi study, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 14, No. 2, 225-238, <u>doi:</u> 10.14743/apem2019.2.324.
- [2] Wysocki, R.K. (2019). *Effective project management: Traditional, agile, extreme, hybrid,* Eighth edition, John Wiley & Sons, Indianapolis, USA, <u>doi: 10.1002/9781119562757.</u>
- [3] Sauser, B.J., Reilly, R.R., Shenhar, A.J. (2009). Why projects fail? How contingency theory can provide new insights A comparative analysis of NASA's Mars climate orbiter loss, *International Journal of Project Management*, Vol. 27, No. 7, 665-679, doi: 10.1016/j.ijproman.2009.01.004.
- [4] Sheffield, J., Lemétayer, J. (2013). Factors associated with the software development agility of successful projects, *International Journal of Project Management*, Vol. 31, No. 3, 459-472, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.ijproman.2012</u>. 09.011.
- [5] Fernandez, D.J., Fernandez, J.D. (2008). Agile project management Agilism versus traditional approaches, Journal of Computer Information Systems, Vol. 49, No. 2, 10-17, <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/ 08874417.2009.11646044</u>.
- [6] Janekova, J., Fabianova, J., Fabian, M. (2019). Assessment of economic efficiency and risk of the project using simulation, *International Journal of Simulation Modelling*, Vol. 18, No. 2, 242-253, <u>doi: 10.2507/IJSIMM18(2)467</u>.
- [7] Berinato, S., The secret to software success, from <u>https://www.cio.com/article/2441472/the-secret-to-software-success.html</u> accessed July 1, 2018.
- [8] Larman, C. (2004). *Agile and iterative development, A manager's guide,* Addison-Wesley Professional, Boston, USA.
- [9] Lindstrom, L., Jeffries, R. (2004). Extreme programming and agile software development methodologies, *Information Systems Management*, Vol. 21, No. 3, 41-52, <u>doi: 10.1201/1078/44432.21.3.20040601/82476.7</u>.
- [10] Vinekar, V., Slinkman, C.W., Nerur, S. (2006). Can agile and traditional systems development approaches coexist? An ambidextrous view, *Information Systems Management*, Vol. 23, No. 3, 31-42, <u>doi: 10.1201/1078.10580530/46108.23.3.20060601/93705.4</u>.
- [11] Hair, J.F., Hult, G.T.M., Ringle, C., Sarstedt, M. (2014). A Primer on Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM), Sage, Thousand Oaks, USA.
- [12] Tripathi, V., Goyal, A.K. (2014). Changing roles and responsibilities from traditional project management to agile project management, *International Journal on Recent and Innovation Trends in Computing and Communication*, Vol. 2, No. 5,1005-1009.
- [13] Serrador, P., Pinto, J.K. (2015). Does agile work? A quantitative analysis of agile project success, *International Journal of Project Management*, Vol. 33, No. 5, 1040-1051, <u>doi: 10.1016/i.jiproman.2015.01.006</u>.
- [14] Project Management Institute. PMI's pulse of the profession: Capturing the value of project management through

organizational agility, from <u>http://www.pmi.org/~/media/PDF/learning/translations/2015/capture-value-organizational-agility.ashx</u>, accessed July 1, 2018.

- [15] Castro-Ríos, G.A., Reyes-Rubiano, R.S., Noguera-Hidalgo, Á.L. (2017). What are management systems? The effect of management style according to system dynamics, *International Journal of Industrial Engineering and Management*, Vol. 8, No. 2, 61-69.
- [16] Špundak, M. (2014). Mixed agile/traditional project management methodology Reality or illusion?, Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, Vol. 119, 939-948, doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.03.105.
- [17] Dybå, T., Dingsøyr, T. (2008). Empirical studies of software development: A systematic review, *Information and Software Technology*, Vol. 50, No. 9-10, 833-859, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.infsof.2008.01.006</u>.
- [18] Imreh, R., Raisinghani, M. (2011). Impact of agile software development on quality within information technology organisations, *Journal of Emerging Trends in Computing and Information Science*, Vol. 2, No. 10, 460-475.
- [19] Ahimbisibwe, A., Cavana, R.Y., Daellenbach, U. (2015). A contingency fit model of critical success factors for software development projects: A comparison of agile and traditional plan-based methodologies, *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, Vol. 28, No. 1, 7-33, doi: 10.1108/JEIM-08-2013-0060.
- [20] Pinto, J.K., Slevin, D.P. (1988). Critical success factors across the project life cycle, *Project Management Journal*, Vol. 19, No. 3, 67-75.
- [21] Shenhar, A.J., Dvir, D. (2007). *Reinventing project management: The diamond approach to successful growth and innovation*, Harvard Business School Press, Boston, USA.
- [22] Shenhar, A.J., Levy, O., Dvir, D. (1997). Mapping the dimensions of project success, *Project Management Journal*, Vol. 28, No. 2, 5-13.
- [23] Atkinson, R. (1999). Project management: Cost, time and quality, two best guesses and a phenomenon, its time to accept other success criteria, *International Journal of Project Management*, Vol. 17, No. 6, 337-342, doi: 10.1016/ S0263-7863(98)00069-6.
- [24] Shenhar, A.J., Dvir, D., Levy, O., Maltz, A.C. (2001). Project success: A multidimensional strategic concept, Long Range Planning, Vol. 34, No. 6, 699-725, doi: 10.1016/S0024-6301(01)00097-8.
- [25] Bourne, M., Mills, J., Wilcox, M., Neely, A., Platts, K. (2000). Designing, implementing and updating performance measurement systems, *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, Vol. 20, No. 7, 754-771, <u>doi: 10.1108/01443570010330739</u>.
- [26] Mir, F.A., Pinnington, A.H. (2014). Exploring the value of project management: Linking project management performance and project success, *International Journal of Project Management*, Vol. 32, No. 2, 202-217, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.1016/j.ijproman.2013.05.012</u>.
- [27] Hair, J.F., Black, W.C., Babin, B.J., Anderson, R.E. (2010). *Multivariate data analysis,* Seventh edition, Pearson Education, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, USA.
- [28] Nunnally, J.C., Bernstein, I.H. (1994). Psychometric Theory, Third edition, McGraw-Hill, New York, USA.
- [29] Dillman, D.A., Smyth, J.D., Christian, L.M. (2008). *Internet, mail, and mixed-mode surveys: The tailored design method*, Third edition, John Wiley and Sons, Hoboken, New York, USA.
- [30] Ciric, D., Lalic, B., Gracanin, D., Tasic, N., Delic, M., Medic, N. (2019). Agile vs. traditional approach in project management: Strategies, challenges and reasons to introduce agile, *Procedia Manufacturing*, Vol. 39, 1407-1414, doi: 10.1016/j.promfg.2020.01.314.
- [31] Vulanovic, S., Delic, M., Kamberovic, B., Beker, I., Lalic, B. (2020). Integrated management systems based on risk assessment: Methodology development and case studies, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 15, No. 1, 93-106, <u>doi: 10.14743/apem2020.1.352</u>.
- [32] Boehm, B., Turner, R. (2005). Management challenges to implementing agile processes in traditional development organizations, *IEEE Software*, Vol. 22, No. 5, 30-39, <u>doi: 10.1109/MS.2005.129</u>.
- [33] Car-Pušić, D., Marović, I., Bulatović, G. (2020). Development of a hybrid agile management model in local selfgovernment units, *Tehnički Vjesnik – Technical Gazette*, Vol. 27, No. 5, 1418-1426, <u>doi: 10.17559/TV-20190205</u> <u>140719</u>.
- [34] Martinec, T., Škec, S., Savšek, T., Perišić, M.M. (2017). Work sampling for the production development: A case study of a supplier in European automotive industry, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 12, No. 4, 375-387, doi: 10.14743/apem2017.4.265.
- [35] Wells, H. (2012). How effective are project management methodologies? An explorative evaluation of their benefits in practice, *Project Management Journal*, Vol. 43, No. 6, 43-59, <u>doi: 10.1002/pmj.21302</u>.

APEM

Advances in Production Engineering & Management Volume 16 | Number 1 | March 2021 | pp 112–124 https://doi.org/10.14743/apem2021.1.388 **ISSN 1854-6250** Journal home: apem-journal.org Original scientific paper

Optimization of a multi-objective location model of manufacturing base considering cooperative manufacturing capabilities and service benefits

Sun, J.Z.^{a,b,*}, Zhang, Q.S.^a, Yu, Y.Y.^c

^aSchool of Management, Shenyang University of Technology, Shenyang, P.R. China ^bSchool of Management, Liaoning Institute of Science and Technology, Benxi, P.R. China ^cSchool of Management, Jinan University, Guangzhou, P.R. China

ABSTRACT

Improving customer satisfaction and shortening the manufacturing cycle have become common concerns of current manufacturers. This paper presents a multi-objective location model considering the maximization of collaborative manufacturing capabilities and service benefits. This method first uses the two dimensions of customer share and market consumption to segment customers, and identify the weight of various customer groups. Secondly, the space vector model (VSM) is used to calculate the matching between manufacturing capabilities and manufacturing requirements. Then build a multiobjective location model based on the two goals of collaborative manufacturing capabilities and service benefits. Finally, the model was tested with simulation data, which proved the validity and feasibility of the model. According to the simulation results, managers can accurately select the optimal manufacturing base from multiple candidate manufacturing bases with regard to less costs, shorter lead times, better manufacturing capabilities, better service benefits. In this paper, Fuzzy theory, Logit model and VSM are combined to salve the problem of manufacturing base location. Considering resources and service benefits of each manufacturing base, it is helpful to optimize the location of enterprises. From the academic and practical points, this study provides a new perspective for the location problem.

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Manufacturing base; Location model; Multi-objective model; Optimization; Decision-making; Customer demand preference; Collaborative manufacturing

*Corresponding author: bxsunjianzhu@163.com (Sun, J.Z.)

Article history: Received 2 February 2021 Revised 22 February 2021 Accepted 28 February 2021



Content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International Licence (CC BY 4.0). Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.

1. Introduction

Enterprises need to get rid of the traditional production modes in order to meet the needs of the market and customers. Enterprises should form manufacturing alliance with other enterprises in the industry chain to achieve resource integration. The manufacturing enterprise is no longer an independent individual serving for the customer, but multiple manufacturing enterprises form a logical overall manufacturing alliance to jointly serve the demand side of the industrial chain. In the face of diversified and personalized customer demands, it is difficult for a single enterprise's resources and capabilities to adapt to rapidly changing market opportunities [1]. Manufacturing companies form a manufacturing alliance to decompose a complete manufacturing task into several sub-tasks. Each manufacturing company is only responsible for the manufacturing of one sub-task, which can shorten the manufacturing cycle [2]. Marković *et al.* pointed out collaborative manufacturing can improve the market competitiveness of enterprises [3].

At the same time, if enterprises want to maximize sustainable development, they need to identify customer groups. For every customer that an enterprise obtains, it has to pay a certain amount of investment in the past, but the returns brought by customers are not the same. In this regard, enterprises must seek out the customer groups that can bring value-added and lock in high-value customer groups. Fazlollahtabar pointed out that a major challenge in marketing work is to determine the best market, especially in market segmentation. Producers need to find high-value markets in order to bring more profits to enterprises [4]. Market segmentation is widely used in various industries, it can effectively help managers lock in high-value customers. Hajibaba *et al.* studied the impact of tourism on hotel management and subdivided the market [5].

Based on this, this paper proposes a location model of manufacturing bases in collaborative manufacturing environment, and studies from two aspects of maximizing the matching degree of collaborative manufacturing capabilities and maximizing service benefit. Firstly, the utility theory of Logit model is used to classify the customers (demand points) in the demand area. The customers are divided into Loyal customers, Problem customers, Gold customers and Taurus customers. According to the production situation, these four types of customers are given different weights. Secondly, the vector space model is used to measure the matching degree between the manufacturing capabilities of collaborative manufacturing partners and the manufacturing demands of customer. Finally, a multi-objective optimization model is established under the constraints of time, cost, collaborative ability and service benefit.

2. Literature review

2.1 Customer segmentation and location decision

Target marketing strategy is an important subject that has attracted much attention from the industry and academia. Market segmentation is a widely used method to study customer purchasing behavior [6]. Tan et al. studied the customer's personalized demands and the product structure. He believes that customer behavior affects the manufacturer's planning of candidate product module variants and the production strategy of personalized modules [7]. Wu et al. put forward a framework model reflecting enterprise customized production, which combines with organization information processing theory, three-dimensional concurrent engineering theory and resource dependence theory [8]. Han took professional conference organizers as research objects [9]. Zheng et al. studied the power demand of different regions through market segmentation, which provides a certain reference for the construction of the power industry [10]. According to the USFK base relocation project, Lee conducted the preference analysis on residential demand, location and site elements of the US air force to determine the location of the residential base [11]. Ghorui *et al.* combine with the market demand of consumers, who uses fuzzy analytic hierarchy process (FAHP) and ideal solution similarity ranking fuzzy technology (FTOPSIS) to select the location of shopping center construction [12]. In the parking lot location problem, Jelokhani-Niaraki and Malczewskil consider the interests of stakeholders and other groups, integrates GIS and multi-criteria decision analysis (MCDA) functions into the web platform, and provids an effective multi-criteria spatial decision support system (MC-SDSS) [13].

2.2 Cooperative manufacturing and location decision

In the industrial revolution, the production and operation system constantly pursues higher efficiency, which causes the manufacturing mode to show two unique characteristics: integrated manufacturing and intelligent manufacturing [14]. Samani *et al.* proposed a concept based on collaborative decision-making, using Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) and geographic social networks to select the location of public parking lots in Tehran [15]. Wang *et al.* studies the collaborative construction of wind farms and power to gas plants and establishes a collaborative location planning mathematical model based on the scenario analysis with the optimization objective of maximizing net investment income [16]. Au *et al.* used the feed forward neural network with error back propagation (EBP) learning algorithm and fuzzy analytic hierarchy process (FAHP) to establish the clothing factory location model [17]. Garcia *et al.* studied enterprise

location considering regional accessibility, distance, cost, regional security, regional demand and other factors [18]. Cai *et al.* studied the decision-making problem of chemical selection. Considering the regional background air quality information, the emission of new manufacturing sites and the statistical model of local meteorological conditions, he used Monte Carlo optimization method to optimize the location of new chemical factory [19]. Habibi *et al.* proposed a multi-objective robust optimization model, which considered the impact of users, transfer stations, landfills, recycling plants and waste transport vehicles on the location of domestic waste recycling and disposal facilities [20].

3. Problem description

Aiming at the location model under the collaborative manufacturing environment, this paper studies from the two aspects of manufacturing capabilities and service benefit, involving the two-stage location problem and types of nodes: parts suppliers, manufacturing partners, manufacturing enterprises and customers (demand points). Assuming that there are *d* demand points in the area. To better meet customer demands, the enterprise plans to build several factories in this area. After field surveys, it is found that there are a total of *m* candidate manufacturing bases for the enterprise to choose. At the same time, it is found that there are *s* parts manufacturing enterprises can be used as collaborative manufacturing partners and *l* suppliers. The structural analysis model is shown in Fig. 1. Due to the different mechanism of suppliers and collaborative manufacturing partners, this paper only studies the enterprise location model in collaborative manufacturing environment.

Some parameters involved in this paper are defined in order to facilitate the follow-up study.

 $S = \{S_1, S_2, \dots, S_s\}$: A set of collaborative manufacturing enterprises. S_i represents the *i*-th collaborative manufacturing enterprise, $i = 1, 2, \dots, s$.

 $M = \{M_1, M_2, \dots, M_m\}$: A set of candidate manufacturing bases. M_j represents the *j*-th manufacturing base, $j = 1, 2, \dots, m$.

 $D = \{D_1, D_2, \dots, D_d\}$: A set of demand points. D_l represents the *l*-th demand point, $l = 1, 2, \dots, d$.

 $R = \{R_1, R_2, R_3, R_4\}$: A set of demand point (customer) types. In this paper, customer groups are divided into four types.

 $w = \{w_1, w_2, w_3, w_4\}$: A weight set of demand points. The weight set of demand points can be obtained according to the production and operation experience of the enterprise.

 p_{ij} represents the distance between the collaborative manufacturing enterprise S_i and the manufacturing base M_i .

 p_{il}^* represents the distance between the manufacturing base M_i and the demand point D_l .



Fig. 1 The structural analysis model of manufacturing base

4. Proposed methodology

4.1 Customer segmentation based on customer value

In this paper, customer value can be interpreted as the present value of the total profits that customers may create for the enterprise in the future, assuming that the customer's current purchasing mode remains unchanged. It can also be understood that after enterprise adjusts operation strategies, the customer's consumption behavior for the product is enhanced, which in turn promotes the increase of corporate profits, and the customer may increase the profit value or revenue value of the enterprise in the future [21]. This paper classifies customer groups according to the two dimensions of *customer share* and *market consumption*, which is called customer classification matrix, as shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2 Customer classification matrix

Market consumption proposed in this paper refers to the total market value of a region for a certain product in a period of time. To a certain extent, market consumption reflects the size and trend of regional demand for production. The demand of manufacturing products is mainly affected by regional economic factors (x_1) , regional political and legal factors (x_2) , regional information technology factors (x_3) , regional cultural factors (x_4) , regional customer group factors (x_5) . Using the linear regression model, we get the linear regression prediction model of the total market consumption of product in the region, as follow

$$R = a_1 x_1 + a_2 x_2 + a_3 x_3 + a_4 x_4 + a_5 x_5 + e \tag{1}$$

Here, *a* and *e* are structural parameters. The value of structural parameters has a direct impact on market consumption. In order to get more objective customer segmentation results, this paper uses the entropy method to study the structural parameters in Eq. 1. The specific steps are as follows.

Step 1: Selecting experienced professionals to form an expert group and using the 1-5 scoring method to evaluate the factors of the regional development status. Based on this, we can obtain the evaluation information and establish the evaluation matrix as follow.

$$EA = \begin{bmatrix} a_{11} & \cdots & a_{15} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_{n1} & \cdots & a_{n5} \end{bmatrix}_{n \times 5}$$
(2)

Here, a_{ik} is the score of the *k*-th index by expert *i*, k = 1, ..., 5.

Step 2: Calculating the proportion of the k-th index given by expert i.

$$\hat{a}_{ik} = \frac{a_{ik}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{ik}} , k = 1, \dots, 5$$
(3)

Step 3: Calculating the entropy value of the k-th index

$$e_k = -\rho \sum_{i=1}^n \hat{a}_{ik} \ln(\hat{a}_{ik}) \tag{4}$$

Here, $\rho = \frac{1}{\ln n}$, *n* is the total number of experts, $e_k \ge 0$.

Step 4: Calculating the coefficient of variance of the *k*-th index

$$de_k = 1 - e_k \tag{5}$$

Step 5: Calculating the weight of each index.

$$\ddot{a}_k = \frac{de_k}{\sum_{k=1}^5 de_k} \tag{6}$$

According to the index weight, the total market consumption of regional products is further predicted by Eq. 7.

$$R = \sum_{k=1}^{5} \ddot{a}_k x_k \tag{7}$$

Here, x_k is the mean value of the evaluation information.

According to the random utility theory in Logit model [22, 23], the expected utility of an enterprise's products or services can be composed of two parts: decision part and random part, as shown in Eq. 8.

$$ET_l = v_l + e_l \tag{8}$$

 ET_l is the expected utility of product j, v_l is decision utility. e_l is random utility. Assuming there are C_n similar products in the market, $l \in [1, C_n]$.

According to the research results of Guadagni and Little, customer choice inertia is also an important factor influencing customer choice [24]. Therefore, the expected utility model can be further expressed as

$$ET_{lg} = v_{lg} + e_{lg} + \xi Last_{lg} \tag{9}$$

Here, ET_{lg} is utility of product *h*, when customers choose to purchase product *l* last time. ξ is the customer's purchase inertia coefficient. If l = g, $Last_{lg} = 1$. If $l \neq g$, $Last_{lg} = 0$.

Decision utility v_l is determined by a series of related variables. The decision utility can be calculated by Eq. 10.

$$v_l = \sum_{k=1}^N \alpha_k x_{lk} \tag{10}$$

Here, x_{lk} is the known observation value, and α_k is the weight coefficient. Comprehensiving Eqs. 9 and 10, the probability of choosing product *h* can be expressed as Eq. 11.

$$p_{lg} = \frac{e^{\xi Lasg + e_{lg} + \sum_{k=1}^{N} \alpha_k x_{lk}}}{\sum_{g=1}^{C_n} e^{\xi Last_{lg} + e_{lg} + \sum_{k=1}^{N} \alpha_k x_{lk}}}$$
(11)

The Markov prediction method can effectively predict the state that may appear in a certain time according to the current state. Markov method predicts that the customer's selection probability of product *l* at the *t*-th time is as follow.

$$(B_{1t}, B_{2t}, \cdots, B_{C_n t}) = (A_1, A_2, \cdots, A_{C_n}) \begin{pmatrix} p_{11} & p_{12} & \cdots & p_{1C_n} \\ p_{21} & p_{22} & \cdots & p_{2C_n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ p_{C_n 1} & p_{C_n 2} & \cdots & p_{C_n C_n} \end{pmatrix}^t$$
(12)

 B_{lt} represents the customer's choice probability of product l for the t-th time, and A represents the current selection probability.

4.2 Manufacturing capabilities matching

In the actual manufacturing process, it is difficult for manufacturing enterprises to obtain real and accurate manufacturing information of collaborative manufacturing partners. Fuzzy theory is considered to be an effective tool to solve the problem of uncertainty and fuzziness [25]. In this paper, triangular fuzzy numbers are used to obtain manufacturing capabilities of manufacturing partners.

 $\hat{k} = (k^s, k^m, k^l)$ is a triangular fuzzy number, $k^s \le k^m \le k^l$, which membership function $u_{\hat{k}}(x)$ is shown as follows:

$$u_{\hat{k}}(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{x}{k^{m}-k^{s}} - \frac{k^{s}}{k^{m}-k^{s}}, x \in [k^{s}, k^{m}] \\ \frac{x}{k^{m}-k^{l}} - \frac{k^{l}}{k^{m}-k^{l}}, x \in [k^{m}, k^{l}] \\ 0, & \text{other} \end{cases}$$
(13)

In this paper, five level linguistic variables $U = \{VB, B, M, G, VG\}$ are given to describe manufacturing capabilities of manufacturing partners. The corresponding triangular fuzzy numbers are shown in Table 1.

I an ava ao wariahlao	Come h e l	Trion miler furmer number
Language variables	Symbol	Triangular luzzy number
Very bad	VB	(0,0.1,0.2)
Bad	В	(0.2,0.3,0.4)
Medium	М	(0.4,0.5,0.6)
Good	G	(0.6,0.7,0.8)
Very good	VG	(0.8,0.9,1)

Гał	b	e 1	Linguistic	variable	s and	triangul	ar f	fuzzy num	bers
-----	---	-----	------------	----------	-------	----------	------	-----------	------

Vector space model (VSM) [26] is used to evaluate the matching degree of manufacturing demands and manufacturing capabilities.

Definition 1: manufacturing capabilities demand vector represents the manufacturing capabilities required for product manufacturing. Let $d = (d_1, d_2, ..., d_d)$ represents the demand vector. d_j is the *j*-th product manufacturing demand, j = 1, 2, ..., d. The manufacturing capabilities vector of the *i*-th collaborative manufacturing partner is $m_i = (m_{i1}, m_{i2}, ..., m_{id})$. m_{ij} is the mastery of *j*-th manufacturing capabilities by the *i*-th manufacturing partner, i = 1, 2, ..., s.

Definition 2: manufacturing capabilities matching degree refers to the matching degree between manufacturing demands and manufacturing capabilities. Product manufacturing demand vectors are definite value. manufacturing capability vectors are obtained by triangular fuzzy number.

If m_{ij} is $\dot{k} = (\dot{k}^s, \dot{k}^m, \dot{k}^l)$, the triangular fuzzy number can be transformed into a definite value by Eq. 14.

$$m_{ij} = \frac{k^{s} + 4k^m + k^l}{6} \tag{14}$$

According to VSM, the matching degree between manufacturing demands and manufacturing capabilities can be obtained by Eqs. 15 and 16.

$$sim(M, s_i) = cos(d, m_i), \ i = 1, 2, \dots s$$
 (15)

$$\cos(d, m_i) = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^d (d_j \times m_{ij})}{\sqrt{\sum_{j=1}^d d_j^2} \times \sqrt{\sum_{j=1}^d m_{ij}^2}}, i = 1, 2, \dots s$$
(16)

Here, the higher the value of $sim(M, s_i)$, the higher the matching degree.

4.3 Manufacturing base choice model

This paper gives a multi-objective optimization decision-making model for the manufacturing base. The first goal is to maximize the matching value, that is, the reliability of collaborative manufacturing alliance formed between the candidate manufacturing base and the collaborative manufacturing enterprises. The second objective is to maximize the service benefits under the customer preference, that is, the satisfaction degree of each candidate manufacturing base to the customer demand of different regions.

According to the characteristics of purchasing, production, transportation and sales of manufacturing enterprises, collaborative manufacturing mainly involves four influencing factors: cost, time, demand and collaboration.

The total production and operation costs of candidate manufacturing base M_j are divided into construction costs (c^1), transportation costs (c^2) and manufacturing costs (c^3). Among them,

transportation cost (c^2) includes parts transportation cost (c_{ij}^2) and finished product distribution cost (c_{il}^2).

$$C_j = c_j^1 + c_j^2 + c_j^3 \tag{17}$$

$$c_j^2 = \sum_{i=1}^s c_{ij}^2 + \sum_{l=1}^d c_{jl}^2 \tag{18}$$

In order to facilitate the study, this paper stipulates that the unit transportation cost is the same, which is expressed as $_{c}^{\wedge}$, then the Eq. 18 can be expressed as:

$$c = c \left(\sum_{i=1}^{s} p_{ij} + \sum_{l=1}^{d} p_{jl}^{*} \right)$$
(19)

The times of the manufacturing base M_j is the sum of the collaborative manufacturing times (t^1) and the delivery times (t^2) , which can be expressed by Eq. 20.

$$T_j = \sum_{i=1}^{s} t_{ij}^1 + \sum_{l=1}^{d} t_{jl}^2$$
(20)

Full coverage and joint coverage are selected to study the collaborative manufacturing capabilities. It is required that the collaborative manufacturing capabilities must meet the minimum manufacturing capabilities (Z_i) of manufacturing bases.

$$\sum_{i=1}^{s} g(p_{ij}) \ge Z_j \tag{21}$$

Among them, $g(p_{ij})$ is the collaborative manufacturing capabilities based on distance factor under the situation of full coverage, which can be calculated by Eq. 22.

$$g(p_{ij}) = \begin{cases} \sin(M_j, s_i), p_{ij} \le r \\ 0, p_{ij} > r \end{cases} \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, s, j = 1, 2, \dots, m$$
(22)

Here, *r* is the full coverage radius.

Gradual coverage and joint coverage are selected to study the effective service of demand points. The sum of services of manufacturing base is required to meet the minimum service demands (Z_l^*) of each demand point.

$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} g(p_{jl}^*) \ge Z_l^* \tag{23}$$

Among them, $g(p_{jl}^*)$ are the service capacity based on distance factor in the context of gradual coverage, which can be calculated by formula (30).

$$g(p_{jl}^*) = \begin{cases} Q_i; p_{jl}^* \le r_1 \\ Q_i - p_{jl}^*; r_1 < p_{jl}^* \le r_2 & i = 1, 2, \dots, s, j = 1, 2, \dots, m \\ 0; r_2 < p_{jl}^* \end{cases}$$
(24)

Here, Q_i is the service capacity of *i* regions. r_1 is the full coverage radius. r_2 is the maximum service radius that can be perceived.

According to the previous analysis, this paper constructs a multi-objective optimization location model for manufacturing bases.

$$\max Z = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sin(M_j, s_i) x_j$$
(25)

$$\max U = \sum_{l=1}^{d} w_l \sum_{j=1}^{m} g(p_{jl}^*) x_j$$
(26)

s.t.
$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} g(p_{il}^*) x_i \ge Z_l^*$$
 (27)

$$\sum_{i=1}^{s} g(p_{ij}) x_j \ge Z_j \tag{28}$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} x_j \left(c_j^* + \hat{c} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{s} p_{ij} + \sum_{l=1}^{d} p_{jl}^* \right) \right) \le C$$
(29)

$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} x_j \left(\sum_{i=1}^{s} p_{ij} + \sum_{l=1}^{d} p_{jl}^* \right) \le T$$
(30)

$$Z_l^* \ge 0; \ Z_j \ge 0; \ c_j^* \ge 0; \ p_{jl}^* \ge 0; \ p_{ij} \ge 0$$
 (31)

$$x_j = \begin{cases} 0; & M_j \text{ is selected} \\ 1; & M_j \text{ is not selected} \end{cases}$$
(32)

Eq. 25 represents the maximum matching value. Eq. 26 represents the maximum service benefit. Eq. 27 is the service benefit constraint. Eq. 28 is the collaborative manufacturing capabilities constraint. Eq. 29 is the cost constraint. Eq. 30 is time constraint. Eqs. 31 and 32 express the value range of decision variables.

5. Results and discussion

5.1 Results

An equipment manufacturing enterprise A plans to build several factories in city B. According to the product sales records, 40 product demand points are obtained. Through the survey of the city, 18 candidate sites were obtained for site selection. At the same time, it was discovered that 20 manufacturing enterprises could act as collaborative manufacturing partners. According to the location model proposed in this paper, firstly, it is necessary to segment the customer groups for these 40 product demand points.

Four experienced professionals in the industry and six enterprise employees were selected to form an expert group. The 1-5 scoring method is adopted to evaluate the status quo of regional development and index weights, which evaluation information as shown in Table 2.

	Development status evaluation					Index weight evaluation				
	<i>x</i> ₁	<i>x</i> ₂	<i>x</i> ₃	<i>x</i> ₄	<i>x</i> ₅	<i>x</i> ₁	<i>x</i> ₂	x_3	<i>x</i> ₄	<i>x</i> ₅
	4	2	4	4	5	3	1	5	4	3
Experienced	3	2	5	3	5	4	3	5	1	1
professionals	5	4	5	5	1	1	2	2	5	1
	3	5	2	3	2	1	1	5	3	1
	2	1	5	2	5	2	4	3	3	1
	2	3	4	5	5	2	1	2	1	1
Enterprise	2	1	4	5	1	5	1	4	3	5
employees	4	4	3	5	4	5	3	5	5	4
	4	2	3	2	5	3	2	4	2	1
	2	1	1	1	3	3	1	4	1	3

Table 2 Regional evaluation information (one demand point)

According to the evaluation information, the evaluation matrix EA is established. Furthermore, the proportion matrix \hat{a} of each expert for each index is calculated.

$$EA = \begin{bmatrix} 3 & 1 & 5 & 4 & 3 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 3 & 1 & 4 & 1 & 3 \end{bmatrix}_{10 \times 5}$$
$$\hat{a} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.103 & 0.053 & 0.128 & 0.143 & 0.143 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0.103 & 0.053 & 0.103 & 0.036 & 0.143 \end{bmatrix}$$

Using the entropy method, the weight of each index can be calculated, as shown below.

$$de = (0.051, 0.062, 0.020, 0.063, 0.095)$$

$$\ddot{a} = (0.176, 0.212, 0.069, 0.217, 0.326)$$

According to Eq. 7, the total market consumption of regional products is predicted as follows.

$$R = \sum_{k=1}^{5} \ddot{a} x = 3.257$$

According to field investigation, it is found that there are three kinds of similar products in this area. The evaluation information of customers for these four products is obtained in the form of questionnaire survey, as shown in Table 5. According to the random utility theory, the expected utility (ET) of each product is calculated.

Products		Determining	Random	Inertia coefficient	Expected	l utility(<i>ET</i>)
		utility (v)	utility (e)	(ξ)	$l \neq g$	l = g
Product 1 (A enterprise)		4	2	0.332	6	6.332
Cimilan	Product 2	4	3	0.402	7	7.402
products	Product 3	3	5	0.152	8	8.152
	Product 4	2	5	0.114	7	7.114

Table 3 The expected utility (ET) of each product (one demand point)

Based on the Markov prediction method, the selection probability of the next purchase of the demand point is predicted by using the Eqs. 11 and 12.

$$B = (0.331, 0.404, 0.157, 0.109)$$

We can know the market share of enterprise A is 0.331. We can use the same method to calculate market share of other demand points, as shown in Fig. 3.

According to Fig. 3, there are 9 Loyal customers, 9 Problem customers, 10 Gold customers and 12 Taurus customers in 40 demand points. In the next production and operation reform, the influence weights of four types of customers on enterprise production are 0.05, 0.15, 0.45 and 0.35 respectively, that is w = (0.05, 0.15, 0.45, 0.35).

According to production requirements, enterprise *A* outsources the five sub-manufacturing processes of equipment manufacturing products and provides the minimum product manufacturing capacities requirements, d = (0.419, 0.502, 0.562, 0.516, 0.441). Based on the experiences, an expert group was invited to use fuzzy theory to evaluate the manufacturing capabilities. According to Table 1, the manufacturing capabilities evaluation information of the collaborative manufacturing partner is obtained, as shown in Table 4.

The mean value of the triangular fuzzy number is obtained by the mean value method, and then, the triangular fuzzy number is converted into a certain value. The collaborative manufacturing capabilities vector m_i of collaborative manufacturing partners is shown in Table 5.

The matching degree is calculated, as shown in Table 6.

In order to ensure the smooth delivery of products, the manufacturing capabilities matching degree ≥ 0.9 is selected to participate in the product manufacturing process. s_3 , s_4 , s_6 , s_{11} are selected. The total collaborative manufacturing capabilities of enterprise *A* is 11.428. The collaborative manufacturing capacity of 18 candidate manufacturing bases is shown in Table 7.

The 40 product demand points, 20 collaborative manufacturing partners and 18 manufacturing enterprise candidate points are scaled down and drawn on the plane of [0,100]×[0,100]. The location relationship and information are shown in Fig. 4 and Table 8.



Fig. 3 Demand points subdivision graph

			m_i		
	m_{i1}	m_{i2}	<i>m</i> _{<i>i</i>3}	m_{i4}	m_{i5}
S_1	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.4,0.5,0.6)	(0.2,0.3,0.4)	(0,0.1,0.2)	(0.8,0.9,1)
S_2	(0.2,0.3,0.4)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)
S 3	(0,0.1,0.2)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.4,0.5,0.6)	(0.2,0.3,0.4)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)
S_4	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.4,0.5,0.6)	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)
S_5	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0,0.1,0.2)	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.4,0.5,0.6)
S 6	(0.4,0.5,0.6)	(0.2,0.3,0.4)	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0,0.1,0.2)
S 7	(0,0.1,0.2)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.2,0.3,0.4)	(0.8,0.9,1)
<i>S</i> ₈	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.4,0.5,0.6)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.8,0.9,1)
S 9	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.4,0.5,0.6)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0,0.1,0.2)
S_{10}	(0.4,0.5,0.6)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.2,0.3,0.4)	(0.4,0.5,0.6)	(0.8,0.9,1)
S_{11}	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.4,0.5,0.6)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)
<i>s</i> ₁₂	(0,0.1,0.2)	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.2,0.3,0.4)	(0.2,0.3,0.4)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)
<i>S</i> ₁₃	(0.2,0.3,0.4)	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.2,0.3,0.4)	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.4,0.5,0.6)
S_{14}	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.4,0.5,0.6)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0,0.1,0.2)
S_{15}	(0,0.1,0.2)	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.2,0.3,0.4)	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)
S_{16}	(0.2,0.3,0.4)	(0.4,0.5,0.6)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.2,0.3,0.4)	(0.4,0.5,0.6)
S_{17}	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0,0.1,0.2)	(0.2,0.3,0.4)	(0.8,0.9,1)
S_{18}	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0,0.1,0.2)	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.2,0.3,0.4)
S_{19}	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.8,0.9,1)	(0.4,0.5,0.6)	(0.2,0.3,0.4)	(0.4,0.5,0.6)
S ₂₀	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.4,0.5,0.6)	(0.4,0.5,0.6)	(0.6,0.7,0.8)	(0.8,0.9,1)

Table 4 Fuzzy value of manufacturing capacity (one expert)

Table 5 Collaborative manufacturing capabilities

	m_i		m_i
<i>s</i> ₁	$m_1 = (0.314, 0.752, 0.224, 0.691, 0.849)$	<i>s</i> ₁₁	$m_{11} = (0.076, 0.728, 0.514, 0.968, 0.965)$
<i>S</i> ₂	$m_2 = (0.533, 0.629, 0.788, 0.482, 0.765)$	<i>S</i> ₁₂	$m_{12} = (0.478, 0.019, 0.273, 0.622, 0.035)$
S 3	$m_3 = (0.397, 0.945, 0.976, 0.188, 0.802)$	S 13	$m_{13} = (0.457, 0.528, 0.811, 0.466, 0.238)$
S_4	$m_4 = (0.481, 0.108, 0.835, 0.513, 0.438)$	S_{14}	$m_{14} = (0.317, 0.578, 0.536, 0.364, 0.624)$
S 5	$m_5 = (0.701, 0.141, 0.426, 0.261, 0.772)$	S 15	$m_{15} = (0.348, 0.025, 0.076, 0.138, 0.569)$
S 6	$m_6 = (0.103, 0.194, 0.621, 0.408, 0.131)$	S_{16}	$m_{16} = (0.324, 0.204, 0.690, 0.640, 0.654)$
S 7	$m_7 = (0.915, 0.651, 0.668, 0.772, 0.850)$	S_{17}	$m_{17} = (0.646, 0.518, 0.195, 0.676, 0.971)$
<i>S</i> 8	$m_8 = (0.753, 0.337, 0.490, 0.323, 0.947)$	S_{18}	$m_{18} = (0.193, 0.828, 0.850, 0.769, 0.407)$
S 9	$m_9 = (0.391, 0.408, 0.271, 0.480, 0.376)$	S 19	$m_{19} = (0.375, 0.586, 0.852, 0.439, 0.565)$
S_{10}	$m_{10} = (0.892, 0.243, 0.437, 0.952, 0.896)$	S20	$m_{20} = (0.403, 0.843, 0.604, 0.748, 0.819)$

Table 6 Matching degree (one manufacturing base)

Collaborative enterprises	<i>S</i> ₁	<i>S</i> ₂	S 3	S 4	S 5	S 6	S 7	S 8	S 9	<i>S</i> ₁₀
$sim(M, s_i)$	0.900	0.982	0.913	0.913	0.844	0.876	0.974	0.884	0.974	0.894
Collaborative enterprises	<i>s</i> ₁₁	<i>s</i> ₁₂	<i>s</i> ₁₃	<i>S</i> ₁₄	<i>S</i> ₁₅	<i>s</i> ₁₆	<i>S</i> ₁₇	<i>S</i> ₁₈	S ₁₉	<i>s</i> ₂₀
$sim(M, s_i)$	0.899	0.767	0.962	0.970	0.695	0.939	0.886	0.952	0.976	0.974

Manufacturing bases	Collaborative capability	Manufacturing bases	Collaborative capability	Manufacturing bases	Collaborative capability
M_1	11.428	<i>M</i> ₇	10.295	<i>M</i> ₁₃	9.942
M_2	12.606	M_8	8.455	M_{14}	11.708
M_3	8.537	M_9	10.354	M_{15}	12.803
M_4	11.217	M_{10}	10.537	M_{16}	9.188
M_5	9.526	M_{11}	12.801	<i>M</i> ₁₇	7.848
M_6	13.804	M_{12}	10.206	M_{18}	8.758



Fig. 4 Location diagram

Table 8	Manufacturing	information	A	part)

S	r	М	С	Т	g(p)	$sim(M, s_i)$	Ζ	$[r_1, r_2]$	D	$g(p^*)$	Z^*	w
S_1	20.569	M_1	19.143	10.603	11.428	11.428	9.513	[30.351,32.393]	D_1	60.566	50.642	0.35
<i>S</i> ₂	25.448	M_2	18.127	6.593	12.606	12.606	9.957	[28.689,29.833]	D_2	44.108	58.482	0.05
S_3	28.397	M_3	18.895	5.451	8.537	8.537	6.800	[33.552,35.048]	D_3	60.936	49.063	0.05
S_4	20.312	M_4	20.863	5.217	11.217	11.217	8.481	[28.768,30.501]	D_4	59.558	64.009	0.45
S_5	21.954	M_5	15.484	8.066	9.526	9.526	8.567	[31.658,33.155]	D_5	54.574	31.149	0.35

Based on the above calculation data, the location model is established according to the Eqs. 31 to 39. Assuming that the total cost is no more than 2 million and the delivery time is no more than 25 months, the location model is as follows.

 $\max Z = 11.428x_1 + 12.606x_2 + \dots 7.848x_{17} + 8.758x_{18}$ $\max U = 0.35(60.566x_1 + \dots 56.564x_{18}) + \dots 0.15(60.566x_1 + \dots 56.564x_{18})$ $\begin{cases} 60.566x_1 + 44.108x_2 + \dots 56.564x_{18} \ge 50.642 \\ \dots \\ 60.566x_1 + 44.108x_2 + \dots 56.564x_{18} \ge 66.354 \\ 11.428x_1 + 12.606x_2 + \dots 8.758x_{18} \ge 9.513 \\ \dots \\ 11.428x_1 + 12.606x_2 + \dots 8.758x_{18} \ge 15.624 \\ 10.442 + \dots 8.758x_{18} + 12.606x_{18} + \dots 8.758x_{18} +$

$$19.143x_1 + 19.552x_2 + \dots 15.621x_{18} \le 200$$

$$10.603x_1 + 6.593x_2 + \dots 9.447x_{18} \le 25$$

$$x_j = \begin{cases} 0; & M_j \text{ is not selected}, j = 1, 2, \dots, 18\\ 1; & M_i \text{ is selected} \end{cases}$$

The location model belongs to 0-1 integer programming model, which is solved by lingo software. According to the solution results, we can choose 4 candidate manufacturing bases (3, 4, 6, 11) to build. These 4 bases can cover all the demand points under the constraints of cost, time, collaborative requirements and service requirements.

5.2 Discussion

Changing time parameter constraints of the model, other parameters remain unchanged, the multi-objective value change trend of the model is shown in Fig. 5. As can be seen from Fig. 5, with the increase of manufacturing time constraint, the collaborative manufacturing capabilities and service benefits are increased. When the time constraint increases to a certain value, the multi-objective value remains constant, which no longer increases with the increase of time. The location problem involves many factors, only relaxing time constraints, which can increase target values within a certain range. But after a certain value, the time factor will no longer affect the target values.



6. Conclusion

Collaborative manufacturing breaks the traditional manufacturing mode and realizes flexible production. Aiming at the location model of manufacturing base in collaborative manufacturing environment, this paper presents a multi-objective location model considering collaborative manufacturing capabilities and service benefit. Firstly, the Logit model is used to segment the customers and identify the influence weight of various customer groups. Secondly, the space vector model is used to calculate the matching degree between the manufacturing capabilities and the manufacturing demands. Then, a multi-objective location model is established based on the two objectives of collaborative manufacturing capabilities and service benefit. Finally, the simulation data is used to test the model. In this paper, the method considers manufacturing capabilities and service benefits of manufacturing base from a new research perspective, which is closed to the actual manufacturing status and also provides a reference for the subsequence location model. In this paper, the location problem relaxed the constraints of distribution vehicles. In the actual location problem, logistics distribution is also an important problem in the location problem. Therefore, in the next research, scholars should pay attention to the impact of logistics distribution on the location problem.

Acknowledgement

This article was financially supported by Department of Education Science of Liaoning Province in 2020 (Grant No. W2020lkyfwdf-05).

References

- [1] Ocampo, L.A., Himang, C.M., Kumar, A., Brezocnik, M. (2019). A novel multiple criteria decision-making approach based on fuzzy DEMATEL, fuzzy ANP and fuzzy AHP for mapping collection and distribution centers in reverse logistics, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 14, No. 3, 297-322, <u>doi: 10.14743/ apem2019.3.329</u>.
- [2] Medic, N., Anisic, Z., Lalic, B., Marjanovic, U., Brezocnik, M. (2019). Hybrid fuzzy multi-attribute decision making model for evaluation of advanced digital technologies in manufacturing: Industry 4.0 perspective, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 14, No. 4, 483-493, doi: 10.14743/apem2019.4.343.
- [3] Marković, G., Zdravković, N., Karakašić, M., Kolarević, M. (2020). Modified PROMETHEE approach for solving multi-criteria location problems with complex criteria functions, *Tehnički Vjesnik Technical Gazette*, Vol. 27, No. 1, 12-19, doi: 10.17559/TV-20190225151515.
- [4] Fazlollahtabar, H. (2021). A DSS-based dynamic programming for finding optimal markets using neural networks and pricing, *Iranian Journal of Management Studies*, Vol. 14, No. 1, 87-106, <u>doi: 10.22059/ijms.2020.</u> <u>269091.673397</u>.
- [5] Hajibaba, H., Grün, B., Dolnicar, S. (2019). Improving the stability of market segmentation analysis, *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, Vol. 32, No. 4, 1393-1411, <u>doi: 10.1108/IJCHM-02-2019-0137</u>.

- [6] Chen, Y. (2017). Integrated and intelligent manufacturing: Perspectives and enablers, *Engineering*, Vol. 3, No. 5, 588-595, doi: 10.1016/J.ENG.2017.04.009.
- [7] Tan, C., Chung, H., Barton, K., Jack Hu, S., Freiheit, T. (2020). Incorporating customer personalization preferences in open product architecture design, *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*, Vol. 56, 72-83, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.jmsy.2020.05.006</u>.
- [8] Wu, Q., Liao, K., Deng, X., Marsillac, E. (2020). Achieving automotive suppliers' mass customization through modlarity: Vital antecedents and the valuable role and responsibility of information sharing, *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, Vol. 31, No. 2, 306-329, <u>doi: 10.1108/JMTM-12-2018-0459</u>.
- [9] Han, S.Y. (2016). Convention Market Segmentation by the Attributes of Convention Site Selection On the Subject of Professional Convention Organizers (PCO), Seoul Studies, Vol. 17, No, 4, 111-129.
- [10] Zheng, X., Wu, C., He, S. (2020). Impacts of market segmentation on the over-capacity of the thermal electricity generation industry in China, *Journal of Environmental Management*, Vol. 279, Article No. 111761, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111761</u>.
- [11] Lee, H. (2019). Analysis of location and site planning preference of USFK residential housing, *Journal of the Korea Academia-Industrial cooperation Society*, Vol. 20, No. 12, 822-827, <u>doi: 10.5762/KAIS.2019.20.12.822</u>.
- [12] Ghorui, N., Ghosh, A., Algehyne, E.A., Mondal, S.P., Saha, A.K. (2020). AHP-TOPSIS inspired shopping mall site selection problem with fuzzy data, *Mathematics*, Vol. 8, No. 8, Article No. 1380, <u>doi: 10.3390/math8081380</u>.
- [13] Jelokhani-Niaraki, M., Malczewski, J. (2015). A group multicriteria spatial decision support system for parking site selection problem: A case study, *Land Use Policy*, Vol. 42, 492-508, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.landusepol.2014.09.003</u>.
- [14] Yoseph, F., Malim, N.H.A.H., Heikkilä, M., Brezulianu, A., Geman, O., Rostam, N.A.P. (2020). The impact of big data market segmentation using data mining and clustering techniques, *Journal of Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems*, Vol. 38, No. 5, 6159-6173, <u>doi: 10.3233/JIFS-179698</u>.
- [15] Samani, Z.N., Karimi, M., Alesheikh, A.A. (2018). A novel approach to site selection: Collaborative multi-criteria decision making through geo-social network (Case study: Public parking), *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information*, Vol. 7, No. 3, Article No. 82, <u>doi: 10.3390/ijgi7030082</u>.
- [16] Wang, P., Liu, W., Lin, Z., Wen, F., Dong, Z., Zheng, Y., Zhang, R. (2017). Scenario analysis based collaborative site selection planning of wind farms and power-to-gas plants, *Automation of Electric Power Systems*, Vol. 41, No. 6, 20-29, <u>doi: 10.7500/AEPS20161012007</u>.
- [17] Au, K.F., Wong, W.K., Zeng, X.H. (2006). Decision model for country site selection of overseas clothing plants, *International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, Vol. 29, No. 3-4, 408-417, <u>doi: 10.1007/s00170-005-2505-4</u>.
- [18] García, J.L., Alvarado, A., Blanco, J., Jiménez, E., Maldonado, A.A., Cortés, G. (2014). Multi-attribute evaluation and selection of sites for agricultural product warehouses based on an Analytic Hierarchy Process, *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, Vol. 100, 60-69, doi: 10.1016/j.compag.2013.10.009.
- [19] Cai, T., Wang, S., Xu, Q. (2015). Monte Carlo optimization for site selection of new chemical plants, *Journal of Environmental Management*, Vol. 163, 28-38, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2015.08.002</u>.
- [20] Habibi, F., Asadi, E., Sadjadi, S.J., Barzinpour, F. (2017). A multi-objective robust optimization model for siteselection and capacity allocation of municipal solid waste facilities: A case study in Tehran, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 166, 816-834, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.08.063.
- [21] Awaga, A.L., Xu, W., Liu, L., Zhang, Y. (2020). Evolutionary game of green manufacturing mode of enterprises under the influence of government reward and punishment, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 15, No. 4, 416-430, doi: 10.14743/apem2020.4.375.
- [22] Li, H.-Y., Xu, W., Cui, Y., Wang, Z., Xiao, M., Sun, Z.-X. (2020). Preventive maintenance decision model of urban transportation system equipment based on multi-control units, *IEEE Access*, Vol. 8, 15851-15869, <u>doi: 10.1109/ ACCESS.2019.2961433</u>.
- [23] Shapiro, A.F., Koissi, M.-C. (2017). Fuzzy logic modifications of the analytic hierarchy process, *Insurance: Mathematics and Economics*, Vol. 75, 189-202, doi: 10.1016/j.insmatheco.2017.05.003.
- [24] Guadagni, P.M., Little, J.D.C. (2008). Commentary A logit model of brand choice calibrated on scanner data: A 25th anniversary perspective, *Marketing Science*, Vol. 27, No. 2, 26-28, <u>doi: 10.1287/mksc.1070.0345</u>.
- [25] Shao, W., Ding, H., Tang, J., Peng, S. (2018). A data-driven optimization model to collaborative manufacturing system considering geometric and physical performances for hypoid gear product, *Robotics and Computer-Integrated Manufacturing*, Vol. 54, 1-16, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.rcim.2018.05.004</u>.
- [26] Jian, J., Wang, M., Li, L., Su, J., Huang, T. (2019). A partner selection model for collaborative product innovation from the viewpoint of knowledge collaboration, *Kybernetes*, Vol. 49, No. 6, 1623-1644, <u>doi: 10.1108/K-05-2018-0266</u>.

Journal

Advances in Production Engineering & Management Volume 16 | Number 1 | March 2021 | pp 125–135 https://doi.org/10.14743/apem2021.1.389 **ISSN 1854-6250** Journal home: apem-journal.org Original scientific paper

A new management approach based on Additive Manufacturing technologies and Industry 4.0 requirements

Patalas-Maliszewska, J.^{a,*}, Topczak, M.^a

^aInstitute of Mechanical Engineering, University of Zielona Góra, Poland

ABSTRACT

Nowadays, it is necessary to formulate and implement a development strategy in manufacturing enterprises, in line with the assumptions of the Industry 4.0 concept. In this context, a gap in the research has been observed in effective management methods, in order to gain a competitive advantage through the implementation and use of Additive Manufacturing (AM) technologies. The main purpose of the study is to build a new approach to management, based on the implementation of new AM technologies and good practice. This paper uses the detailed literature studies and results from the empirical research of some 250 Polish manufacturing enterprises; this material contains a sample thereof, processed into a new approach. The major contributions of the work are as follows: (1) identification of current management areas in which manufacturing companies focus their activities, in the context of Industry 4.0, (2) the establishment of the correlation between gaining a competitive advantage and implementing AM technologies in the context of Industry 4.0, (3) Defining the so-called AM4.0CARD as a new management approach, based on AM technologies and the requirements of Industry 4.0. Managers of manufacturing enterprises, thanks to the use of the proposed approach, may take a strategic decision, regarding the implementation of AM technologies, due to the possibility of forecasting the impact of such an investment on the improvement of the company's competitive advantage.

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Smart manufacturing; Industry 4.0; Additive Manufacturing (AM); 3D printing; Strategy; Management; Empirical research; Competitive advantage; Balanced scorecard

*Corresponding author: j.patalas-maliszewska@iim.uz.zgora.pl (Patalas-Maliszewska, J.)

Article history: Received 14 June 2020 Revised 4 March 2021 Accepted 6 March 2021



Content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International Licence (CC BY 4.0). Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and D01.

1. Introduction

The fourth industrial revolution, also referred to as Industry 4.0, is based primarily on the close co-operation between systems related to cybernetic and physical components. Industry 4.0 has resulted in the high integration with the Internet of people and digitally controlled machines, information technologies and networking [1]. Elements and materials produced, or used for production, are identifiable at every stage and have been enhanced with the possibility of independently communicating with each other vertically, from individual components to the company's IT department and from the IT department to the components, in systems based on the assumptions of Industry 4.0. The flow of information is implemented horizontally between machines involved in the production process and the company's production system. The assets of the largest and fastest growing companies are innovative; we are talking about the latest and most innovative technologies and machines, apart from software and digital algorithms, permitted to operate on the network [2, 3]. The concept of Industry 4.0 significantly contributes to changes in manufacturing companies and particularly affects the need to constantly adapt to

customer needs. Industry 4.0 introduces leading IT solutions into all aspects of production. Thanks to the use of advanced ICT technologies, it is possible to adapt production to customer expectations more accurately while maintaining low costs, high quality and efficiency and developing automation towards the implementation of cyber-physical systems and testing human-machine interactions [4, 5]. In connection with the digital revolution observed in industry, management theories are emerging, based on new technologies and achieving competitive advantages in the market, in tandem with the requirements of Industry 4.0.

The basis of Industry 4.0 is its advanced production technologies, which include additive, manufacturing (AM) technologies [6]. AM is treated as a combination of materials with the aim of obtaining a real object, based on 3D CAD data [6, 7]. Metals, ceramics, metal alloys, as well as plastics are used in these technologies. Additive manufacturing technologies, due to their specificity, increase flexibility in production and facilitate the speedy and hitch-free launch of a product. AM technologies are widely used in rapid prototyping and production, as well as in the manufacture of products with complex shapes, which would not otherwise be possible with traditional manufacturing methods. Thanks to the production capabilities achieved using AM technologies are the perfect solution for an on-demand, customised production system and support more significant designs and manufacturing freedom to create innovation in Industry 4.0. Thus, machines using AM technologies are very versatile; changing the direction of production or of manufactured products does not require retooling of the production line, as is usually the case with traditional technologies. Thanks to this, time is saved and human participation reduced. Additionally, AM technologies usually recycle material [8].

Based on the analysis of the literature on the subject, we have determined that there are management theories applicable in the context of Industry 4.0. On the other hand, the development of AM technology is evident, as has been confirmed on the basis of empirical research on the use of AM technologies in western Poland, to name but one location. However, answers to the following questions are sought: (1) Does the implementation of AM technology increase a company's competitiveness on the market? (2) What factors influence the decision to implement AM technology? (3) What strategic goals can be achieved by implementing AM technologies?

This paper deals with problems related to management theory, as described in the research literature of 2018-2020, namely, the obtainment, in the market, of competitive advantages by manufacturing companies, due to use the modern technologies in the context of Industry 4.0. Our purpose, in this research, is to advance the literature on the relationship between competition within a manufacturing company and the implementation of AM, in the context of meeting a company's requirements *vis-à-vis* the Industry 4.0 concept. Therefore, a new management approach (CARD), based on AM technologies and the requirements of Industry 4.0 (so-called AM4.0CARD) is proposed.

2. Research methodology

The research was carried out in two stages: (1) analysis of the literature and (2) the empirical research to identify current areas of interest and management-oriented activities in the context of the implementation of AM technologies. In the first stage, current professional literature was analysed, highlighting the main management theories on achieving competitive advantage, verification methods, areas of application and limitations. We reviewed 35 articles published between 2018-2020. Articles obtained from databases (mostly Elsevier) were subjected to an analysis of the preliminary content, based on the titles of the articles and their abstracts. The publication period was set from 2018 to 2020. The knowledge contained in the articles was analysed and extracted, with particular attention being paid to management theory with aim of obtaining a competitive advantage, the correlation with Industry 4.0 and the models verifying the theory thereof and the possible applications and limitations to be encountered when applying a given theory. In the final step, we collected the data, analysed it and proceeded to write this paper. In researching the literature, a research gap was identified in the context of management theory, based on AM technologies with particular reference to Industry 4.0.

In the second stage of the research, at the end of 2019, we tested 250 Polish manufacturing companies from western Poland (from the Lubuskie Voivodeship, Lower Silesia, Opole, Greater Poland and West Pomeranian Voivodeship) in the metal (125) and automotive (125) industries. The tests were carried out using the survey method. The survey questionnaire included multichoice, closed questions. Among the automotive companies, were 92 small enterprises, 29 medium enterprises and 4 large enterprises, while representatives of the metal industry comprised 95 small enterprises, 27 medium enterprises and 3 large enterprises. The respondents in the automotive industry were mostly representatives of the management (69) and company owners (32), specialist employees, including technologists, logisticians, designers, marketing employees (16) and company support employees, including assistants, accountants, administrative staff, etc. (8). In the metal industry, the respondents to the survey were mainly representatives of the management (72), owners and shareholders (36) and specialist employees, in the fields of quality, production, purchasing, design and construction, among others (13) and company support employees, including accountants and sales/sales department staff (4). The research group represents 1 % of manufacturing companies from the automotive industry and the metal industry, in western Poland [6] based on data from Central Statistical Office of Poland, Warsaw. In the second stage, through empirical research, the interest in AM technologies of respondents, who use AM in production was identified, which indicates the development of additive technologies.

In order to find the answer to our research question, correlation analysis was used. Correlation analysis is a statistical study that describes the strength of a linear relationship between two variables. The value characterising the relation is the correlation coefficient of the sample (*r*). It takes its values from the closed interval <-1; 1>. A value of -1 indicates there is a perfect negative correlation and a value of 1 indicates a perfect positive correlation. A value of 0 indicates no linear correlation [9].

Finally exploited is the capability of the Balanced Scorecard (BSC) to identify the relationship between competition within a manufacturing company and the implementation of AM technologies, in the context of meeting a company's requirements by combining the results of the literature review, the empirical research results and the correlation analysis results. The use of BSC can provide a manufacturing company's strategy [10]. Therefore, a new approach to management (CARD), based on the implementation of AM technologies, was built using the Balanced Scorecard and it is for this reason that identification of the main management problems, needs to be concentrated on four strategic areas in production companies, namely, the customers (the sales market), the finances (including production resources), the processes (production processes) and development (research and development projects). The Balanced Scorecard is a tool that enables the identification of problems in given areas, together with the planning of strategic goals, activities and controls through evaluation of the measure. This tool allows the accurate perspective of actions to be analysed at specified time intervals, so that solutions to identifying problems can be planned while measuring the achievement of goals.

3. Results and discussion

3.1 Literature review results

In the literature on manufacturing, the changes refer to Industry 4.0 [11]. Manufacturing companies focus on the implementation of new technologies in order to meet market requirements and also face the challenge of adjusting manufacturing processes, keeping in mind strategies towards sustainable development, the proposal of products manufactured with a low energy input, using reduced levels of resources and low emissions of waste and exhaust gases. By analysing the literature on the subject, it was possible to identify the main areas in which manufacturing enterprises focus their management activities, dictated by the digital revolution of industry. Data obtained on the basis of literature analysis was collected and summarised in Table 1.

]	Γ able 1 Management theories aimed at competitive advantage ac	cording to the requirements of Ind	lustry 4.0
No.	Management theory aimed at competitive advantage	Aspects of Industry 4.0	References
1.	Theory based on technology-oriented alliances (the hiring of R&D scientists from competitors within the industry)	Technology implementation and development	[12]
2.	Theory based on sustainability in the context of a company's mainstream competitive strategy	Sustainability	[13]
3.	Theory based on sustainable development and inter-temporal trade-offs	Sustainability	[14]
4.	The competence-based view of submarket industrial evolution, that is, the convergence toward homogeneous or heterogene- ous industry structures, e.g. the positioning of incumbents	Big data	[15]
5.	Theory based on the concept of relational rivalry (Competition between firms)	No direct correlation	[16]
6.	Theory based on the creative integration of several information and communication technologies (ICTs)	Networking, ICTs, Internet of things	[17, 18]
7.	Theory based on corporate social responsibility (CSR)	No direct correlation	[19]
8.	Theory based on effective risk management in technological innovation and the implications thereof	Big data	[20]
9.	Institutional theory and international entrepreneurship (inter- nationalisation)	No direct correlation	[21, 22]
10.	Theory based on the product-service-systems (PSS) strategy	Networking, Internet of things	[23, 24]
11.	Theory based on the use of business models by management	No direct correlation	[25]
12.	Theory based on the accumulation of knowledge strategies and knowledge management	Big data	[26, 27]
13.	Strategy based on effective research and development (R&D)	Technology development and implementation, big data	[28]
14.	Theory based on management of the green supply chain (GSCM)	Sustainability	[29]
15.	Method based on the synergy effect	Networking	[30]
16.	Theory based on the development of a product and the portfo- lio design method	Networking, big data, technology development and implementa- tion	[31, 32]
17.	Theory based on identifying and implementing the best tech- nology	Additive manufacturing, tech- nology development and imple- mentation	[33]
18.	Theory based on the management of a sustainable supply chain (SSCM)	Sustainability	[34]
19.	Theory based on business analytics in manufacturing:	Big data	[35]
20.	Smart manufacturing (SM)	Smart manufacturing, Internet of things, big data, building blocks, additive manufacturing	[36]
21.	Theory based on improving the systematic learning within a factory based on the level of maturity	Big data, smart manufacturing, technology development and implementation	[37]
22.	Theory based on implementing project management good practices and lean production methodologies	Additive manufacturing, smart manufacturing, big data	[38]
23.	Methodology for the design of agile product development net- works	Networking, Internet of things	[39]
24.	Theory based on open innovation (OI)	Technology development and implementation networking	[40]

An analysis of the management theories, presented in Table 1, indicates that 20 are correlated with Industry 4.0 while the remaining 4 have no direct correlation thereto. In carrying out further analysis of the data in Table 1, the data was divided into those main areas on which management theories focus and into which the theories were divided, according to the examples of Industry 4.0 to which they applied. To this end, theories were analysed and divided into five main groups or areas on which management activities focus: (1) company—environment relations; (2) company relations—other company relations; (3) processes; (4) products; (5) knowledge and competences. The division of theories into main areas of activity is presented in Table 2.

Table 2 Division of management theory in the area			
The sequence number of the theory (from Table 1)			
2, 3, 7, 9, 14, 18			
1, 5, 24			
6, 8, 11, 15, 17, 19, 20, 22			
10, 16, 23			
1, 4, 6, 12, 13, 19, 21, 24			

Table 2 Division of management theory in the area

The literature analysed presents the current management theories that are applied in the context of Industry 4.0. When analysing the data collected in Table 1 and Table 2, there is a visible tendency for manufacturing enterprises to focus on management in two, main areas, namely: processes and knowledge and competences. In addition, there is a clear tendency that most theories are correlated with Industry 4.0 and are applicable in aspects such as: big data, networking, the Internet of things, smart manufacturing, etc. Changes related to Industry 4.0 shape the trend, and force companies to adapt to the expectations of a competitive market. The changing needs of customers mean that, ever more frequently, companies are forced to react quickly and thus to modernise production lines. This is a necessary process but it is time consuming and requires considerable resources. Thanks to the use of AM technology, the use of flexible production, reduces production time, reduces the need to change the production line, allows products to be produced in any shape and reduces human participation in the production process. AM technologies allow products to be produced, based on 3D CAD data, by adding material, layerby-layer to create a solid object and thus solve various Fourth Revolution issues. However, we have not found an approach to management, based on the implementation of AM technologies in the context of planning strategic action, with the aim of achieving a company's competitive edge. By proposing a new approach, based on the implementation of AM technology, in the context of Industry 4.0, we intend to present the impact of obtaining a competitive advantage by a production company implementing AM technology, using the results of the literature research, the results of the empirical research and the strategic analysis tool.

3.2. Empirical research results

The results obtained were subjected to statistical analysis in the Statistica v.13.3 programme and we examined the correlation between the results obtained. In order to examine the validity of hypothesis 1, we analysed the correlation between the research results related to competitive advantage and the motives for implementing AM technology in the enterprise. The results were collected and are presented in Table 3.

Analysing the results of the statistical surveys obtained, we noticed that the highest correlation occurs between competitive advantage and freedom in product design. Probably, the companies participating in the survey see a real opportunity in gaining a competitive advantage by offering consumers the opportunity to buy any product, personalised according to the customer's expectations. In addition, the motive, indicated for the implementation of AM, suggests that companies want the possibility of quickly transforming production lines in order to be able to produce any product, depending on the needs of the market. The indication for this motive, for the implementation of AM, also suggests that companies want to be able to produce products of any shape, even those with the most complex geometry which could not be produced using traditional, manufacturing methods. In addition, companies see that a competitive advantage can be gained by not having assembly lines, but rather, by having products personalised, using materials efficiently and responding quickly to market needs.

We also examined the correlation between the results of the research, as related to knowledge about AM and competitive advantage. The research covered factors indicating competitive advantage and the factors describing knowledge prerequisite for the implementation of AM technologies, namely: research results related to interest in implementing AM technologies. This factor was chosen because employees' knowledge about AM technology should include knowledge about processes to which AM technologies (and the methods related to AM) can be applied. The data was collected and is presented in Table 4.

Relations	Correlation	r2	t	р
Cost reduction/competitive advantage	0.261347	0.068303	4.255292	0.000030
Effective use of material/competitive advantage	0.399677	0.159742	6.852541	0.000000
Freedom in product design/competitive advantage	0.476172	0.226740	8.510392	0.000000
No assembly/competitive advantage	0.411996	0.169740	7.106148	0.000000
Product personalisation/competitive advantage	0.411996	0.169740	7.106148	0.000000
Quickly reaction for the needs of market/competitive advantage	0.371527	0.138032	6.289171	0.000000
Optimisation of product function/competitive advantage	0.329615	0.108646	5.486935	0.000000
Development/competitive advantage	0.034717	0.001205	0.545943	0.585598
Product quality/competitive advantage	0.095248	0.009072	1.503779	0.133916
Effectiveness/competitive advantage	-0.062487	0.003905	-0.983990	0.326083
Waste or energy reduction/competitive advantage	-0.035784	0.001280	-0.562747	0.574117
Employee reduction/competitive advantage	-0.050812	0.002582	-0.799608	0.424706

Table 3 Correlation between motives for implementation AM technologies and competitive advantage

Table 4 Correlation between interest in implementing AM technology and competitive advantage

Relations	Correlation	r2	t	р
FDM/competitive advantage	0.063443	0.004025	1.001124	0.317743
LOM/competitive advantage	0.095360	0.009093	1.508599	0.132674
DLP/competitive advantage	0.193372	0.037393	3.103808	0.002132
PolyJet/competitive advantage	0.159730	0.025514	2.548154	0.011434
DMLS/competitive advantage	0.485181	0.235401	8.738014	0.000000
SLS/competitive advantage	0.063443	0.004025	1.001124	0.317743
SLA/competitive advantage	0.226348	0.051233	3.659508	0.000309
EBM/competitive advantage	0.226348	0.051233	3.659508	0.000309

The results of the statistical analysis indicated that the highest correlation exists between the interest in implementing the DMLS method and competitive advantage. The DMLS method allows the creation of complex shapes by the selective melting of metal powders that would not have been possible using traditional, manufacturing methods. Once again, companies see a competitive advantage in implementing the AM method that allows the design and manufacture of products of any shape, depending on customer expectations and market needs. In addition, a significant correlation was observed for the SLA (Stereolithography) and EBM (Electron Beam Melting) methods. Both methods are used in rapid prototyping. The SLA method involves hard-ening the resin by laser, allowing the rapid production of plastic prototypes. The EBM method uses an electron beam to melt metal powders, allowing precision parts to be made in a vacuum.

On the basis of the research results, both from analysis of the literature and the empirical research results from 250 Polish manufacturing enterprises, a new management approach was built, based on implementing AM technologies in manufacturing companies, namely the AM4.0 CARD.

3.3. AM4.0CARD – A new approach to management, based on the implementation of a new Additive Manufacturing technologies

The proposed approach is based on a specific, innovative group of AM, the benefits of the implementation of which appear in all production areas. In order to define the strategic action for a manufacturing company, in the context of an increase in competitive advantage, due to the implementation of AM and the adjustment to the requirements of the Industry 4.0 concept, the Balanced Scorecard tool was used. On the basis of data from Table 1, main management areas were identified, which were presented in Table 2. The most frequently discussed area in the literature analysed were processes. By examining process theories, it appears that they are related to Industry 4.0 in the following aspects: Additive manufacturing, big data and networking. The second area is knowledge and competences; it appears that these are related to Industry 4.0 in the aspect of technology development and implementation. The third area is a company's relationship with the environment and then the relationship of companies with one another. In the case of relationships, a link to Industry 4.0 has been identified in the aspects of sustainability, technology development and implementation. The last area are products, in which association with Industry 4.0 has been identified; this area is in the areas of Networking and the Internet of Things (IoT). Examination of management theories associated with Industry 4.0 has identified four main areas of management: process, product, knowledge and management and lastly, relationships. Based on the results of empirical research, the correlation between the motives for implementing AM technology declared by the manufacturing companies surveyed and a defined competitive advantage was examined. The results of the empirical research indicate a set of factors describing competitive advantages, including new material, adaptation of new manufacturing technologies, investments, personalised products, the management of suppliers and reductions in the waiting time for products. A significant correlation was observed in the case of freedom in product design: the absence of an assembly line, product personalisation, the effective use of material, quick reaction to the needs of the market, improvement in the function of the product and a reduction in costs. Additionally, a significant correlation was observed in the following factors, new material, adaptation of new manufacturing technologies, personalised products and the management of suppliers. Based on the results of an analysis of areas of management and factors correlated with competitive advantage, strategic goals were defined; this process is shown in Table 5.

The measures in Table 5 were defined on the basis of strategic goals. When designing strategic goals and measures, we took into account the results of the correlation analysis of the motives for implementing AM technology and the factors defining competitive advantage, as well as the results of the literature research. The measures have been designed to allow verification of progress and achievement of strategic goals. Above all, significant interest in laser technologies (e.g. DMLS) and the factors affecting decisions on implementing AM were taken into account: cost reduction, reduction in production times, reduction in barriers to design and in barriers to manufacturing a wide variety of shapes, etc. The perspectives of those actions taken, for implementing strategic goals, based on adopted measures, in accordance with Balanced Scorecard methodology, are formulated in Table 5.

The proposed approach based on the use of AM technology in combination with the theories contained in Table 1, is a new approach, because it directs the enterprise concerned to focus its management activities on specific, innovative manufacturing technology. The approach thus proposes to focus on the new AM technology, enabling the production of finished products and structures of virtually any shape, thereby reducing the assembly stage and human participation. The company's focus on manufacturing with AM technology can help it gain a competitive advantage by being able to respond quickly to market needs without having to switch production lines to a new product, allowing experimentation and prototyping before making large-scale production decisions, which contributes to effective knowledge management and competence in products and processes, as well as to the effective management of resources. The research results may prove useful for manufacturing companies from the metal and automotive industries which are focussed on development and achieving competitive advantage, primarily in the area of manufactured products, product portfolio and quick response to market needs. The main limitations may be differences in the level of development of Polish industry, in relation to other countries in the world. It should be emphasised that the proposed approach was created on the basis of an analysis and empirical research of the literature conducted in metal and automotive manufacturing companies in western Poland (Europe). The proposed approach is the first step to creating an individual, long-term strategy, based on the use of the new AM technology. Creating a long-term strategy should take into account the profile and individual capabilities of the company.

Perspective	Problem	Strategic goal	Measure	Value	Actions
AM4.0 Customers	Inability to pro- duce a product that meets cus- tomer expecta- tions	Adopt and im- plement AM technology	The number of AM technologies se- lected, <i>via</i> analy- sis, resulting in the implementation of .strategic goals	≥ 3	 Analysis of new and potential- ly adaptable production tech- nologies and the selection of a minimum of 3 AM technolo- gies Testing the technology in an
	Limitations in obtaining a prod- uct with complex geometry	Product person- alisation and freedom in product design			 external enterprise (research and development unit) before deciding on implementation Comparative analysis of im- plementation assumptions and the results of empirical re- search Analysis of the quality of products obtained, using cur- rent and envisaged technology
AM4.0 Finances	Costs of employ- ing production workers	Reduction of employee partic- ipation in the production process	Adaptation of AM technology using a laser, e.g. DMLS – a method reducing the assembly stage, allowing the serial production	1	 Selecting a technology that meets the objectives of achiev- ing strategic goals Analysis of the adaptability of new, manufacturing technolo- gy Decision to implement the
	Costs associated with the need to change machin- ery	Quick response to changes and market needs and reduction of conversion costs	of products of any geometry without the need to retool the machinery Learning and training in the use of new AM tech- nologies		new AM technology 4. Implementation
	The relatively large amount of waste material that cannot be recycled	Effective use of material	Indicator of waste material	< 10 %	 Measurement and analysis of the amount of waste material Control in the management of materials Analysis of emerging, innova- tive materials in terms of their adaptability to the production process
AM4.0 Processes	Long waiting times for the product	Reduction in production times by reduc- ing the assembly stage	Time of produc- tion	-15 %	 New technology in the produc- tion process Adaptation of technology to the requirements of the pro- cess and of the product
	Technological limitations in the production of products	Producing prod- ucts of any shape	The possibility to obtain any shape throughout the production pro- cess	100 %	 Testing the possibility of ob- taining any shape, using AM technology CAD design Production
AM4.0 Develop- ment	No access to models	-	-	-	1. New, production process tech- nology
	No R&D activities	Increased level of knowledge and competence in the use of AM technologies	The possibility of acquiring new knowledge and competence	-	 2. Learning and training in the use of new AM technologies 3. Acquiring knowledge and competences through experience in the use of AM technologies

Table 5 AM4.0CARD – A management approach based on the implementation of AM technologies for manufacturing companies in the context of industry 4.0

Based on the research results obtained, it can be assumed that the introduction of AM technology into Polish manufacturing companies may contribute to increased interest in Polish products by other EU countries as also to contributing to an increase in the level of exports and competi-

tive advantage. In this matter, a key role is played by the costs associated with production, which shape the price of a given product. The additive manufacturing technology facilitates the production of ready-made structures, the assembly of which would be impossible or at least very difficult using conventional manufacturing methods. In addition to a significant reduction in waste and the maximum use of materials, the production of structures, with complex geometry but without an assembly stage, is the most obvious of the competitive advantages.

4. Conclusion

The proposed approach, namely, the AM 4.0CARD, based on the adaptation of AM technology to manufacturing companies, can be introduced in companies that are focussed on development and continuous improvement. This approach is different from that analysed (Table 1) because it focusses on one specific, innovative group of additive manufacturing (AM) technologies. The AM technology-based approach allows the production company to adapt processes and organisations to the changes dictated by Industry 4.0. Thus, the company, using the proposed approach, can gain a competitive advantage, in a relatively short time, by reducing waste, reducing human participation in the process and producing products of any shape which require no further processing or assembly. AM technologies allow products with a complex geometry to be produced, which would not otherwise be possible, using traditional technologies. This is a huge opportunity for manufacturing companies, because it allows quick responses to the changing needs of the market, without having to re-invest in the machine park and retool. Thus, the time and the amount of the resources, involved in production, are saved. The proposed approach indicates the goals and how they are achieved, which is the scenario for the next step in the implementation of AM technology.

The main limitation to the approach, based on the adaptation of AM technology, is its limited potential for usability in resource-limited enterprises. Unfortunately, the costs of purchasing machines using AM technologies and the costs associated with adapting infrastructure and training personnel are still high. In this case, companies considering implementing AM technology should make an accurate estimate of the costs and the return on investment, taking into account the actual cost of the investment and all the benefits of using AM technology, the efficient use of materials, the reduction of waste, the reduction of the number of employees involved in the production process, freedom to design and produce products without having to change the machine park and to produce products with a complex geometry that could not be produced by traditional manufacturing methods – all of which can really contribute to increasing the company's financial result over a relatively short period, by introducing new products onto the market. In addition, it should be emphasised that the theory was built based on an analysis of the scientific literature and solely on the basis of research carried out in a representative group of 1 % of Polish manufacturing companies in two industries, in western Poland (Europe), the automotive and metal industries. The research was conducted at the end of 2019, which also suggests that it is worth conducting research in the next period, in order to examine changes and evaluations. Another limitation to the application of the proposed theory is the material used in production. Not every material can be used in AM technologies. Sometimes, the inability to change the material used for production can completely waste the chance and purpose of adapting to AM technology. Therefore, an in-depth analysis of the adaptation or replacement of AM technology in a production company is needed, based on the parameters of current production methods and the parameters of the AM technology selected. This is the research direction proposed by the authors of the article.

Further research should be aimed at analysing the possibilities of implementing AM technologies and directing further actions to designing a universal solution to decision making. It is worth emphasising that a new approach will be built in order to take decisions about the implementation of AM technology in a production company, taking into account all relevant, production parameters.

Acknowledgement

This work is supported by the Polish Minister of Science and Higher Education Programme *Regional Initiative of Excellence 2019–2022*, Project no. 003/RID/2018/19, Funding amount: 11936596.10 PLN.

References

- [1] Sarı, T., Güleş, H.K., Yiğitol, B. (2020). Awareness and readiness of Industry 4.0: The case of Turkish manufacturing industry, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 15, No. 1, 57-68, <u>doi: 10.14743/apem2020.1.349</u>.
- [2] Madhikermi, M., Kubler, S., Robert, J., Buda, A., Främling, K. (2016). Data quality assessment of maintenance reporting procedures, *Expert Systems with Applications*, Vol. 63, 145-164, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2016.06.043</u>.
- [3] Medic, N., Anisic, Z., Lalic, B., Marjanovic, U., Brezocnik, M. (2019). Hybrid fuzzy multi-attribute decision making model for evaluation of advanced digital technologies in manufacturing: Industry 4.0 perspective, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 14, No. 4, 483-493, <u>doi: 10.14743/apem2019.4.343</u>.
- [4] Horvat, D., Stahlecker, T., Zenker, A., Lerch, C., Mladineo, M. (2018). A conceptual approach to analysing manufacturing companies' profiles concerning Industry 4.0 in emerging economies, *Procedia Manufacturing*, Vol. 17, 419-426, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.promfg.2018.10.065</u>.
- [5] Hozdić, E., Butala, P. (2020). Concept of socio-cyber-physical work systems for Industry 4.0, Tehnički Vjesnik Technical Gazette, Vol. 27, No. 2, 399-410, doi: 10.17559/TV-20170803142215.
- [6] Patalas-Maliszewska, J., Topczak, M., Kłos, S. (2020). The level of the additive manufacturing technology use in Polish metal and automotive manufacturing enterprises, *Applied Sciences*, Vol. 10, No. 3, Article No. 735, <u>doi:</u> 10.3390/app10030735.
- [7] Mandic, M., Galeta, T., Raos, P., Jugovic, V. (2016). Dimensional accuracy of camera casing models 3D printed on Mcor IRIS: A case study, *Advances in Production Engineering & Management*, Vol. 11, No. 4, 324-332, <u>doi:</u> 10.14743/apem2016.4.230.
- [8] Haleem, A., Javaid, M. (2019). Additive manufacturing applications in Industry 4.0: A review, *Journal of Industrial Integration and Management*, Vol. 4, No. 4, Article No. 1930001, <u>doi: 10.1142/S2424862219300011</u>.
- [9] Bobko, P. (2001). *Correlation and regression: Applications for industrial organizational psychology and management*, Second Edition, Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, California, USA, <u>doi: 10.4135/9781412983815</u>.
- [10] Rabbani, A., Zamani, M., Yazdani-Chamzini, A., Zavadskas, E.K. (2016). Proposing a new integrated model based on sustainability balanced scorecard (SBSC) and MCDM approaches by using linguistic variables for the performance evaluation of oil producing companies, *Expert Systems with Applications*, Vol. 41, No. 16, 7316-7327, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.1016/j.eswa.2014.05.023</u>.
- [11] Antosz, K., Pasko, L., Gola, A. (2019). The use of intelligent systems to support the decision-making process in lean maintenance management, *IFAC PapersOnLine*, Vol. 52, No. 10, 148-153, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.ifacol.2019.10.037</u>.
- [12] Wagner, S., Goossen, M.C. (2018). Knowing me, knowing you: Inventor mobility and the formation of technologyoriented alliances, *Academy of Management Journal*, Vol. 61, No. 6, 2026-2052, <u>doi: 10.5465/amj.2016.0818</u>.
- [13] Hengst, I.-A., Jarzabkowski, P., Hoegl, M., Muethel, M. (2020). Toward a process theory of making sustainability strategies legitimate in action, *Academy of Management Journal*, Vol. 63, No. 1, 246-271, <u>doi: 10.5465/amj.2016.</u> 0960.
- [14] Patalas-Maliszewska, J., Kłos, S. (2019). The methodology of the S-ERP system employment for small and medium manufacturing companies, *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, Vol. 52, No. 10, 85-90, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.ifacol.2019.10.004</u>.
- [15] Uzunca, B. (2018). A competence-based view of industry evolution: The impact of submarket convergence on incumbent–entrant dynamics, *Academy of Management Journal*, Vol. 61, No. 2, 738-768, <u>doi: 10.5465/amj.2015.</u> <u>1080</u>.
- [16] Kilduff, G.J. (2019). Interfirm relational rivalry: Implications for competitive strategy, *Academy of Management Review*, Vol. 44, No. 4, 775-799, <u>doi: 10.5465/amr.2017.0257</u>.
- [17] Medeiros, J., Vasconcelos, A., Silva, C., Goulão, M. (2018). Quality of software requirements specification in agile projects: A cross-case analysis of six companies, *Journal of Systems and Software*, Vol. 142, 171-194, <u>doi:</u> <u>10.1016/j.jss.2018.04.064</u>.
- [18] Ricciardi, F., Zardini, A., Rossignoli, C. (2018). Organizational integration of the IT function: A key enabler of firm capabilities and performance, *Journal of Innovation & Knowledge*, Vol. 3, No. 3, 93-107, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.jik.2017.02.003</u>.
- [19] Campos, C., Grangel, G. (2018). A domain-specific modelling language for corporate social responsibility (CSR), *Computers in Industry*, Vol. 97, 97-110, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.compind.2018.01.007</u>.
- [20] Chen, T.-Y. (2018). A novel risk evaluation method of technological innovation using an inferior ratio-based assignment model in the face of complex uncertainty, *Expert Systems with Applications*, Vol. 95, 333-350, <u>doi:</u> 10.1016/j.eswa.2017.11.038.
- [21] Jafari Sadeghi, V., Nkongolo-Bakenda, J.-M., Anderson, R.B., Dana, L.-P. (2019). An institution-based view of international entrepreneurship: A comparison of context-based and universal determinants in developing and economically advanced countries, *International Business Review*, Vol. 28, No. 6, Article No. 101588, <u>doi: 10.1016/ j.ibusrev.2019.101588</u>.

- [22] Sun, W., Price, J., Ding, Y. (2019). The longitudinal effects of internationalization on firm performance: The moderating role of marketing capability, *Journal of Business Research*, Vol. 95, 326-337, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.</u> 2018.08.014.
- [23] Zou, W., Brax, S.A., Rajala, R. (2018). Complexity in product-service systems: Review and framework, *Procedia CIRP*, Vol. 73, 3-8, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.procir.2018.03.319</u>.
- [24] Shihundla, T.B., Mpofu, K., Adenuga, O.T. (2019). Integrating product-service systems into the manufacturing industry: Industry 4.0 perspectives, *Procedia CIRP*, Vol. 83, 8-13, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.procir.2019.03.147</u>.
- [25] Xu, Y., Koivumäki, T. (2019). Digital business model effectuation: An agile approach, *Computers in Human Behavior*, Vol. 95, 307-314, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2018.10.021</u>.
- [26] Kang, T., Baek, C., Lee, J.-D. (2019). Effects of knowledge accumulation strategies through experience and experimentation on firm growth, *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, Vol. 144, 169-181, <u>doi: 10.1016/ j.techfore.2019.04.003</u>.
- [27] Mahdi, O.R., Nassar, I.A., Almsafir, M.K. (2019). Knowledge management processes and sustainable competitive advantage: An empirical examination in private universities, *Journal of Business Research*, Vol. 94, 320-334, <u>doi:</u> 10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.02.013.
- [28] Salimi, N., Rezaei, J. (2018). Evaluating firms' R&D performance using best worst method, *Evaluation and Program Planning*, Vol. 66, 147-155, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2017.10.002</u>.
- [29] Abdel-Baset, M., Chang, V., Gamal, A. (2019). Evaluation of the green supply chain management practices: A novel neutrosophic approach, *Computers in Industry*, Vol. 108, 210-220, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.compind.2019.02.013</u>.
- [30] Ren, M., Ren, L., Jain, H. (2018). Manufacturing service composition model based on synergy effect: A social network analysis approach, *Applied Soft Computing*, Vol. 70, 288-300, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.asoc.2018.05.039</u>.
- [31] Riesener, M., Dölle, C., Schuh, G., Lauf, H., Jank, M.-H. (2019). Performance-driven and company goal-orientated design of product portfolios: A methodological framework, *Procedia CIRP*, Vol. 84, 725-730, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.procir.2019.03.267</u>.
- [32] Schuh, G., Doelle, C., Koch, J., Grutza, P. (2018). Identification of the cost-benefit-optimal product configuration, *Procedia CIRP*, Vol. 70, 386-391, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.procir.2018.03.294</u>.
- [33] Hamzeh, R., Xu, X. (2019). Technology selection methods and applications in manufacturing: A review from 1990 to 2017, *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, Vol. 138, Article No. 106123, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.cie.2019.106123</u>.
- [34] Ghadimi, P., Ghassemi Toosi, F., Heavey, C. (2018). A multi-agent systems approach for sustainable supplier selection and order allocation in a partnership supply chain, *European Journal of Operational Research*, Vol. 269, No. 1, 286-301, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.ejor.2017.07.014</u>.
- [35] Omar, Y.M., Minoufekr, M., Plapper, P. (2019). Business analytics in manufacturing: Current trends, challenges and pathway to market leadership, *Operations Research Perspectives*, Vol. 6, Article No. 100127, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.orp.2019.100127</u>.
- [36] Mittal, S., Khan, M.A., Romero, D., Wuest, T. (2019). Building blocks for adopting smart manufacturing, *Procedia Manufacturing*, Vol. 34, 978-985, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.promfg.2019.06.098</u>.
- [37] Enke, J., Metternich, J., Bentz, D., Klaes, P.-J. (2018). Systematic learning factory improvement based on maturity level assessment, *Procedia Manufacturing*, Vol. 23, 51-56, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.promfg.2018.03.160</u>.
- [38] Sousa, P., Tereso, A., Alves, A., Gomes, L. (2018). Implementation of project management and lean production practices in a SME Portuguese innovation company, *Proceedia Computer Science*, Vol. 138, 867-874, doi: 10.1016/ j.procs.2018.10.113.
- [39] Riesener, M., Rebentisch, E., Doelle, C., Kuhn, M., Brockmann, S. (2019). Methodology for the design of agile product development networks, *Procedia CIRP*, Vol. 84, 1029-1034, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.procir.2019.04.172</u>.
- [40] Aschehoug, S.H., Lodgaard, E., Schulte, K.Ø. (2019). Success factors for open innovation in Norwegian manufacturing, *Procedia CIRP*, Vol. 84, 1107-1111, <u>doi: 10.1016/j.procir.2019.04.279</u>.

This page intentionally left blank.

Calendar of events

- International Conference on Machine Learning and Deep Learning in Manufacturing, March 15-16, 2021, London, United Kingdom.
- International Summit on Industrial Engineering, March 15-16, 2021, Munich, Germany.
- International Conference on Manufacturing Applications of Artificial Intelligence, March 22-23, 2021, Prague, Czech Republic.
- International Conference on Advanced Materials and Intelligent Manufacturing, March 29-30, 2021, Paris, France.
- 6th International Conference on 3D Printing Technology and Innovations, May 24-25, 2021, Berlin, Germany.
- 38th Global Summit on Nanoscience and Technology, June 21-22, 2021, Osaka, Japan.
- International Conference on Manufacturing Models and Cloud Manufacturing, July 15-16, 2021, Stockholm, Sweden.
- International Conference on Industrial Production Methods and Flow Production, August 5-6, 2021, Montreal, Canada.

This page intentionally left blank.

Notes for contributors

General

Articles submitted to the *APEM journal* should be original and unpublished contributions and should not be under consideration for any other publication at the same time. Manuscript should be written in English. Responsibility for the contents of the paper rests upon the authors and not upon the editors or the publisher. The content from published paper in the *APEM journal* may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International Licence (CC BY 4.0). For most up-to-date information please see the APEM journal homepage *apem-journal.org*.

Submission of papers

A submission must include the corresponding author's complete name, affiliation, address, phone and fax numbers, and e-mail address. All papers for consideration by *Advances in Production Engineering & Management* should be submitted by e-mail to the journal Editor-in-Chief:

Miran Brezocnik, Editor-in-Chief UNIVERSITY OF MARIBOR Faculty of Mechanical Engineering Chair of Production Engineering Smetanova ulica 17, SI – 2000 Maribor Slovenia, European Union E-mail: editor@apem-journal.org

Manuscript preparation

Manuscript should be prepared in *Microsoft Word 2010* (or higher version) word processor. *Word .docx* format is required. Papers on A4 format, single-spaced, typed in one column, using body text font size of 11 pt, should not exceed 12 pages, including abstract, keywords, body text, figures, tables, acknowledgements (if any), references, and appendices (if any). The title of the paper, authors' names, affiliations and headings of the body text should be in *Calibri* font. Body text, figures and tables captions have to be written in *Cambria* font. Mathematical equations and expressions must be set in *Microsoft Word Equation Editor* and written in *Cambria Math* font. For detail instructions on manuscript preparation please see instruction for authors in the *APEM journal* homepage *apem-journal.org*.

The review process

Every manuscript submitted for possible publication in the *APEM journal* is first briefly reviewed by the editor for general suitability for the journal. Notification of successful submission is sent. After initial screening, and checking by a special plagiarism detection tool, the manuscript is passed on to at least two referees. A double-blind peer review process ensures the content's validity and relevance. Optionally, authors are invited to suggest up to three well-respected experts in the field discussed in the article who might act as reviewers. The review process can take up to eight weeks on average. Based on the comments of the referees, the editor will take a decision about the paper. The following decisions can be made: accepting the paper, reconsidering the paper after changes, or rejecting the paper. Accepted papers may not be offered elsewhere for publication. The editor may, in some circumstances, vary this process at his discretion.

Proofs

Proofs will be sent to the corresponding author and should be returned within 3 days of receipt. Corrections should be restricted to typesetting errors and minor changes.

Offprints

An e-offprint, i.e., a PDF version of the published article, will be sent by e-mail to the corresponding author. Additionally, one complete copy of the journal will be sent free of charge to the corresponding author of the published article.



Advances in Production Engineering & Management

Chair of Production Engineering (CPE) University of Maribor APEM homepage: apem-journal.org

Volume 16 | Number 1 | March 2021 | pp 1-140

Contents	
Scope and topics	4
Analysis of the impact of COVID-19 on the coupling of the material flow and capital flow in a closed-loop supply chair Duan, W.; Ma, H.; Xu, D.S.	n 5
A dynamic job-shop scheduling model based on deep learning Tian, W.; Zhang, H.P.	23
Multi-objective automated guided vehicle scheduling based on MapReduce framework Shi, W.; Tang, D.B.; Zou, P.	37
A conceptual model for measuring the competency level of Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs) Oztemel, E.; Ozel, S.	47
Study of load-bearing timber-wall elements using experimental testing and mathematical modelling Premrov, M.; Ber, B.; Kozem Šilih, E.	67
The implications of product modularisation on the development process, supplier integration and supply chain design in collaborative product development Koppenhagen, F.; Held, T.	n 82
Exploring the link between project management approach and project success dimensions: A structural model approach Ciric, D.; Delic, M.; Lalic, B.; Gracanin, D.; Lolic, T.	99
Optimization of a multi-objective location model of manufacturing base considering cooperative manufacturing capabilities and service benefits Sun, J.Z.; Zhang, Q.S.; Yu, Y.Y.	112
A new management approach based on Additive Manufacturing technologies and Industry 4.0 requirements Patalas-Maliszewska, J.; Topczak, M.	125
Calendar of events	137
Notes for contributors	139





